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Our vision
Excellence in healthcare, 
putting people first.

Our mission
To meet the health and 
wellbeing needs of our 
community by delivering a 
comprehensive range of high 
quality, innovative and valued 
health services.

Our values

Integrity
We will be open and honest 
and will do the right thing for 
the right reason.

Innovation
We will be an industry leader 
by breaking new ground and 
improving the way things are 
done.

Collaboration
We will actively work together 
in teams and partnerships.

Respect
We will value all people’s 
opinions and contributions.

Accountability
We will take personal 
responsibility for our decisions 
and actions.

Empathy
We will endeavour to 
understand other peoples’ 
feelings and perspectives.

Western District Health Service 
(WDHS) follows the Victorian 
State Government Department 
of Treasury and Finance FRD30 
guidelines for its Annual Report, 
as a public entity under Section 
3 of the Financial Management 
Act 1994 (FMA). 

About this report 
This annual report outlines 
the operational and financial 
performance of Western
District Health Service (WDHS) 
from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 
2015. 

The relevant ministers for the 
period were the the Hon Jill 
Hennessy MLA, Minister for 
Health (4 December 2014 
to 30 June 2015), the Hon 
David Davis MLC, Minister for 
Health, Minister for Ageing 
(1 July 2014 to 3 December 
2014), the Hon Martin Foley 
MLA, Minister for Housing, 
Disability and Ageing, Minister 
for Mental Health (4 December 
2014 to 30 June 2015) and the 
Hon Mary Wooldridge MLA, 
Minister for Mental Health 
(1 July 2014 to 3 December 
2014).

This report is also available on 
the WDHS website at: 
www.wdhs.net/publications
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Western District Health Service (WDHS) 
is a sub regional service provider with 
a proud reputation as one of Victoria’s 
leading and innovative rural and 
regional health services.
Having played a central role in the region for 
more than 150 years, WDHS continues to deliver 
quality care and services to support the health 
and wellbeing needs of its community. 
Located in the Southern Grampians Shire in 
Victoria’s Western District, WDHS supports 
the healthcare needs of the Shire’s resident 
population of 16,200 people, with approximately 
9,800 living in Hamilton; the geographic and 
business hub of the region. 
The Health Service was established in 1998, 
with the amalgamation of Hamilton Base 
Hospital, Southern Grampians Community 
Health Services and Penshurst and District War 
Memorial Hospital; now Penshurst and District 
Health Service (PDHS). In 2005 Coleraine and 
District Health Service (CDHS) also amalgamated 
with WDHS. 

The Health Service provides 91 acute and 
subacute beds, 175 high and low level 
extended care and residential aged care beds, 
35 independent living units, primary care, 
youth, community and allied health services.
Based in Hamilton, with campuses in 
Coleraine and Penshurst in the Southern 
Grampians Shire (SGS) and Merino in the 
Glenelg Shire (GS), WDHS incorporates the 
following sites and facilities:

 y Hamilton Base Hospital (HBH) - the location 
of a 75 bed acute hospital, allied health 
and education facilities.

 y The Birches - a 46 bed facility providing 
residential aged care, palliative care and 
care for people with special needs.

 y National Centre for Farmer Health (NCFH) 
- established to provide national leadership 
to improve the health, wellbeing and safety 
of farmers, farm workers and their families 
across Australia through research, service 
delivery and education.

 y Frances Hewett Community Centre (FHCC) 
- delivering a broad range of primary care 

and community based services.
 y The Grange Residential Care Service 

- providing 50 beds of modern aged 
residential care accommodation and 28 
Home Care Packages (HCP).

 y Coleraine District Health Service (CDHS) 
- delivering acute care, residential aged 
accommodation and primary care services 
from the Thomas Hodgetts Centre to 
the Coleraine Community. Services 
include medical, dental and maternal 
and child health. CDHS also manages 25 
independent living units.

 y Penshurst and District Health Service 
(PDHS) provides acute care, residential 
aged accommodation, community services 
and independent living units at Penshurst 
and Dunkeld.

 y Merino Community Health Centre 
provides primary nursing, district nursing, 
visiting monthly podiatry, dietetics and 
diabetes education services to the Merino 
community.

About WDHS

1862 1998 2000 2005 2008 2012 2013
Hamilton Base 
Hospital & 
Benevolent 
Asylum 
established to 
provide care for 
people suffering 
from illness and 
accidents and 
for victims of 
personal tragedy 
and social 
distress

WDHS 
established 
with the 
amalgamation 
of Hamilton 
Base Hospital, 
Southern 
Grampians 
Community 
Health Services 
and Penshurst 
and District 
War Memorial 
Hospital

Aged care 
redevelopment 
at Hamilton 
campus including 
construction 
of the Birches 
residential care 
facility

Coleraine District 
Health Service 
amalgamates 
with WDHS

National 
Centre for 
Farmer Health 
established in 
partnership 
with Deakin 
University

Grange 
redevelopment 
works, including 
construction of 
new wing

Coleraine and 
District Health 
Service $27 
million ‘one 
stop shop’ 
health precinct 
completed 
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Year in Brief

2014/15 Highlights 
 y Watermark Charity House sold at auction 

for $881,000; raising $600,000 for acute 
area equipment at Hamilton Base Hospital 
(HBH).

 y $4million State Government funding 
announced to support the work of the 
National Centre for Farmer Health (NCFH).

 y IICARE - Integrity, Innovation, Collaboration, 
Accountability, Respect and Empathy; 
values developed and applied across the 
organisation.

 y Community TrakCare and Clinical Notes 
systems replaced paper based clinical 
records.

 y Intravenous pumps and modules accross 
all campuses replaced with Guardrail 
compatible pumps, for safer management 
of medications and infusion rates.

 y CAMM’s management reporting software  
introduced to improve the organisation’s 
performance and reporting capability.

 y NCFH Graduate Certificate in Agricultural 
Health & Medicine course, the recipient 
of the prestigious Deakin University Vice 
Chancellor’s Award for Teaching Excellence.

 y Consumer feedback and information ‘hub’ 
launched in the HBH Education Centre.

 y Strategic approach to aged care 
governance developed.

 y 16th Annual Handbury Lecture delivered 
by Professor Susan Sawyer from the Centre 
for Adolescent Health. 

 y $282,000 Theatre upgrade carried out with 
Charity House and Perpetual Trustee funds.

 y ‘Supporting Your Country Lifestyle’ aged 
care marketing plan developed. 

 y Total fundraising result for the year of 
$824k.

 y Advanced Care Planning and End of Life 
Care policies implemented in acute and 
aged care facilities.

 y Geriatric telehealth service at Penshurst 
introduced, in partnership with University 
Hospital Geelong Geriatrics Department.

 y iPad strategy implemented in Primary & 
Preventative Health to improve efficiency 
and clinical outcomes.

 y Best Practice Clinical Learning Environment 
project (BPCLE) delivered.

 y Sub-acute Rehabilitation Redesign Project 
successfully completed.

 y Home Services Team 18 month Workforce 
Innovation Project implemented in 
partnership with the Southern Grampians 
Shire Council. 

 y Staffing models, allocation levels and 
training enhanced in the HBH Emergency 
Department.

 y Three new postgraduate positions in 
general medicine, surgery and emergency 
medicine created at HBH.

 R Auctioneer, Craig Pertzel, with Charity House Committee members, Max Murray, Rod 
Papworth, Hugh Macdonald and Vicki Whyte after the Watermark Charity House auction 

 R Minister for Agriculture, the Hon. Jaala Pulford MLC; NCFH Agrisafe Clinician, Tam Phillips; Chief Executive, Rohan Fitzgerald and NCFH Director, 
Dr Susan Brumby take a tour of the National Centre facilities prior to the $4m NCFH funding announcement in April 2015
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Performance at a Glance 

 R GP Obstetrician, Dr Jan Slabbert with mum Erin Penny and baby Audrey Grace

PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

FINANCIAL ($000's)

Total revenue 66,109 65,898 65,598 63,318 61,503

Total expenditure 65,508 65,799 65,482 63,015 61,228

Surplus (before capital and specific items) 601 99 116 303 275

Total assets 167,842 167,613 101,836 91,107 77,356

Total liabilities 23,439 18,850 19,301 20,410 18,137

Equity 144,403 148,763 82,535 70,697 59,219

FUNDRAISING ( $000's)

Income 852 1,171 1,120 1,314 1,528

Expenditure 28 26 47 19 45

Surplus 824 1,145 1,073 1,295 1,483

STAFF

Number of staff employed 716 721 818 777 760

Equivalent full time 531.05 547.63 554.12 555.81 553.12

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS ( ACUTE )

Inpatients treated (separations) 7,026 7,197 6,941 7,562 7,695

Complexity adjusted inpatients (WIES21)* 5,142 4,998 4,694 4,959 5,314

Average stay (days) 2.67 2.77 2.89 2.88 3.10

Inpatient bed days 18,758 19,971 20,038 21,799 24,172

Total occassions of non-admitted patient service 41,869 39,208 44,080 48,784 49,850

* WIES - Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separations
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We have once again completed another 
rewarding and challenging financial year.  

Strategically we redefined our organisational 
values, established a new governance 
structure for aged care, fine-tuned our risk 
management strategies and introduced 
a new organisational reporting tool. We 
reviewed our clinical governance structures 
and implemented changes to our Emergency 
Department, to improve the high quality care 
we provide.  The National Centre for Farmer 
Health received funding to secure its future 
and we submitted our Master Plan to the 
Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS). Our community has once again shown 
its generosity of spirit through the work of our 
300 volunteers, the many donations received 
and in the support given to complete the 
Charity House project. We also welcomed our 
new Chief Executive and farewelled the Board 
President, Director of Nursing and Coleraine 
Manager / Director of Nursing.

Organisational Culture 
Our organisational values are the foundation 
for the way we do things and define who 
we are. They also underpin our culture and 
support our direction and effectiveness. This 
year we introduced six new values: integrity, 
innovation, collaboration, accountability, 
respect and empathy.  Throughout the year, 
staff members introduced these values into 
their departments.  While there is always 
more to do, a recent staff survey showed 
100% of respondents understood the Health 
Service values. 

Financial Performance 
We budgeted for a surplus of $109k for the 
2014/15 financial year. Our full year result of 

$601k surplus exceeded our target by $492k. 
We also increased our acute activity by 2.8% 
and similarly our aged care occupancy grew by 
9.7% on prior year levels. We will continue to 
identify ways to improve efficiency and deliver 
high quality services to our local community. 

Improving Aged Care 
Aged care presents both enormous 
opportunities and great challenges. This 
year we set out to increase our occupancy 
across our aged care divisions. The key 
drivers were to support access to services 
close to home and to provide greater local 
employment opportunities. We established 
a new governance group within the Health 
Service and supported all departments to work 
collaboratively. We are pleased that occupancy 
has increased and six jobs have been created 
in our local community.     

Risk Management Strategy 
There has been greater integration of risk 
management activities into our Executive and 
Governance structures, to build it into our 
decision-making and to create value and address 
uncertainty across the organisation. In the future 
our aim is to create greater integration between 
our risk management and organisational systems.   

Business Integration 
Managing health services is becoming increasingly 
complex.  Systems that support the work we do 
are essential for aligning organisational strategy 
with our performance outcomes.  This year we 
introduced a new tool, CAMMS that brings all of 
our strategic and operational reporting together 
across the entire organisation.   

Continuous Improvement 
The Health Service is responsible for ensuring 
our systems support the provision of high 
quality care and continuous improvement to 
create an environment of excellence in care  
- also known as clinical governance. We have 
reviewed our quality reporting structures, 
undertaken detailed analysis of our Emergency 
Department (ED) and assessed falls across the 
organisation.  In addition, greater oversight of 
our clinical incidents is now being undertaken 
through our retrospective medical audits.  
Our preliminary results in ED show improved 
satisfaction levels.   

National Centre for Farmer Health 
In May, the Victorian Government announced 
it would fund the National Centre for Farmer 
Health.  This welcome announcement secures 
funding over four years to provide much needed 
programs across regional communities, to 
improve the health, wellbeing and safety of 
farmers.   We also updated our vision statement 
to “Making a difference to farmers’ lives”.  With 
our new direction and ongoing funding to 
support the valuable work we do, we are looking 
forward to a bright future ahead. 

Coleraine and Penshurst Hospitals
Coleraine has settled into its new buildings 
and surrounds and has maintained occupancy, 
increased revenue and achieved high levels of 
consumer satisfaction. It has also successfully met 
all accreditation requirements this year.
Penshurst has focussed on risk management 
and  worked specifically on reducing falls and 
improving medication management. Although 
occupancy continues to be a challenge, revenue 
has also increased this year at PDHS.

From the President and Chief Executive

 R Chief Executive Rohan Fitzgerald with                 
Board Chair Hugh Macdonald

 R Director of Medical Services, Nic van Zyl; Physiotherapist,  Stefan Burnell and Nurse Unit 
Manager, Amber McDonald discuss the implementation of the TrakCare clinical notes system 
(photo courtesy Hamilton Spectator) 
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Capital Investment 
Work on our Master Plan came to an end 
this year and it was formally submitted to the 
Department of Health and Human Services 
for their consideration.  The plan (available 
on our website) provides a road map for a 
redevelopment of the Hamilton Base Hospital.  
The total cost of the work is estimated to be 
around $44m and includes the redevelopment 
of Theatres, Surgical and Medical wards and 
our Emergency and Intensive Care Unit.  We 
look forward to working with Government 
and the Department of Health and Human 
Services to bring this project to fruition. 

Our Community 
The community support we have received 
has once again been phenomenal.  We are 
assisted in our work by an army of volunteers, 
with nearly 300 people helping out across the 
organisation.  The generosity shown through 
donations is also unparalleled.  This year we 
raised over $824k from smaller scale fund 
raising initiatives right through to the sale of 
the Watermark Charity House.  The Health 
Service is incredibly grateful for the time and 
skills donated so freely and for the substantial 
financial contributions made to WDHS. 

Welcome and Farewell 
This year we welcomed Rohan Fitzgerald 
to the position of Chief Executive and said 
farewell to Jim Fletcher, after 14 years of 
dedicated service.  Jim was recognised for his 

contribution at the Annual General Meeting 
and was made a Life Governor of WDHS.   
Mary-Ann Brown also retired from the position 
of Board President this year.  Mary-Ann joined 
the Board in 2002 and was elected President 
in 2007.  We thank Mary-Ann for her strong 
advocacy and support over the last 13 years.  

Clinical System Integration 
A new patient and client management tool 
was implemented into community, primary 
care and home based services to provide a 
single integrated system for the management 
of clinical data and provide the foundation 
for significant progress towards achieving an 
electronic patient record across the region. 
Electronic notes were also introduced for the 
first time into the acute hospital. 
This complex alliance project provides a single 
integrated patient and client management 
system across 13 health services in the region. 
The project assisted the SWARH Alliance to 
secure $3.05m funding support from the 
Department of Health & Human Services ICT 
Innovation Fund to support the accelerated 
adoption of a Regional Electronic Health Record.  

Handbury Lecture 
At the 16th Annual Handbury Lecture on May 
12, Professor Susan Sawyer, Director of the 
Centre for Adolescent Health, discussed global 
policy development in adolescent health and 
ways of working with adolescents to improve 

health outcomes. Professor Sawyer believes 
an adolescent health focus is critical not only 
in terms of the health of adolescents now, but 
for the future health of those young people as 
adults and for the health of the next generation.

Hugh Macdonald 
President 

Rohan Fitzgerald 
Chief Executive 

Responsible Bodies Declaration 
In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Report 
of Operations for the Western District Health 
Service for the year ending 30 June 2015. 

Hugh Macdonald 
President 
3 September 2015

From the President and Chief Executive

 R Chief Executive, Rohan Fitzgerald; Clinical Pharmacist, Suzie Staude; Acting Nurse Unit Manager, Rowena Farquharson and Carefusion 
Medication Safety Manager, Amy Finch with the Alaris IV pump system introduced throughout WDHS
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 Overview

Reporting Against our Strategic Plan  
Each year Western District Health Service reports on its major outcomes and proposed future directions against the seven key strategic areas 
of the 2011-2016 Five Year Strategic Plan.  A summary of our achievements for 2014/15 together with proposed future directions are outlined 
below. Please refer to the glossary on the inside back cover for abbreviations. 

OBJECTIVE STRATEGIES OUTCOMES FUTURE

Le
ad

er
sh

ip
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nd
 In

no
va

tio
n

To be a leader in the provision of 
Rural Health Services developing 
innovative service models to 
meet the population health 
needs of our community

Lead the planning, development and delivery of 
innovative health care and support systems in 
partnership with other service providers

 y Emergency Department model of care reviewed 
and workforce mix, support, supervision and 
training enhanced

 y Workforce Innovation Grant (Home Service Team 
Trial) implemented

 y Continue to work with Barwon Health 
on supporting training and development 
opportunities for medical workforce

 y Western Alliance MOU finalised to improve 
impact, quality and quantity of health research, 
education and training in the Western Region

 y Provide leadership and vision to guide health 
research, education and training across the 
western region of Victoria

 y Three NCFH abstracts presented at the National 
Rural Health Alliance Conference in Darwin, and 
one at the International Association for Suicide 
Prevention, Montreal

 y Vice Chancellors Teaching Excellence Award 
received for Agricultural Health & Medicine 
HMF701

 y Implement our strategy to grow research that 
makes a difference to farmer’s lives 

 y Continuation of the Telehealth Stroke 
Rehabilitation project with Barwon Health

 y Introduction of telehealth Geriatric services to 
Penshurst

 y Continue to collaborate with Royal Melbourne 
Hospital and Hamilton Medical Group to run 
chronic pain service

 y Expand geriatric telehealth services to other 
campuses  - including falls, dementia and 
delerium management

 y Expand men’s health and urology clinics

 y PPH iPad strategy implemented

 y Implemented TrakCare Community and Acute 
health system

 y Expansion of technology to support provision 
of care

Q
ua

lit
y 

Im
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To improve performance through 
a culture of continuous quality 
improvement and innovation

Achieve all accreditation requirements through 
ACHS, Aged Care Accreditation Standards,  
teaching and training posts

 y Aged Care Accreditation achieved at Coleraine

 y NSQHSS Sustainability Framework established to 
maintain compliance and embed standards into 
daily practice

 y Reaccredited to support surgical training

 y Achieved compliance with external cleaning audit

 y Full compliance with aged care accreditation 
support visits at all campuses

 y Two year plan developed to ensure compliance 
with the WHO Baby Friendly Health Initiative

 y Audit of medical records conducted in September 
against predetermined standards

 y 100% compliance with food safety external audit

 y Undergo ACHS periodic review

 y Participate in Aged Care Accreditation at 
Penshurst, Birches and Grange

Increase participation and leadership in research 
and best practice

Participate in Statewide and National Consumer 
Satisfaction Surveys

 y Participated in the Western Alliance Research 
Capacity Survey

 y Received beyondblue grant for the Ripple Effect 
Project

 y Deakin University Faculty grant for Fitter Farmers 
Project

 y Presented on the NHMRC Shh Hearing in a 
Farming Environment in Seoul, Korea

 y Commenced development of a strategic nursing 
quality plan

 y Clinical governance system reviewed in line with 
DoH Clinical Governance Framework

 y BPCLE implemented

 y Create greater opportunities for staff to 
participate in research

 y Continue to support funded research activities

 y Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey (VHES)  y Continue to participate in VHES

To effectively manage risk and 
provide a safe environment for 
the wellbeing and protection 
of consumers, staff and health 
service assets

Implement safe practice and risk management 
programs to ensure the wellbeing and safety of 
consumers, staff and assets

 y Reviewed risk management practices across 
WDHS

 y Focused on falls management strategies in aged 
care services

 y Preparations made for a possible Ebola case, as 
per Victorian Plan

 y Implemented Code Grey

 y Commenced Workplace Wellbeing Project

 y Extended occupational violence program MOVAIT

 y Purchased lifting equipment to make workplace 
safer

 y Continue to integrate risk management 
strategies organisationally
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OBJECTIVE STRATEGIES OUTCOMES FUTURE
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Continue to develop a 
contemporary health care system 
which focuses on person centred 
care and improves the health and 
wellbeing of our community

To enhance our role as a sub regional referral 
centre and provide an integrated range of 
specialist services to our community

 y Commenced discussions with BRICC and ALCC 
on supporting Sub Regional public patient cancer 
services

 y Commenced Medical Workforce Planning 
Committee which includes Southwest Healthcare, 
Portland District Health and WDHS

 y Continue to identify opportunities for sub 
regional collaboration

Provide programs supporting healthy ageing and 
extend the capacity of services for our ageing 
population

 y Reviewed the range of aged care services available 
and increased occupancy across the service

 y Transitioned from Home Care Packages (HCP) to 
Consumer Directed Care Model

 y Explore opportunities to further support the 
provision of aged care services

Enhance community access to specialist services  y Diversity Access Plan implemented

 y Recruited a General Surgeon

 y Investigating the provision of subregional 
orthopaedic surgery services

 y Commenced work to increase access to 
oncologists

 y Continue to increase the breadth and range of 
services available to the local community

Develop innovative service models in partnership 
with consumers to improve person centred care 
and prevention and management of chronic 
disease

 y Working with Great South Coast Medicare Local 
and Southern Grampians Glenelg Primary Care 
Partnership to finalise the mental health service 
mapping report and identify priority actions

 y Collaborate with consumers to support the 
provision of improved care

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 

Attract and retain high performing 
staff committed to the Vision, 
Mission and Values of the Health 
Service

Develop and implement workforce plans and 
recruitment strategies to support our service plan

 y Recruitment of DON, Acting DONs PDHS and 
CDHS, senior medical appointments, new 
organisational values

 y Continue to support undergraduate placements 
and graduate nurse training program

 y Develop succession plans for senior positions

Provide an environment for 
motivating and encouraging staff 
to develop and use their skills to 
enhance the health, well being 
and safety of our community

Promote Employer of Choice through work 
environment, values and culture

 y Employee of the Month Program continued

 y Introduced new values across the organisation

 y  Implement Workplace Wellbeing Program

Support and encourage education and training of 
staff directed at optimising skills and enhancing 
quality of care

 y Aboriginal Employment Plan developed

 y NSQHS Staff Education Plan

 y BPCLE Project implemented

 y Supported nurses wishing to undertake Graduate 
Certificate and Diploma studies in Midwifery, 
Critical Care and Perioperative Nursing

 y Established Women’s Health Nurse Practitioner

 y Continue to support staff with training and 
development

Implementation of the 5 year 2012-2017         
Human Resource Strategic Plan 

 y HR Strategic Plan progressed  y Continue to progress HR Strategic Plan

Fa
ci

liti
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nd
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To modernise and maintain 
facilities, equipment and 
infrastructure to improve the 
health and wellbeing of our 
community

Implement capital master plans to complete the 
modernisation of facilities across Western District 
Health Service 

 y Master Plan submitted to DHHS for consideration
 y Completion of installation of the fire sprinkler 

protection system

 y Continue to advocate for the upgrade of HBH 
and PDHS

Continue to modernise and upgrade infrastructure  y Car park works at FHCC and Allied Health complete
Modernisation of major clinical equipment  y 282k HBH Theatre upgrade

 y Replacement of IV pumps across all campuses with 
Alaris pumps and modules

 y Further acute area equipment upgrades being 
scoped with balance of Charity House funds

Co
m

m
un
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  E
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ag
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To enhance community 
participation and involvement in 
the development and growth of 
our Health Service

Foster and encourage consumer participation  y Community Hub launched

 y Consumer & Friends Network Forums
 y Consumer Advocacy Training Workshops
 y Awards to volunteer groups and individuals

 y Marketing of Community Hub

 y Further biannual consumer forums and 
advocacy training planned

 y Continue to identify opportunities for 
consumers to participate at WDHS

 y Establish Youth Board
Continue fundraising and donor initiatives and 
ensure recognition of community support

 y Completion of the construction of the Watermark 
Charity House and subsequent auction for $881k

 y New Cocktails in the Courtyard fundraiser raised 
$5k for the Birches

 y Christmas and Hospital Door Knock Appeals raise 
$10k and $60k respectively

 y Successful Golf Tournament, Fun Run, Drive In and 
Murray to Moyne events 

 y Total fundraising result for the year $824k

 y Successful Run4Farmer Health campaign raised 
$22,181

 y Ongoing implementation of major fundraising 
and donor initiatives

Provide regional forums for the community, 
focusing on education, health and wellbeing

 y 16th Annual Handbury Lecture

 y Palliative Care Play

 y C&FN Youth Forum

 y Provision of regional and educational forums

Communicate and engage with our community 
via media, internet, newsletters, brochures, 
annual reports and promotion of milestones

 y WDHS Facebook page established to promote 
events and initiatives

 y Annual and Quality of Care Reports, community 
newsletter, national and state presentations

 y Gold Award for Annual Report

 y Continue to engage community through 
the Facebook page, website, newsletters, 
publications and the media

Bu
sin

es
s 
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d
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To develop and implement 
innovative practices to strengthen 
our governance, business and 
financial capacity to deliver 
efficient and effective high quality 
healthcare to our community

Support innovation to improve quality and 
efficiency of clinical, ICT, work practices and 
business systems

 y Implementation of CAMMS Interplan to improve 
strategic planning and reporting

 y Clinical Notes, Alerts and Allergies introduced

 y TrakCare Community Health System rolled out in 
collaboration with SWARH

 y Finalised Mental Health Service mapping report 
and identified priority actions to increase service 
capacity and coordination between service 
providers with GSCML and SGGPCP

 y ICT strategy adopted

 y Continue work on introducing an Electronic 
Medical Record

Continue to maintain financial and health service 
viability and accountability

 y Theatre Supply Chain Project complete
 y Participation in the Small Rural Health Service Review
 y Management of aged care beds at the Grange 

and Birches reviewed and aged care estimator 
developed to assist with the management of the 
best mix for each facility

 y Aged Care reforms implemented in all Aged Care 
Services

 y Introduce Health Purchasing Victoria reforms
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Financial Overview

Western District Health Service (WDHS) aims 
to increase service provision in a financially 
sustainable way and utilises several key result 
areas to monitor performance. These key result 
areas include:

 y Operating performance – achieving activity 
targets and a surplus from operations

 y Liquidity – maintenance of sufficient assets 
to meet commitments as they fall due – a 
ratio in excess of 0.7

 y Asset Management – ensuring that 
sufficient levels of investment are 
undertaken to maintain the asset base.

Financial Overview
The Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 
of the Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, 
Australian Accounting Standards and Australian 
Accounting Interpretations and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements for the year 
ended 30 June 2015.
WDHS incurred a comprehensive entity deficit 
of $4.4m for the 2014/15 financial year. The 
entity deficit is largely attributable to a $3.0m 
reduction in capital purpose income and a 

significant increase of $2.2m in depreciation 
charges, as a consequence of the revaluation 
of buildings in the prior year. In spite of the 
significant comprehensive entity deficit, overall 
liquidity levels improved by $1.7m during the 
year and remain substantially above target 
levels.
Complexity adjusted (WIES21) inpatient activity 
was 2.8% higher than the previous year, with the 
Health Service achieving 99.6% of the 2014/15 
target. Residential aged care activity was 9.7% 
above prior year levels and all other activity 
targets were achieved.    

Operating Performance
With the exception of residential aged care, 
funding provided in funding formulae excludes 
any contribution towards the cost of depreciation. 
Funds are traditionally allocated by government 
capital grants to fund significant asset 
replacement and the Health Service continues 
to rely on community fundraising to provide for 
equipment replacement.
In reviewing operating performance, capital 
purpose income comprising capital grants 
($626,000), residential aged care capital 
contributions ($911,000) and specific purpose 

donations and bequests ($753,000) are excluded. 
These funds are provided for specific capital 
purposes and are not available to support 
operations. Depreciation and valuation changes, 
specific expenditure from capital purpose 
revenue ($105,000) and the loss on disposal of 
non-current assets ($79,000) are also excluded, 
being predominantly funded from capital income 
sources. 
The accepted indicator of performance is the 
result from continuing operations prior to 
depreciation and capital purpose income. In the 
current year the result was a surplus of $601,000 
($99,000 in 2014), which represents 0.91% 
of operating revenue. The $601,000 excludes 
payments made for ICT leases which have been 
treated as finance leases for the first time. These 
costs associated with the leases  - finance costs 
($42,000 ) and repayment of  finance leases 
($347,000) must be funded from this surplus. The 
adjusted result after lease repayments is a more 
modest surplus of $212,000 ($99,000 in 2013/14) 
which is 0.32% of operating revenue.
In the 2014/15 financial year, depreciation 
charges of $6,924,000 were recorded, reflecting 
the cost associated with the use of buildings 
and equipment in delivering services. In order 

Income by Category 2015 ($’000)
Government Grants (78%)         Business Units (1%)          Patient Fees (10%)         Other Operating Income (7%)

Capital Donations & Bequests (2%)         Capital Purpose Income (2%)

608

6,898

5,119

824

1,379

53,557

6,924

10,156
6,416

4,247

44,689

Expenditure by Category 2015 ($’000)
Employee (62%)         Fee for Service Medical (7%)          Supplies/Consumables (9%)

Other Expenses (15%)         Depreciation (9%)

Income by Category ($’000) – 5 Year Comparison

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Government Grants 53,557       51,204       50,258       50,172       48,417 

Patient Fees 6,898         5,947         5,700         5,358         5,414 

Business Units 608            655            734         1,048         1,269 

Other Operating Income 5,119         8,042         8,906         6,740         6,403 

Capital Purpose Income 1,379         4,001       14,181       13,255         6,943 

Capital Donations & Bequests 824         1,145         1,073         1,314         1,528 

Expenditure by Category ($’000) – 5 Year Comparison

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Employee Benefits 44,689       43,555       43,255       42,786       41,018 

Fee for Service Medical Officers 4,247         3,785         3,501         3,298         3,311 

Supplies/Consumables 6,416         6,213         5,894         5,890         6,163 

Other Expenses 10,156       12,246       12,832       11,041       10,736 

Depreciation 6,924         3,900         3,512         3,302         3,618 
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to maintain the Health Service asset base, 
operating surpluses and capital purpose income 
must exceed depreciation charges and periodic 
non-current asset valuation changes.  In the 
current year, capital income was $4,715,000 less 
than the depreciation charges. Financial asset 
fair value losses of $76,000, lease finance costs 
of $42,000 and a joint venture loss of $23,000 
were recognized in calculating the comprehensive 
result for the year.  Including all items the Health 
Service net assets reduced by $4.360m for the 
year, which represents a reduction of 2.9% 
(increase of $66.231m – 80.2% in 2014). Excluding 
the land and buildings valuation increment in 
the prior year provides a more realistic prior year 
increase in net assets of $1.302m (1.6%).

Liquidity Position 
During 2014/15 the Health Service generated 
positive cash flows from operations of 
$2,260,000 and received $3,223,000 in capital 
purpose income, $3,084,000 of these funds 
were used to purchase property, plant and 
equipment and a further $347,000 used to 

repay finance leases during the year.  The entity 
generated a positive cash flow of $2,152,000 
for the year after capital items and applied 
$4,123,000 of the available cash to purchase 
investments. After purchase of investments the 
available cash was reduced by $1,981,000 to 
$11,467,000 at year end.
At the end of the year the ratio of current 
assets to current liabilities (excluding patient 
trust funds) was 1.52:1 compared to 1.53:1 in 
the previous year. This  remains considerably in 
excess of the 0.7 target ratio.

Asset Management 
$1.15m was invested during the year in building 
works, plant, equipment and infrastructure 
upgrades, in accordance with the capital works 
budget adopted in August by the Board of 
Directors.  This investment was substantially 
less than the $6.5m depreciation expense 
for the year.  Significant items included in the 
$1.15m investment were the final stage of the 
Fire Sprinkler System upgrade at the Hamilton 
Base Hospital site ($423,000), purchase of 

property adjacent the Grange Residential Service 
($210,000), upgrade of operating theatre digital 
endoscopy equipment and equipment arm 
($278,000) and  the replacement of two CTG fetal 
monitors ($90,000).

The Future
The continued support of the community, as 
indicated by the outstanding $824,000 received 
from donations and bequests in 2014/15, allows 
WDHS to continue to invest in buildings, medical 
equipment and technology. It is important to 
maintain the level of investment to provide a 
strong base for the Health Service to improve 
service delivery and efficiency and comply with 
increasingly rigorous service standards.  
A challenging economic environment with 
increased productivity demands, together with 
the continued implementation of new clinical 
information systems and medical technology 
will challenge the Health Service as it strives 
to continually improve service provision in a 
financially sustainable way.

Financial Overview and Analysis

Financial Analysis of Operating Revenues and Expenses
REVENUE 2015

$000S
2014

$000S
2013

$000S
2012

$000S
2011

$000S

SERVICES SUPPORTED BY HEALTH SERVICE AGREEMENT

Government grants 53,497 51,137 49,596 50,030 46,923 

Indirect contributions by Department of Human Services 60 67 662 142 1,494 

Patient fees 6,898 5,947 5,700 5,358 5,414 

Other revenue 766 730 732 950 957 

61,221 57,881 56,690 56,480 54,788 

SERVICES SUPPORTED BY HOSPITAL/COMMUNITY INITIATIVES

Business units 608 655 734 1,048 1,235 

Property income 818 858 803 708 672 

Other revenue 3,462 6,494 7,371 5,082 4,808 

4,888 8,007 8,908 6,838 6,715 

Total revenue 66,109 65,888 65,598 63,318 61,503 

EXPENDITURE

SERVICES SUPPORTED BY HEALTH SERVICE AGREEMENT

Employee entitlements 44,157 42,756 42,651 41,620 39,618 

Fee for service medical officers 4,247 3,785 3,501 3,298 3,311 

Supplies and consumables 6,281 6,083 5,763 5,740 6,008 

Other expenses 10,019 12,082 12,487 10,716 10,362 

64,704 64,706 64,402 61,374 59,299 

SERVICES SUPPORTED BY HOSPITAL / COMMUNITY INITIATIVES

Employee entitlements 532 799 604 1,166 1,400 

Supplies and consumables 135 130 131 150 155 

Other expenses 137 164 345 325 374 

804 1,093 1,080 1,641 1,929 

Total Expenditure 65,904 65,799 65,482 63,015 61,228 

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE CAPITAL PURPOSE INCOME, DEPRECIATION AND SPECIFIC ITEMS 601 99 116 303 275

Capital purpose income 615 3,474 13,258 11,646 5,513 

Donations and bequests 753 1,105 1,073 1,314 1,528 

Residential aged care  - capital purpose income 911 443 848 1,575 1,387 

Surplus / (loss) on disposal of fixed assets (70) 84 75 34 (416)

Impairment of financial assets (14) (12)

Share of net result joint ventures (23) (10)

Assets provided free of charge 459 

Finance costs (42)

Expenditure using capital purpose income (105) (149) (173)

Depreciation (6,924) (3,900) (3,512) (3,302) (3,618)

Entity surplus / deficit for the year (4,284) 1,146 11,685 11,556 5,116 
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Service Performance at a Glance

INPATIENT STATISTICS (ACUTE PROGRAM)

Inpatients treated 7,026 7,197 6,941 7,562 7,695

Average complexity (DRG Weight) 0.74 0.69 0.68 0.66 0.69

Complexity adjusted inpatients (WIES 21)* 5,142 4,998 4,694 4,959 5,314

Inpatient bed days 18,758 19,971 20,038 21,799 24,172

Average length of stay (days) 2.67 2.77 2.89 2.88 3.10

HITH bed days 671 631 776 492 758

Nursing home type bed days 1,091 1,553 1,808 1,823 2,544

Operations 3,127 2,895 2,882 2,764 3,014

Births 191 210 201 219 235

Available bed days 27,654 28,613 26,915 27,854 27,191

Occupancy rate 71.8% 75.2% 81.1% 84.8% 98.2%

Average cost per inpatient $4,608 $4,344 $3,906 $3,476 $3,420

AGED CARE STATISTICS - (AGED PROGRAM)

High Care

Residents accommodated 207 185 227 211 178

Resident bed days 51,021 39,639 50,247 51,696 49,268

Low Care

Residents accommodated 29 62 35 45 26

Resident bed days 5,665 11,803 5,968 7,137 10,070

Respite

Residents accommodated 133 139 129 138 151

Resident bed days 2,049 2,077 1,506 1,967 1,629

Occupancy rate 92.48% 84.27% 90.88% 97.72% 98.25%

Community Aged Care Package (CAPs) clients 38 44 39 40 39

CAPS occassions of service 9,843 9,654 10,396 10,891 10,857

ACCIDENT/EMERGENCY OCCASIONS OF SERVICE 6,984 7,155 6,841 7,221 6,693

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

* WIES - (Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separations) are based on the Australian Refined - Diagnostic Groups (AR-DRG) further refined in Victoria by the addition of a few additional DRGs by the Vic-DRG version 52.

* Our Target WIES for 2014-15 (excluding those funded under the Small Rural Health Services Program) was 4,780. After reducing the overall target by a further 58 WIES due to compensation associated with the Commonwealth Budget 
Reduction the Health Service was 131.92 WIES below target (2.99%).

OUTPATIENT (NON-ADMITTED) OCCASIONS OF SERVICE

Physiotherapy 4,114 4,360 5,549 6,689 5,198

Planned Activity Group 5,743 5,319 5,317 5,406 6,061

Speech Pathology 762 658 684 709 798

Podiatry 2,617 2,229 1,708 1,819 2,095

Occupational Therapy 1,753 1,812 2,425 3,439 3,488

Palliative Care 1,428 2,012 2,165 1,765 N/A

District Nursing Service 21,973 21,959 25,737 25,204 23,981

Other (Continence, Diabetes, Dietetics) 3,479 3,198 2,852 2,796 3,220

Total non-admitted occasions of service 41,869 41,547 46,437 47,827 44,841

Cost per non-admitted occasion of service $171 $169 $165 $174 $163

Meals on Wheels   23,078 26,933 30,733 32,346 35,309

Quality Assurance

Full Accreditation Status YES YES YES YES YES
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Acute/Sub-acute 
• Anaesthetics

• Chemotherapy

• Coronary Care

• Day Procedure

• Ear, Nose and Throat

• Emergency

• Endoscopy

• General Medicine

• General Surgery

• Geriatric Evaluation Management (GEM)

• Gynaecology

• Haemodialysis

• High Dependency Care

• Hospital in the Home

• Infection Control

• Intensive Care

• Maxillofacial Surgery

• Nephrology

• Neurosurgery

• Obstetrics

• Oncology

• Operating Suite

• Ophthalmology

• Oral Surgery

• Orthopaedics

• Paediatrics

• Pre-admission Service

• Pharmacy

• Psychiatry

• Rehabilitation

• Specialist Medicine

• Specialist Nursing

• Transition Care

• Urology

• Wound Care

• Private Services - Pathology, Radiology and 
Sleep Clinic

Primary & Preventative Health
• Audiology
• Balance Clinic 
• Breast Cancer Support Group
• Cancer Link Nurse
• Cancer Support Group
• Cancer Support Services
• Cardiac Rehabilitation
• Cardiac Support Group
• Carer’s Support Group
• Chronic Disease Management
• Complex Care
• Coordinated Care
• Continence Service
• Counselling
• Diabetes Education
• District Nursing Service
• Domiciliary Midwifery
• Family Planning
• Hamilton Community Transport
• Home Referral
• Home Services Team
• Hospital in the Home
• Men’s Health
• Nutrition and Dietetics
• Occupational Therapy
• Palliative Care
• Physical Activity Programs
• Physiotherapy
• Planned Activity Group
• Podiatry
• Post-Acute Care
• Pulmonary Rehabilitation
• Rehabilitation in the Home
• Residential In Reach
• Respiratory Education
• Respiratory Support Group
• Sexual and Reproductive Health
• Smoking Cessation
• Social Work
• Speech Pathology
• Stomal Therapy
• Telehealth
• Women’s Health
• Workplace Health Programs
• Youth Programs

Aged Care
The Grange Residential Care Service, The 
Birches, Kolor Lodge Hostel, Penshurst Nursing 
Home, Valley View Nursing Home, Wannon 
Court and Mackie Hostel

• Home Care Packages

• Dementia Specific Residential Aged Care

• Geriatrician 

• Lifestyle and Leisure

• Men’s Out & About activities

• Palliative Care

• Psycho Geriatric Care

• Residential Aged Care

• Respite Care

National Centre for Farmer Health
• AgriSafe™

• Health and Lifestyle Assessments

• Information and Knowledge Hub

• Research and Development

• Sustainable Farm Families TM

• Training and Education

Administrative
• Auxiliaries

• Business Support and Innovation

• Community Liaison

• Facility Management

• Finance

• Health Information

• Hotel Services

• Human Resources

• Learning and Education

• Library

• Meals on Wheels

• Occupational Health and Safety

• Quality Improvement

• Reception

• Security

• Sub Regional Corporate Services

• Volunteer Program 

Our Services
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 Patient Admissions and Classification

 R Registered Nurse Lily Motsepe and Graduate Registered Nurse Emilia 
Kent inputting patient information into TrakCare

 R Physiotherapist Stefan Burnell with Coleraine resident Joyce 
Trotman

372963

1,302

220

3,528

Total Number of Admissions - 2015

Hamilton City
 (56%)

Southern Grampians 
(20%)

Glenelg Shire 
(15%)

Moyne Shire 
(3%)

South Australia 
(6%)

Total Number of Admissions  – 5 Year Comparison

Location 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Hamilton City 3,528 3,649 3,489 3,751 3,832

Southern Grampians 1,302 1,411 1,362 1,567 1,669

Glenelg Shire 963 971 897 937 923

Moyne Shire 220 221 296 359 359

South Australia 372 310 332 367 326

Total 6,385 6,562 6,376 6,981 7,109

201

26

30

1,576

1,5745,193

Inpatients Treated by Patient Classification 2015         

Inpatient by Classification – 5 Year Comparison

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Public 5,193 5,418 5,171 5,733 5,732

Private 1,576 1,490 1,452 1,513 1,620

Department of Veterans Affairs 201 226 250 255 275

Transport Accident Commission 26 25 22 27 30

Workcover 30 38 46 34 38

Total 7,026 7,197 6,941 7,562 7,695

Dept Veterans 
Affairs  (3%)

Private
(22%)

Public 
(74%)

Workcover  
(0.5%)

TAC 
(0.5%)
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Quality Improvement

690
FORMAL ITEMS OF 

FEEDBACK RECEIVED 

NSQHSS
NATIONAL QUALITY AND SAFETY 
STANDARDS FULLY EMBEDDED 

INTO CLINICAL PRACTICE

99.2%
OVERALL SATISFACTION WITH 

CARE JAN-MAR 2015

 
COMMUNITY FEEDBACK AND 

INFORMATION HUB LAUNCHED

Quality Improvement 
Overview
Western District Health Service (WDHS) aims 
to pursue best practice through a culture of 
continuous quality improvement. The Quality 
Plan highlights the core elements of safety 
and quality for all Health Service consumers.

Accreditation
National Standards
A sustainability framework was established 
this year to maintain compliance and embed 
the National Safety and Quality Health Service 
Standards (NSQHSS) into daily practice.
Integration and sustainability of the NSQHSS 
has been achieved through close monitoring 
and maintenance of the Standards. All 10 
Standards have required actions to ensure the 
continuity and improvement of practice across 
all campuses. An annual events calendar has 
also been established to promote each of the 
Standards.

Aged Care
During the year, Aged Care Accreditation 
Support Visits were completed, with full 
compliance achieved. Coleraine successfully 
attained compliance with all 44 Standards 
during accreditation and the Penshurst 
and Hamilton facilities will undergo full 
accreditation in 2015.

Risk Management
The Board, Executive and staff are aware 
that the identification, assessment and 
prioritisation of risks is critical to the safety of 
patients, residents, clients, visitors and staff 
at WDHS. The Quality team works to monitor, 
minimise and control the probability and 
impact of unplanned events. 
The Risk Register has been upgraded and is 
monitored regularly by the Executive team, 
who review the controls in place, to minimise 
risks and maximise opportunities. A risk 
management framework has been developed 
and reviewed to embed the principles of 
the Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009.

Clinical Governance
A thorough review and restructure of clinical 
governance processes and systems has 
been undertaken to ensure a robust flow of 
appropriate clinical information is reported 
to the Board of Directors. A review and 
restructure of clinical reporting systems was 
required to provide clinical workgroups and 
committees the opportunity to highlight 
high risk issues and demonstrate quality 
improvement outcomes.

Consumer Participation
Feedback
Feedback from the community is received via 
internal and external processes and includes 
the active involvement of the Community 
Advisory Committee (CAC) and the Quality 
Improvement Coordinating Committee (QICC). 
Feedback from our internal processes allows 
the organisation to monitor the quality of 
care through patient, resident and client 
experiences, and assists WDHS to implement 
improvements to practices, systems, facilities 
and equipment.
All formal compliments and complaints are 
entered into the Riskman system and are 
responded to appropriately. Compliments and 
complaints are reported to all levels of the 
organisation.
During the last 12 months 690 items of formal 
feedback were registered. Of these, 563 
(82%) were compliments and 127 (18%) were 
complaints.

Patient Surveys
WDHS has achieved a high level of patient 
satisfaction according to the Victorian Healthcare 
Experience Survey (VHES). The VHES Adult 
Patient Questionnaire seeks to discover the 
experience of people 16 and over, who have 
been admitted to hospital. Potential respondents 
are randomly selected from people who are 
discharged from the Health Service in the 
preceding month. The three key aspects of care 
that lead to a positive overall experience are 
the care and treatment by nurses, teamwork 
between doctors and nurses and good discharge 
planning processes. The most recent result 
received was 99.2% overall satisfaction with care.

Consumer and Friends Network
Consumers play a key role in the care provided 
at WDHS. The Consumer and Friends Network 
(C&FN) was established to hear and learn 
from consumers and carers about their 
experience of the Health Service.  
This initiative is a positive way to connect 
consumers, carers and staff in identifying 
how service access, quality and safety can be 
enhanced. Forums featuring a different theme 
are held each quarter, with an open invitation 
for the community to attend. 
The Forums provide input into how we deliver 
care that is safe and of high quality; how we 
design our services, and how we connect with 
the community. Broadly, WDHS may seek 
advice on upcoming changes, look to identify 
service or information gaps, or be looking for 
input into consumer centred training.

IN 2014 / 15
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Quality Improvement

Community Advisory Committee
The Community Advisory Committee (CAC) 
promotes consumer involvement in healthcare 
planning, delivery and evaluation throughout 
WDHS. It also provides input into service 
needs, feedback on performance indicators 
relating to service quality and represents the 
community by making consumer perspectives 
known to staff, management and the Board of 
Directors. Members of the Committee have 
also participated in hospital tours to develop 
a better understanding of the day-to-day 
operations of the organisation. 
A review of consumer representation needs 
was undertaken this year, to further improve 
the involvement of the community.
The CAC also reviewed its strategic direction 
for the next 12 months and agreed to focus on 
two areas  - advocacy and improving discharge 
planning.  

Community Hub
A CAC initiative this year was to set up a 
‘Community Hub’ in the Education Centre 
at HBH. The Hub is a relaxed space for 
consumers to provide feedback and seek 
information on services. Volunteers will assist 
consumers in the ‘Hub’ during designated 
times and Executive staff will also be available 
to answer consumer queries, when required.

Quality of Care Report
WDHS produces an annual Quality of Care 
Report, to provide the community with 
information on systems, processes and 
outcomes that ensure delivery of the highest 
possible quality of care and services. The 
report includes information on consumer 
feedback, external reviews and clinical 
practice, as well as data on the outcomes of 
quality improvement activities. 
A review of the Report has been undertaken 
by the DHHS, with changes being made to 
the reporting guidelines to include more 
consumer participation.

Education
Best Practice Clinical Learning 
Environment
Implementation of the Best Practice Clinical 
Learning Environment Project aims to foster 
a whole of organisation culture in which 
learners at all levels are immersed in a 
positive, best practice learning environment. 
One of the main aims of the project is 
to develop and implement a workforce 
development strategy, to ensure that 
educators at WDHS are highly skilled and well 
supported in their roles.

 R Occupational Therapists Fran Patterson, Leah Priestley and Hannah Russell demonstrate new hand therapy equipment for rehabilitation 

 R Director of Primary and Preventative Health, Rosie Rowe with Consumer and 
Friends Network participant Lois Fisher at a C&FN Forum in 2014
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 Clinical Services

Clinical Services Overview
WDHS provides a range of high quality 
emergency, medical, surgical, sub-acute, 
midwifery, paediatric, intensive care and allied 
health services across its campuses.

Service Activity
A total of 7,026 inpatients were treated in 
2014/15. 6,984 patients visited the Emergency 
Department and 41,869 outpatient visits were 
documented. 
The HBH Operating Theatres delivered surgical 
procedures to 3,127 local, state and interstate 
patients and the Midwifery team supported 
the births of 191 new babies.  
The bed occupancy rate for the year was 
71.8%. 

New Partnerships and 
Initiatives
Oncology Model
Negotiations began with the Andrew Love 
Cancer Centre at the University Hospital 
Geelong, Ballarat Health Services and local 
stakeholders, to develop a new oncology 
model for WDHS. 

Telehealth
Telehealth services were strengthened, with 
the piloting of clinical video consultation 
systems in collaboration with the Barwon 
South West Telehealth Regional Stakeholders 
Committee. 
A Geriatric Telehealth Service with University 
Hospital Geelong Geriatrics Department 
was introduced at Penshurst and six weekly 
telehealth audits were implemented for 
intensive care transfers to University Hospital 
Geelong. The Stroke Tele-rehabilitation Project 
was further developed with Barwon Health, 
with protocols and procedures finalised and 
implemented.

10 Year Regional Intravenous Therapy 
Solution
WDHS, in partnership with South West 
Healthcare and Carefusion Australia, committed 
to a 10 year Regional Intravenous Therapy 
Solution in June. The partnership leverages 
the current contract established by Health 
Purchasing Victoria and utilises the technical 
infrastructure capability provided by SWARH.

The initial rollout, completed at WDHS in 
December 2014 involved:
• Replacement of all IV Pumps across WDHS sites 

connected via the wireless network
• Use of Guardrails Medication Safety software 

to control and monitor IV drug and solution 
administration 

• Centralised maintenance of standardised drug 
protocols and medication parameters

• Radio-frequency identification (RFID) tracking 
of IV Pumps via the wireless network

The sophisticated system provides a standard 
regional solution, clinical medication information 
for analysis and incorporation into the patient 
electronic medical record. In addition to reducing 
the chance of medication errors associated with 
intravenous therapy, the system data will provide 
the opportunity to monitor and revise policies 
and protocols across the region and contribute to 
research opportunities in the future.

Equipment Upgrades
Theatre Upgrade
A $282,000 Theatre upgrade was carried out 
at HBH in May. Ultra High Definition monitors 
and a new pendant arm were installed in 
Theatre 2. A CO2 system to assist with patient 
recovery and four new scopes were also 
purchased to increase the fleet of scopes 
available for endoscopic surgery. The new 
equipment provides greater flexibility in the 
use of the Theatres and increases the range 
and number of procedures available.

41,869 
OUTPATIENTS TREATED

282k
OPERATING THEATRE        

UPGRADE COMPLETED

IV
PUMPS AND MODULES REPLACED 
WITH ALARIS PUMPS TO IMPROVE 

PATIENT SAFETY

 
TRAKCARE ELECTRONIC CLINICAL 

NOTES SYSTEM INTRODUCED 

 R Anaesthetist Dr James Muir in HBH Theatre 2, where a significant equipment upgrade was 
carried out in May with Charity House and Perpetual Trustee funds

IN 2014 / 15
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Systems Improvements
Electronic Medical Record (EMR)
The transition to an Electronic Health Record 
began with the roll out of the Community 
TrakCare and Clinical Notes systems in early 2015, 
to replace paper based clinical records. 
Electronic Clinical Notes Alerts & Allergies were 
placed on TrakCare in the inpatient areas at HBH, 
followed by Coleraine and Penshurst campuses 
in March. Use of paper progress notes also 
ceased. WDHS is working towards a complete, 
organisation wide EMR within the next few years.  
An EMR provides the organisation with a more 
efficient patient record, allowing more than one 
clinician to access the record at any one time. It 
also allows staff to better meet the medico legal 
requirements of documentation and improves 
the legibility of patient notes.
Implementing a change of this scale required 
many hours of staff training. The training was 
conducted in special sessions tailored for nurses, 
doctors and allied health clinicians. 
Additional components of the EMR currently 
in the planning stages for implementation 
are  - Observations, Electronic Medication 
Management (EMM) and Forms.  Our aim is to 
take incremental steps that allow staff to adjust 
and become comfortable with these electronic 
advancements, as we continue to implement 
the EMR, as part of the WDHS Electronic Health 
Record.

Sub-acute Rehabilitiation Redesign 
Across all campuses this year, sub-acute 
services were provided to 100 patients and 
rehabilitation to 122 patients.  
WDHS is a Level 3 Sub-acute Service. The 
Sub-acute Rehabilitation Redesign Project 
saw the introduction of specific sub-acute 
documentation, including the Sub-acute 
Multidisciplinary Care Plan and a more formal 
online referral process.  The Care Plan is 
completed for patients who are accepted into 
our Rehabilitation and Geriatric Evaluation and 
Management (GEM) program, and is based on 
optimising the functional capacity of the patient. 

Emergency Care
Over the last eight months nursing and 
medical teams have been reviewing the service 
provided in the Emergency Department 
(ED).  A working party of nursing and medical 
staff reviewed data on the type and acuity of 
presentations and staff requirements at times 
of higher presentations.  The Department has 
improved clinical support and staffing and 
increased the days that an ED specialist visits 
from Barwon Health from two to three days 
per month. An extra nursing shift has also been 
introduced for peak presentation periods.  
An Emergency Care training package offered 
through the Australian College of Nursing will 

also provide further ED specific training for 
staff working in the area.  

Advanced Care Planning
Advanced Care Plans and End of Life Care 
strategies were developed and introduced in 
acute and aged care facilities to assist patients 
to make informed choices about care options, 
in line with their own values and preferences. 

Retrospective Document Reviews
Clinical governance was strengthened 
through the development and introduction of 
innovative retrospective medical document 
reviews.

Medication Management
A new procedure for medication management 
post bariatric surgery was introduced. 
Medication charts are now sent to Pharmacy 
after pre-admission and a pharmacist 
annotates how each medication should be 
administered. This guides nurses in managing 
patient medications post-operatively.

Theatre Supply Chain Project
The Theatre Supply Chain Project, involving 
the transition to a central supply model 
for Operating Theatre consumables was 
completed. 

Specialist Services
Recruitment
Surgeon, Mr Peter Tung, announced his 
retirement this year and UK General Surgeon, 
Dr Richard Moore, was recruited to join 
WDHS. Mr Tung retires after a distinguished 
career at Glenelg Surgical Clinic and WDHS, 
during which he served the community as 
a general surgeon and specialised in breast 
reduction and reconstruction surgery. We are 
continuing to work with Southwest Healthcare 
to recruit an Obstetrician and Gynaecologist 
(O&G) specialist to Hamilton.

Bariatric Services
Bariatric services were enhanced through 
a collaborative with Metropolitan Bariatric 
Surgery Services and the Department of 
Health and Human Services, to standardise 
selection and care pathways.

Education and Training
WDHS surgical training positions were 
reaccredited by the Royal Australasian College 
of Surgeons.

Aged Care
WDHS operates six aged care facilities: the 
Birches and the Grange in Hamilton; Penshurst 
Nursing Home and Kolor Lodge in Penshurst 
and Valley View Nursing Home, Wannon 
Court and Mackie Hostels in Coleraine. These 
facilities cater for the residential needs of 
the elderly.  In addition, The Grange also 

administers 28 Home Care Packages (HCPs).  
In 2014/15 these aged care facilities 
accommodated 175 high care residents, 62 
low care residents and 139 respite residents, 
with an occupancy rate for the year of 84.27%. 
44 CACPs clients were also serviced.

Aged Care Reform
Over the past year a major focus for our aged 
care services has been to work towards the 
implementation of our readiness plan in response 
to the Commonwealth Government’s ‘Living 
Longer, Living Better’ aged care reforms, which 
were required to commence in July 2014.
We established an aged care governance group, 
increased our occupancy and revenue and are 
identifying ways to create greater sustainability in 
our aged care division. 
Further work on our implementation plan has 
included participation in the Victorian Healthcare 
Association (VHA) Public Sector Residential Aged 
Care Services (PSRACS) Marketability Project. With 
the aged care reforms demanding a more market 
driven model, the project has assisted our facilities 
to develop and promote a marketing strategy. This 
has included the development of an aged care 
logo, catch phrase and the update of information 
for prospective residents in hard copy and on the 
website. We have also reviewed the enquiry and 
tour process and held open days at each of our 
facilities.
The implementation of the Readiness Plan has 
also involved the transition from Home Care 
Packages to a Consumer Directed Care (CDC) 
model by July 1 2015. The model is designed 
to promote consumer choice, control and goal 
setting. It has included the development of our 
service model, process flow chart and guidelines, 
consumer education sessions and pilot program, 
staff training and education, the establishment of 
costs and pricing around individualised budgets 
and participation in the development of a 
software program that supports the CDC model.
We continue to embed our previous work 
on implementing the aged care reform, with 
enhanced strategies for pricing, resident centred 
care and planning and occupancy levels, to ensure 
the long term viability of our aged care facilities.
In the coming year, the components of the ‘Living 
Longer, Living Better’ aged care reforms will 
continue to influence the direction for WDHS 
aged care services and how they are provided to 
the community.
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PPH Overview
Our Primary and Preventative Health (PPH) 
team aim to meet a range of needs and 
deliver services and programs for:

 y people with chronic and complex 
conditions

 y people requiring allied health 
(physiotherapy, occupational therapy, 
dietetics, podiatry, social work, continence 
and speech pathology)

 y people requiring community health (Men’s 
Health, Women’s Health and counselling)

 y older people (Planned Activity Group) 
 y young people (school health education, 

holiday programs and events)
 y people requiring a support network 

(support groups) 
 y preventing ill-health (health promotion 

programs)
 y people requiring services following their 

discharge from hospital
 y people requiring end of life care and 

symptom management (Palliative Care 
Service).

New Initiatives and Services
Home Services Team
The Department of Health provided funding 
for an 18 month Workforce Innovation Project, 
in partnership with the Southern Grampians 
Shire Council. The project aims to:

 y Further improve teamwork between 
Council Home and Community Care 
Services and WDHS PPH services

 y Enhance support for clients in their home 
via a new Allied Health Assistant role, 
working in conjunction with the Shire 
Council’s Community Care Workers

 y Trial the use of iPads to enhance staff 
capability to support clients in their home.

Fifteen clients have been involved in this project, 
with positive outcomes, including an increase in 
service access for remote clients and more rapid 
progress in meeting treatment goals.

Physio Providing ACFI Complex Pain 
Treatments in Aged Care
In February, the WDHS Physiotherapy 
Department started providing treatments 
for chronic pain management to residents in 
Coleraine and the Birches Residential Care 
facility. In August, the team will also begin 
providing these treatments to residents at 
Penshurst and The Grange.
The treatment is delivered by an Allied Health 
professional and involves therapeutic massage 
and / or pain management using technical 
equipment. It is delivered on an ongoing basis, 
as required by the resident, for at least four 
days per week.

Women’s Health Nurse Practitioner
We are delighted this year to have our 
Women’s Health Nurse endorsed as a Nurse 
Practitioner.  This provides greater service 
access for women seeking specialist women’s 
health, including prescriptions as appropriate 
within the scope of practice of the Nurse 
Practitioner.

Bereavement Program
The Palliative Care team has developed a 
new Bereavement Program. The program 
provides trained volunteers and fortnightly 
bereavement and family support worker visits 
to clients and their families.

The Hub
A shared office, ‘the Hub’ was created in 
July 2014 to enhance communication and 
integration of Care Coordination programs.  This 
includes the Southern Grampians Shire Council’s 
Home and Community Care staff.  
WDHS programs co-located in the Hub include 
the Home Referral Service, Complex Care, 

Primary and Preventative Health (PPH)

30%
INCREASE IN PLANNED ACTIVITY 

GROUP ACTIVITY TYPES 

Telehealth
SERVICES IN USE IN 8 CLINICAL 

AREAS AND CONTINUING             
TO EXPAND

 
TEAMWORK INITIATIVES 

IMPROVED COMMUNICATION AND          
CLIENT CARE

 R PAG clients Joan King and Helen Hartwich  take a helicopter flight over the 12 Apostles, one of 
the highlights of this year’s PAG overnight trip

 
iPADS TRIALLED FOR CLIENT 

EDUCATION, REMOTE ACCESS 
TO CLINICAL RESOURCES & 
WORKFORCE EFFICIENCY

iPad

IN 2014 / 15
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 Primary and Preventative Health (PPH)

Residential In Reach Service, Intake and Care 
Coordination and Diabetes Care Coordination.
A recent survey found that staff are very positive 
about the new ‘Hub’.  The key benefit is the 
improvement to the care that is being planned 
and delivered to clients.  Staff have also gained 
a better understanding of each other’s roles 
and are better equipped to provide more 
appropriate care to clients.  

Systems Improvements
Primary & Preventative Health iPad 
Strategy
In August 2014 the Primary & Preventative 
Health Division leased 18 iPads with an external 
funding grant, to be used in conjunction with the 
12 iPads already owned by the Division.  The aim 
was to implement an iPad strategy to enhance 
workforce efficiency and client care, providing 
improved clinical outcomes.
This trial of mobile devices on a large scale (with 
100% clinical teams involved) was developed in 
a partnership with Grangeburn IT. Grangeburn 
provide technical support, managing the iPads as 
a group remotely, allowing for new mobile app 
updates and iPad location tracking. App usage 
is also monitored to gauge how popular certain 
apps are and allowing bulk loading of apps and 
adjustment to iPad settings as needed.
Each iPad has access to the intranet, internet, 
Skype and health education apps.  This allows 
improved clinical education of clients; enhanced 
access to internet and clinical resources when 
staff are off-site; reduces double entry of 
information and, in future, will provide access to 
the client management system for staff working 
off-site.

Telehealth
PPH continues to embrace telehealth, with 
new initiatives being introduced regularly.
It has also continued to collaborate with Royal 

Melbourne Hospital and Hamilton Medical 
Group to run a Telehealth Chronic Pain 
Service. Eleven clinics were conducted in 2014 
with over 30 clients accessing the service.  In 
September 2014, the Service was extended to 
cover the Coleraine, Casterton and Balmoral 
areas, in collaboration with doctors at the 
Casterton and Coleraine Medical Clinic. 
Three clinics  were held, with seven patients 
accessing the service in these areas.
The Speech Pathology Department is 
continually looking at how telehealth can be 
used to ensure the best service for clients. 
This has included conducting swallowing 
assessments via telehealth at both the 
Coleraine and Penshurst campuses.
Our Men’s Health Nurse Practitioner has also 
further developed the Men’s Health telehealth 
initiatives, adding a Warrnambool link to his 
work with Urologist, Mr Richard Grills. Patients 
from Hamilton and Warrnambool now have 
supported access to Mr Grills who is based in 
Geelong. Our Men’s Health Nurse Practitioner 
also coordinates a telehealth clinic with 
Gynaecologist, Mr Chris Beaton, who is based 
in Warrnambool. Mr Beaton provides surgery 
in Hamilton and patients can attend their 
review appointments (where appropriate) 
with Mr Beaton via a telelink in Hamilton.

Events and Awards
Over 2,000 young people and the wider 
community participated in events throughout 
the year, including National Close the Gap Day, 
Mental Health Week, National Youth Week, 
Nelly Thomas ‘The Talk’, Celia Lashlie ‘Growing 
Boys to Men’, ‘Break and Hydrate’ Dunkeld 
Races and ‘Paddock to Plate’ Sheepvention. 
The Southern Grampians Youth Achievement 
Award was also established.

Speech Pathology - Picnic in the Park 
The Speech Pathology Department held its 
inaugural Picnic in the Park in March. Families 
braved the cold and came along to a picnic 
at the Hamilton Botanic Gardens, where 
they were given the opportunity to provide 
feedback about the service, meet with other 
families and make new friends.

Planned Activity Group (PAG) 
Increased Activities
This year the Planned Activity Group team 
increased the activity types offered in the 
program by 30%, to further cater to client’s 
needs and interests.

Overnight Trip
PAG clients again enjoyed their annual overnight 
trip, with participants visiting Camperdown, Port 
Campbell, Timboon and Warrnambool this year. 
The highlight for six clients was a helicopter flight 
over the 12 Apostles. The annual trip is designed 
to provide frail aged and people with disabilities 
with the opportunity to experience a holiday in a 
supported environment.

Youth Services
Youth Holiday Program 
A range of activities were offered during holiday 
periods thanks to the generous support of Dr 
Geoff Handbury, AO. This year 421 young people 
participated in 13 activities.

Southern Grampians FReeZA Program
The FReeZA program provides young people 
with the opportunity to attend affordable and 
accessible music and cultural events across the 
Southern Grampians. Over 1,540 young people 
attended seven events, including the popular 
Hamilton Battle of the Bands and Barwon South 
West Skate Series. 
Funding for a significant component of the WDHS 
Youth Services program, established in 1997 was 
withdrawn and the program components funded 
by State Government ceased in June this year.

 R Physios and OTs with clients in the 
Rehabilitation Gymnasium at HBH

 R Penshurst Nursing Home resident Don Adamson enjoying the company of Border Collie Jill and 
Labrador Tessa thanks to the Delta Dog Program and Volunteer, Stan Dean
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National Centre for Farmer Health (NCFH)
Making a difference to farmers’ lives

NCFH Overview
The National Centre for Farmer Health (NCFH) 
provides national leadership and programs 
to improve the health, safety and wellbeing 
of farm men and women, farm workers, their 
families and communities across Australia.
Established in partnership with Deakin 
University in 2008, the Centre is based at 
WDHS in Hamilton.

Funding
Funding Announcements
Despite commencing the year in difficult 
funding circumstances, the NCFH made 
significant progress to secure its future in 
2014/15. 
Highlights included the announcement on 
July 1 by member for Wannon, the Hon Dan 
Tehan MP, of $375,000 in funding, which 
then released $250,000 from the previous 
State Government. This funding, in addition 
to donations from community and industry, 
allowed for the continuation of some core 
programs, such as the Graduate Certificate 
in Agricultural Health and Medicine, 
maintenance of farmerhealth.org.au, and 
completion of research projects. 
In April, Victorian Minister for Agriculture 
and Minister for Regional Development, the 
Hon Jaala Pulford announced that the State 
Government would provide $4 million in 
funding for the Centre over four years.
WDHS also worked on developing 
partnerships with industry and business to 
create greater certainty around funding for 
the Centre into the future.

Fundraising
At the Melbourne Marathon in October, 1,316 
total kilometres were run/walked by 135 
participants in the Run4FarmerHealth.  
$34,500 was also very gratefully received in 
fundraising from industry and community 
throughout the year. 

Program Delivery
Sustainable Farm Families™ (SFF)
SFF is an award winning and evidence based 
program structured on knowledge and skill 
building to promote long term lifestyle and 
work safety changes in farming families. In July 
an international partnership was signed for 
the Sustainable Farm Families™ program with 
the Farm Safety Centre Alberta, Canada. 

AgriSafe™
AgriSafe™ is an occupational health and 
safety program specifically aimed at farming 
populations that includes physical health, 
wellbeing and farm safety. AgriSafe™ clinics 
commenced in partnership with Lake Bolac 
Bush Nursing Centre and PDHS in 2015.

Health and Lifestyle Assessments
207 full health and lifestyle assessments 
were undertaken on farm men and women 
in Victoria, SA and QLD at conferences/field 
days/expos. 

Education and Research
Graduate Certificate
25 students from five states studied Australia’s 
only Agricultural Health and Medicine units 
this year. The prestigious Vice-Chancellor’s 
Award for Excellence in Teaching and Learning  
was awarded to the NCFH for the Agricultural 
Health and Medicine Units in July 2014.

Research
Two research grant applications were 
successful and will commence in July 2015 
and two PhD students also continued their 
study through the NCFH. Six peer-reviewed 
manuscripts were also published in national 
and international journals and books.

Events and Conferences
Despite losing programs and staff, the NCFH 
continued to play an active role in promoting 
farmer health, wellbeing and safety at many 
events. During the year, 1,427 people heard 
the NCFH speak at AGMs, agricultural industry 
functions, health seminars and conferences.
In December 2014, the ‘Sowing the Seeds 
of Farmer Health’ book was launched at the 
Hamilton Library. 

Future Direction
‘Making a difference to farmers lives’ is the 
new vision statement for the Centre.
Since the funding announcements, the NCFH 
has had productive meetings with government 
departments and stakeholders. The NCFH 
strategy, while continuing to focus on its 
successful previous programs, will be to grow 
and expand its reputation and reach, both 
nationally and internationally and to develop 
business relationships that make a difference 
to farmers lives. 

207
FULL HEALTH ASSESSMENTS 

PROVIDED TO FARM MEN          
AND WOMEN

100,000
UNIQUE USERS ACCESSED                      
www.farmerhealth.org.au

$4m
STATE GOVERNMENT FUNDING 

ANNOUNCED

 R AgriSafe™ Clinician Tam Phillips with 
Charles Geddes at an Agri-Safe clinic in 
Lake Bolac

 
‘SOWING THE SEEDS OF FARMER 

HEALTH’ BOOK LAUNCHED
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SGGPCP Overview
Southern Grampians Glenelg Primary 
Care Partnership (SGGPCP) is a voluntary 
partnership that aims to enhance the health 
and wellbeing of our community, by helping 
organisations to work together.  SGGPCP 
acknowledges and thanks WDHS for their 
work as an auspicing body.

Primary Care Partnership (PCP) Partners:
Balmoral Bush Nursing Centre Inc

Brophy Family & Youth Services Inc

Casterton Memorial Hospital

Dartmoor & District Bush Nursing Centre Inc

Dhauward Wurrung Elderly & Community Health 
Services Inc 

Glenelg Shire Council

Hamilton Community House Inc

Heywood Rural Health 

Kyeema Centre Inc

Mulleraterong Centre Inc

Old Courthouse Community Centre Inc 

OzChild

Great South Coast Medicare Local

Portland District Health

Portland Neighbourhood House Inc

Southern Grampians Shire Council

South West Healthcare (Psychiatric Services)

Western District Health Service

Winda-Mara Aboriginal Corporation

Chair:  Nola McFarlane (SGSC)
Executive Committee Members: 
Mo Connolly (DWECH), Ann Kirkham (GSC), 
Fiona Heenan (PDH), Carolyn Millard (HRH), 
Mary-Ann Betson (CMH), Rosie Rowe (WDHS)

New Initiatives and 
Partnerships
PCP’s Work on Obesity  
In 2014/15 PCP worked with partners in Portland 
to drastically change the way the community 
is addressing the obesity epidemic. Portland 
District Health, Dhauwurd Wurrung Elderly and 
Community Health and Glenelg Shire Council 
supported by the PCP and Deakin University 
have pooled their energy and resources to 
focus on an approach known as SEA Change 
Portland. SEA Change Portland is empowering 
the Portland community to make changes that 
will make it easier for children to eat healthily 
and be active.  This approach has included 
ensuring that community leaders and champions 
have a shared understanding of the complexity 
of the obesity system; including what causes 
unhealthy weight in children in Portland and the 
inter-relationships between these causes.  This 
greater understanding of the system has lead to 
a clearer call to action. Teams in the community 
have formed and taken collective action, and 

individuals have also made changes within their 
own areas of influence.  These changes are being 
tracked to determine how they are altering 
the whole picture.  This work has attracted the 
attention of global obesity prevention scientists, 
and PCP was visited by a team from Harvard, 
Brookings Institute, Tufts University and University 
of Auckland in April to share knowledge. 
549 children in year 2, 4 & 6 across the region 
were weighed, measured and surveyed about 
behaviours relating to healthy weight.

Building Resilience to Climate Change
Another area SGGPCP is continuing its strong 
leadership work in, is building community 
resilience to climate change.  This year has 
seen the PCP continue its important pilot 
project Glenelg SAVES, to improve energy 
efficiency in low income households. PCP has 
also expanded its work in understanding who is 
most vulnerable to climate change impacts and 
how service providers can further support these 
people, through the Southern Grampians Rural 
People: Resilient Futures Project.  This work 
has been strongly supported by Department 
of Environment, Land, Water and Planning 
and has attracted the attention and support 
of the Victorian Emergency Management 
Commissioner, as a model for building the 
community’s resilience to climate change.

Alcohol Survey
PCP conducted a comprehensive survey of 
Year 6 and Year 8 children across Glenelg Shire, 
to guide planning for action with the aim of 
delaying the use of alcohol by young people.  

Workplace Accreditation Program
SGGPCP has also undertaken the Healthier 
Together Victoria Workplace Accreditation 
Program and has successfully met all 
benchmarks for physical activity, alcohol and 
smoking and is currently working through the 
remaining two areas of healthy eating and 
mental health.  SGGPCP is one of six workplaces 
across Victoria that has reached this level of 
accreditation. 

Southern Grampians Glenelg Primary Care Partnership (SGGPCP)

60
COMMUNITY LEADERS DEVELOPED 

A MODEL OF THE CAUSES OF 
OBESITY IN PORTLAND AND 
AGREED TO ACTION AREAS

320
ENERGY EFFICIENCY 

IMPROVEMENTS WERE MADE IN 
LOCAL HOUSEHOLDS

236
STUDENTS IN GLENELG SHIRE 

WERE SURVEYED ABOUT 
ALCOHOL USAGE, ATTITUDES AND             

RISK FACTORS

 R SGGPCP Executive Officer, Janette Lowe 
and SGGPCP Health & Wellbeing Manager, 
Jo Brown
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Our People in the Workplace

716
PEOPLE WERE EMPLOYED 

AT WDHS

82%
GRADUATE NURSES RE-EMPLOYED 

AT WDHS

OH&S
PATIENT HANDLING EQUIPMENT 

PURCHASED TO IMPROVE 
WORKPLACE SAFETY

 
WDHS ABORIGINAL  EMPLOYMENT 

PLAN DEVELOPED

Human Resources Overview
WDHS Human Resources (HR) aims to attract 
and retain high-performing staff committed 
to the vision, mission and values of the Health 
Service. HR works to provide an environment 
for motivating and encouraging staff to 
develop and use their skills to enhance the 
health and wellbeing of the community.

HR Strategic Plan 2012-2017
A five-year Human Resources Strategic Plan 
was adopted by the Board in early 2012.
The strategic imperatives for the next five year 
Human Resources Plan include:

 y Redesigning and resourcing WDHS for the 
future

 y Developing organisational culture and 
commitment to excellence

 y Growing research and innovation capability 
and readiness

 y Using technology to support client care, 
staff management and corporate services 
functions

 y Developing strategic partnerships to 
maximise impact.

Recruitment
In February 2015, Director of Nursing (DON), 
Janet Kelsh retired after 28 years of service.  
Following Janet’s departure, WDHS was 
well supported by Acting DON, Ann Hague, 
on secondment from Barwon Health and 
Assistant Director of Nursing - Business 
Operations, Lorraine Hedley. Kerryn Charman 
was appointed to the position in June and 
commenced in the role in early July 2015. 
We are regularly reviewing our structure 
and changes at senior levels, in particular, 
challenge us to ensure that we have the best 
recruitment systems in place. 

Workforce Planning
A number of WDHS staff continue to work 
beyond the traditional retirement age, by 
taking advantage of flexible work options 
such as casual work, reduced hours or 
consultancy work.  The ageing workforce (60% 
of employees are currently over 45) reinforces 
WDHS’ commitment to business innovation 
and the use of technology throughout the 
Health Service. We have seen an increasing 
number of staff transitioning to retirement 
over the past 12 months. As is the case with 
many industries, this generational change 
brings significant labour and management 
challenges that WDHS continues to work to 
overcome. 

Key Initiatives and Programs
Organisational Values
WDHS developed and introduced new core 
values across the organisation to guide staff in 
their behaviours and interactions on behalf of 
the organisation. 

Aboriginal Employment Plan
The development of the WDHS Aboriginal 
Employment Plan this year ensures WDHS is a 
culturally appropriate and inclusive workplace 
where the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
community feel welcomed, respected and 
are given opportunities for skill and career 
development in a supportive environment.

People Matter Survey
WDHS participated in the 2015 state-wide 
‘People Matter Survey’, an employee opinion 
survey that provides valuable information  on 
employees’ perspectives on the application 
of the public sector values and employment 
principles in their organisation. It also measures 
other aspects of the workplace, such as how 
engaged and satisfied employees are, workplace 
wellbeing, employee commitment and 
perceptions of how well change is managed.

Employee of the Month Program
Staff from a range of areas were recognized 
with awards for excellence in supporting 
WDHS core values through the Employee of 
the Month Program.
Sponsored by local retailer, Darriwill Farm, 
the following staff were recipients of the 
award in 2014/15:

July  
Lauren Davies, Physiotherapy
August 
Richard Casey, Penshurst
September 
Kelly Nottle, Medical Unit
October 
Jess Nobes, Dietetics
November 
Brigid Kelly, Community Liaison
December 
Natasha MacDonald, The Birches
January 
Anthony Jackson, PPH
February 
Dr Stephanie Julian, Medical Services
March 
Tonia Evans, Medical Unit 
April 
Amber MacDonald, Surgical Unit
May 
David McCabe, Theatre
June 
Dr Jan Slabbert, Hamilton Medical Group

IN 2014 / 15
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Statutory Compliance
During 2014/15, WDHS made no mandatory 
reports to AHPRA regarding health professionals.  
There were also no reports under the Protected 
Disclosure Act.

Code of Conduct
All staff receive training in the code of conduct 
and expected standards of behaviour on a 
regular basis.  This training is completed in 
conjunction with regular prevention of bullying 
and harassment training.

Industrial Relations
No work hours were lost at WDHS as a result 
of industrial action during 2014/15.

Workforce Data
Employees have been correctly classified in 
workforce data provided for the 2014/15 year.

Learning and Development
Best Practice Clinical Learning 
Environment (BPCLE)
Leading the way in clinical training and education 
in 2014/15 has been the implementation of one 
of the Department of Health’s flagship projects; 
the Best Practice Clinical Learning Environment 
project (BPCLE). This was adapted into a longer 
term Quality Learning Environment (QLE) 
strategy for WDHS. Our achievements to date 
include:

 y Establishing a single coordination point 
for undergraduate placements across all 
disciplines

 y Engaging more education providers to 
increase our capacity to provide student 
placements 

 y Roll-out of a communication plan for the 
project throughout WDHS

 y A review of internal processes in relation 
to how WDHS organises, manages and 
delivers clinical education against BPCLE 
framework

 y Development of support tools such as 
manuals, fact sheets, and survey/feedback 
tools to help embed new practice at a 
grass-roots level

 y Identification of Indicators and measures 
that allow WDHS to track progress over a 
given period.

QLE project leadership and oversight is provided 
by a multi-disciplinary steering committee and 
the achievement of BPCLE priorities is included 
in WDHS’ Statement of Priorities.

Clinical Education and Training
Undergraduates
WDHS had a busy year with undergraduate 
student clinical placements across all campuses. 
142 student nurses, 19 medical students and 
15 other (physiotherapy, occupational therapy, 
pharmacy and health information) students were 
hosted. These students were from 13 quality 
education providers across Australia.

Graduate and 2nd Year Nursing Programs
In 2014/15, 10 Registered Nurse (RN) Graduates 
completed the 12-month Graduate Program 
and a new intake of 10 nurses started their 
RN training. Our Enrolled Nurse (EN) Program 
commenced in February 2015, with eight 
participants. In collaboration with Portland 
District Health and Moyne Health Service, WDHS 
continued to participate in a unique collaborative 
program where graduate nurses rotated through 
the three organisations.  
WDHS again partnered with Leading Aged 
Care Services (LASA) and Monash University 
to provide an exclusive Aged Care Graduate 
Program. One graduate completed this excellent 
training course during 2014/15. Seven of our 
2014 Graduates commenced our 2nd Year 
Nursing Program in February 2015.  This program 
is specifically tailored to meet the professional 
development requirements and interests of the 
participants; ensuring ongoing training for highly 
skilled nurses.

Workforce Profile 2015 June
Current Month FTE

June
YTD FTE

Labour Category 2015 2014 2015 2014

Nursing  235.23  241.30  234.88  240.56 

Administration and Clerical  79.69  87.49  85.52  87.28 

Medical Support  31.02  22.14  26.01  23.74 

Hotel and Allied Services  125.11  130.98  132.01  137.17 

Medical Officers  1.05  4.27  1.21  2.69 

Hospital Medical Officers  10.88  14.92  14.06  14.15 

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health)  48.07  43.36  42.71  40.09 

Total  531.05  544.46  536.40  545.68 

 R Deakin University students Georgia Martin and Jessica Ivey discussing patient participation in 
student learning with client Anne O’Keefe in the Rehab gymnasium   

Our People in the Workplace
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Graduate Diploma Nursing and Midwifery
Nursing Graduate Diploma courses continue to 
be provided through Deakin University.  The three 
participants in Critical Care, Midwifery and Peri-
operative Nursing continue to work at WDHS after 
completing their studies in these fields.

Sue Hindson Professional Development Fund
WDHS is grateful for the Hindson Professional 
Development Fund, which again supported two 
nurses to attend a Trauma Nursing course in 
Bendigo in August.

Continuing Nurse Education
The Learning and Development team continued 
to provide a broad range of educational 
opportunities for staff, including monthly 
hospital orientation for all new employees and 
the clinical orientation program for clinical staff.  
It also continued as fund-holder of the Barwon 
South West Region 4 Consortia for Continuing 
Nursing and Midwifery Education, which 
allowed for the delivery of eight targeted-topic 
professional development sessions on behalf of 
the region. 
WDHS continues to support nurses who wish to 
undertake Graduate Certificate and Graduate 
Diploma studies in Midwifery, Critical Care 
and Peri-operative nursing, through Deakin 
University. As part of our commitment to 
agricultural health, all supported students 
undertake the NCFH/Deakin Agricultural Health 
& Medicine Unit as an elective.

Non-Clinical Education and 
Training 
Access to quality non-clinical training delivered 
locally remains a major issue for most regional 
health services. In 2014/15 the Learning and 
Development team hosted a number of training 
workshops, including computer training, cultural 
diversity training, consumer advocacy training, 
and up-skilling in various management and 
administrative areas of competency in Hamilton. 
This effort will be increased significantly in 
2015/16 with the roll-out of a comprehensive 
program of workshops addressing leadership, 
management and administrative skills in 
particular. 

Online Learning 
The redevelopment of Solle; the current SWARH 
Learning Management System (LMS), into an 
integrated learning portal remains a key priority. 
WDHS took a leading role in working with SWARH 
and other health services in the region to identify 
a suitable LMS and/or online platform, that 
would serve the strategic business and workforce 
development objectives of SWARH members 
beyond the mere delivery of education and 
training content. A decision on a new system/
platform is expected to be made in early 2015/16 
with migration to a new system to take place 
through the latter part of the financial year. 

Occupational Health and Safety
We have continued our commitment to improved 
OH&S management strategies through an ongoing 
equipment procurement program.   During 
2014/15, WDHS invested $80,000 to make 
the workplace safer for staff and patients. The 
equipment purchased includes new bariatric 
equipment;  an armchair and Brewer Lift 
Mate that assists with patient transfers in the 
operating suite and an upgraded bed mover for 
HBH. Emergency preparedness is always on the 
agenda and in January 2015 WDHS conducted 
a mock Emergency Code Black at HBH. A new 
Code Grey was also introduced in March 2015, in 
response to patient aggression. WDHS extended 
its occupational violence training program and 
is currently rolling out Management of Violence 
and Aggression International Training (MOVAIT) 
to staff. Feedback from this innovative program 
has been very positive, as it focuses on de-
escalation techniques to keep staff and patients 
safe. In addition, funding has allowed for the 
provision of additional security cameras at the 
Grange and Penshurst Campuses. There were 
no Chemical, Biological or Radiological (CBR) 
incidents in the past year. 2015/16 will see the 
implementation of a staff wellbeing program. The 
OH&S Committee will work with a senior steering 
committee to ensure widespread participation.  
The total indicative premium for 2015/16 was 
$541,370. The indicative performance rating for 
the period was 1.0617 which is 6.17% higher than 
the industry average. There were no WorkSafe 
notifiable incidents in 2014/15.

 R 2015 Enrolled Nurse Graduate Program participants Shalom Ngadziore, Tessa Blair, Laura Irving, Jaymie McFarlane, Sophie Annett, Carolyn 
Tonissen, Krystal Fitzgerald, Dianne Brown with Graduate Nurse & 2nd Year Program Coordinator, Leah Swainston

Our People in the Workplace
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10 Years Service Badges  
Norelle Bensch
Debra Bickley 
Judith Burgess
Lorrae Clarke 
Angela Cook
Mary Crane
Sharon Gorrie
Eleni Guy 
Patricia Jacobson
Lisa Lowe
Raymond McCabe 
Sarah Moyle
Julie Pedrina 
Leslie Povey 
Carolyn Rentsch
Erin Rhook
Megan Ryan
Leanne Ryan 
Sally Teelow

 R WDHS Plumber Shane Lenehen carrying out maintenance at HBH  R Paula Hoy stocking shelves in Medical Stores

Our People in the Workplace

Staff Service Milestones

15 Year Service Badges 
Margaret Bilston 
Catherine Campbell
Rowena Farquharson
Belinda Hill
Anthony Jackson
Loretta Kearney
Benjamin Kele
Leesa Ladd 
Nicole Landwehr 
Raewyn Powlton 
Hazel Saligari 
Marion Starkie
Nicholas Starkie 
Debra Sullivan 

20 Year Service Badges 
Rosalie Broadfood 
Maree Harrison 
Kathryn Sypott 

25 Year Service Badges 
Russell Armstrong 
Glenise Benson
Nancy Jones 
Jan Nicolson 

30 Year Service Badges 
Lyn Christie 
Jennifer Kearney 
John Kearney
Lorraine Northcote 
Liza Watt 

35 Years Service Badges 
Jean Killeen
Craig McAllister
Pat O’Beirne 
Madonna Spong 
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Corporate Services Overview
Corporate Services comprises departments 
staffed by people with a wide-range of skills 
and expertise in business analysis, budget and 
finance, food, environmental services, linen, 
human resources, information communications 
and technology, library and supply and 
maintenance services.  These departments 
support direct patient care and ensure WDHS 
functions effectively and efficiently. The 
Division employs 105 people (82.2 EFT) and has 
an annual budget of $11.3 million.
The Division participates in management 
decision-making for the entire organisation; 
in particular the interpretation of government 
policy, the implementation of changes required 
for compliance with statutory obligations and 
the management of resources necessary for 
the delivery of clinical and aged-care services.

Sub Regional Progress 
Alliances and Partnerships
The key direction set out in the WDHS 
Strategic Plan is the development of alliances 
and partnerships to leverage the delivery of 
Corporate Support Services of the highest quality 
in the most efficient and sustainable way. This 
strategic direction has been reinforced with the 
initiation of a number of state-wide projects and 
programs designed to improve sustainability and 
service quality across the sector and provide the 
opportunity for WDHS to participate in broader 
initiatives and new alliances and partnerships.

SWARH Alliance
As a member of the SWARH ICT Alliance 
WDHS staff take an active role in the 
governance of the joint venture and the 
support of all specialist sub-committees. 

Technology Upgrade and Refresh
The significant increase in the use of electronic 
patient records, complexity of communication 
systems and demand for access to the internet, 
information systems and remote technology, 
increase the challenges in providing ICT services 
and infrastructure that are robust, reliable, 
secure and responsive. During the year a 
significant technology refresh was undertaken to 
enhance network service reliability, redundancy 
and performance as part of the SWARH 
Infrastructure Strategy. Major components of 
this upgrade included:

 y Upgrade of the Geelong and Warrnambool 
data centres and increase of the WAN link 
between the two centres to 10GB (Dec).

 y Completion of a dual internet feed to 
create full redundancy (Dec 2014).

 y Upgrade of wireless network controller 
infrastructure (Feb 2015).

 y Upgrade of Call Manager (Telephony) and 
videoconferencing (March 2015).

Sub-Regional Corporate Services
The Sub-Regional Corporate Services 
initiative across the Glenelg and Southern 
Grampians planning area has continued with a 
representative steering committee meeting on a 
bi-monthly basis, identifying new opportunities 
for cooperative initiatives. 
The Sub-Regional initiative has developed an 
effective resource sharing arrangement among 
member agencies to provide relief for periods 
of leave and resources on a fee for service 
basis in areas of finance, business support & 
innovation, human resources, payroll, supply 
and engineering services. The group has also 
demonstrated a growing capacity for the 
coordination of resources to develop business 
opportunities, reduce compliance costs and 
implement common organisational changes.

Key activities undertaken in this 
collaborative over the past year include:

 y Participation in the DHHS – Small Rural 
Health Services Funding Review active 
participation in the External Reference Group 
(final draft report released in June 2015).

 y Establishment of a Sub-Regional Internal 
Audit Program – RSM Bird Cameron 
appointed as independent Internal Audit 
provider for all agencies including South 
West Healthcare and Moyne Health.

 y Establishment of a Regional Intravenous 
Therapy Solution.

 y Continuation of Steering Committee 
to coordinate implementation of 
Commonwealth Aged Care Reforms.

 y Establishment of an evidence portal to 
support agencies with Aged Care site visits 
and Accreditation under the new National 
Standards.

 y Heywood Rural Health transition to new 
Executive Management structure including 
establishment of Corporate Services Sub-
regional Support Model.

 y Commencement of Sub-Regional 
Sustainable Medical Workforce Planning 
project.

Priorities for the coming year include 
completion of the Sustainable Medical 
Workforce project, the development of 
a formal sub-regional corporate services 
strategy document to inform future 
developments and planning for changes 
associated with the new Small Rural Health 
Services Funding Model to be introduced in 
2016/17.

7,533
MAINTENANCE REQUESTS 

WERE ACTIONED

218,788
MEALS WERE PREPARED BY 

FOOD SERVICES

16.8% 
REDUCTION IN WATER 

USAGE ATTAINED

100%
FOOD SAFETY AUDIT 

COMPLIANCE ACHIEVED 

 Corporate Support Services
Hotel Services, Infrastructure, Business and Systems Support

IN 2014 / 15
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Business Support and 
Innovation Projects 
Corporate Services leads change management 
across the organisation and the sub-region by 
assisting with process improvements including 
planning, organising and managing resources 
to bring about successful completion of 
projects that impact across the organisation. 
WDHS continues to be actively involved in the 
Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS) Redesigning Hospital Care Program. 
WDHS is represented on the Redesign 
Lead Sub-Committee and participates in 
an annual ‘Tollgate Review’ undertaken by 
the DHHS. Redesign projects in the current 
year predominantly involved the redesign of 
pathways, workflows and care coordination 
associated with the implementation of the 
TrakCare Community system.
Other significant change projects during the 
year include:

Central Supply Model for South-West 
Victoria
In July 2014, the Central Supply Model was 
commenced with all Oracle sites in the 
Barwon South West Region adopting the 
centralised supply and procurement model. 
The transition from four warehouses to a 
single central warehouse in Warrnambool 
was completed in April 2015. This significant 
reform initiative delivers the following:

 y Single central warehouse to service the 
region replacing four separate warehouses.

 y Improved purchasing power and improved 
logistics.

 y Extension of local agency imprest systems 
to include clinical areas such as Operating 
Theatres, Emergency Departments and 
Ward areas.

 y Reduction of clinical time required to 
support procurement process.

 y Recurrent savings of $400K per annum 
across all agencies. 

 y Procurement reform.
On 26 June 2014 Health Purchasing Victoria 
(HPV) gazetted the new Health Purchasing 
Policies (HPP) to meet its legislative 
responsibilities to:

 y Develop, implement and review policies 
and practices to promote best value and 
probity.

 y Ensure that probity is maintained in 
purchasing, tendering and contracting 
activities within public hospitals and health 
services.

Health services have until June 2016 to 
implement the new policy framework. 
WDHS is participating in a coordinated 
approach across the region with a formal 

implementation program adopted, dedicated 
resources assigned and progress managed 
and monitored by a Steering Committee. 
Revised policies and procedures have been 
developed and probity training programs have 
been rolled out across agencies supported by 
Health Purchasing Victoria.

WDHS – ICT Strategy 2015-2020
In June 2015 the Western District Health 
Service ICT Strategy was adopted and 
endorsed by the Board. The strategy was 
developed in conjunction with SWARH in 
accordance with strategic initiatives outlined 
in the Statewide Health ICT Strategic 
Framework (Jan 2015) and the guidance, 
best practice principles, methodologies and 
standards of the Health Design Authority.
The 5 Year strategy identifies priority strategic 
initiatives including:

 y Enabling consumer access to health 
information and tools.

 y Delivering summary of care documents 
(including eDischarge and eReferral).

 y Supporting clinicians by improved clinical 
decision support.

 y Support of high quality teaching and 
research. 

 y Delivering business intelligence capabilities.
 y Delivery of mandatory infrastructure.
 y Ensuring systems are robust, reliable, 

secure and current.

CAMMS – Knowledge Management 
System
The implementation of organisational 
management plans onto the CAMMS 
Knowledge Management System was 
completed in March 2015. This system 
integrates all organisational plans into a 
consolidated database, enabling concise 
multi-dimensional visualisation of all 
organisational KPI’s and actions. This initiative 
has significantly enhanced reporting against 
all strategies including the Statement of 
Priorities, Board Action Plan, National 
Standards, and Aged Care Accreditation 
Framework.
Improvements achieved include:

 y Saving of 30% in time and effort of 
Executive team and support required to 
search for and develop reports. 

 y Elimination of any time lag to produce 
reports – now available in real time.

 y All reports provide visualisation of 
organisational performance and drill down 
capability. 

 y Alignment of business plans to Strategic 
Plan is significantly enhanced.

Hotel Services
Hotel Services includes responsibility for food, 
environmental, linen and gardens/grounds, as 
well as contracted services for security, pest 
control, chemicals and general/prescribed 
waste. Achievements and highlights during the 
year included:

 y 100% compliance with external food safety 
audit (January 2015). 

 y New Food Safety Plans commissioned 
for all WDHS kitchens; these have been 
approved by our DHHS external auditor 
and are now in full operation.

 y Annual external cleaning audit score of 
98.1% (Aug 2014) the relevant benchmark 
target is 90%. This audit was undertaken by 
an external DoH approved auditor.

Facilities Management 
Facilities Management provides the ongoing 
maintenance of physical facilities to ensure 
they are reliable, safe and comply with 
relevant standards. The significant investment 
in infrastructure requires a long-term 
planning approach, which includes major 
redevelopment and refurbishment and 
the maintenance of essential plant at all 
campuses. After an extended period of five 
years involving substantial capital works and 
infrastructure upgrades the Capital Program 
for 2014/15 was substantially reduced. In 
response to the reduction in the Capital 
Program a review of the Facilities Department 
was completed in February 2015, resulting 
in a reduction of 2.0 EFT, achieved through 
natural attrition.
Significant capital works and upgrades during 
the year include:

 y Completion of the installation of fire 
sprinkler protection to the first floor, 
Hamilton Base Hospital acute building. 
Fire sprinkler protection is now provided 
to all bed based services at the Hamilton 
Base Hospital site. The total cost of the 
multiyear project was $1.2million.

 y Charity House construction completed in 
September.

 y A $282,000 upgrade to Operating Theatre 
endoscopy equipment, and the installation 
of a new boom was completed in May, 
funded by Charity House proceeds. 

 y Car park works at the Frances Hewett 
Community Centre and Allied Health were 
completed at a cost of $25,000.

Corporate Support Services
Hotel Services, Infrastructure, Business and Systems Support
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Sustainable Energy – Carbon and Water 
Performance  
WDHS adopted an Environmental 
Management Plan in June 2014 with the 
following objectives:

 y Management of water, energy 
consumption and waste generation.

 y Preference for procurement of sustainable 
products and services.

 y Integration of environmental assessments 
into key decision making processes.

The initial public report against the 
management plan was completed in 
December 2014 and is available on the 
website: www.wdhs.net.

Risk Management
WDHS maintains an organisation wide 
risk register which is reviewed at least six 
monthly by the Board of Directors. Regular 
risk assessments are conducted and a 
comprehensive incident reporting system is 
integrated into the risk register with incidents 
reported regularly through the Quality 
Improvement Committee (QIC) to the Board. 
The WDHS Business Continuity and External 
Emergency Preparedness Plans and other 
emergency protocols are regularly reviewed 
and updated. A regular risk assessment is 
undertaken by our insurer VMIA and the Audit 
and Compliance Committee has an active 
annual program undertaken in accordance 
with the Internal Audit Strategy.

Code Grey Emergency Response 
In March 2015, a “Code Grey” Emergency 
Procedure was introduced across all WDHS 
sites. This new procedure responds to 
situations of Unarmed Personal Threat 
involving actual or potential aggression 
or violence. The implementation of a 
standardised response was a recommendation 
of the 2012 inquiry into Violence & Security 
Arrangements in Victorian Public Hospitals.

Critical Infrastructure
The Health Service was advised during the 
year that applications to the Victorian Local 
Infrastructure Assistance Fund for emergency 
generators at Penshurst and the Grange 
Residential Services sites were successful. 
Tender processes have been completed, 
contracts have been signed and it is expected 
the new emergency generators will be 
commissioned in October 2015.  Emergency 
power at Penshurst and the Grange had been 
identified as the highest infrastructure priority.
Current Infrastructure works and equipment 
identified as priorities include:

 y Replacement of Hamilton Base Hospital 
Nursecall System - $320,000.

 y Lightning Protection for buildings at HBH 
site  - $160,000.

 y Removal of asbestos at HBH Site  - 
$250,000. 

Audit Committee
The Audit & Compliance Committee continues 
to monitor the adequacy of risk management, 
accounting procedures, financial reporting and 
compliance with statutory requirements. The 
internal audit program is undertaken by RSM 
Bird Cameron independent internal auditors 
contracted by the WDHS Board. Activities 
undertaken by the internal auditors and the 
Auditor General agent for the period of July 
2014 to June 2015 that required governance 
from the Audit & Compliance Committee 
included:

 y Audit Committee Approval of WDHS 
2013/2014 Annual Finance Statements.

 y Audit Committee Approval for 
appropriation to reserves for 2013/2014.

 y Audit Committee Approval for Risk 
Management Attestation.

 y Audit Committee Approval of 2014/2015 
Operating Budget Assumptions & 
Parameters.

 y Internal Audit Project – Chronic Disease 
Management Program.

Corporate Support Services
Hotel Services, Infrastructure, Business and Systems Support

 R Facilities Manager, Trevor Wathen and Deputy Faciltiies Manager Robbie Cook take members 
of the Rotary Club of Hamilton North on a behind the scenes tour of WDHS infrastructure

 R Food Services, Keith McCrae working in the 
HBH kitchen
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Our Community Partnerships

Community Liaison Overview
WDHS has an excellent relationship with its 
community and the WDHS Community Liaison 
Department works to develop and foster its 
many community partnerships. Community 
Liaison promotes new WDHS programs and 
services, coordinates fundraising events and 
initiatives, supports its many volunteers and 
represents WDHS at community events.  
The small team also works to maintain 
a professional and positive image of the 
organisation through media and publications 
including the Annual Report, brochures, 
biannual newsletters, Facebook and the WDHS 
website.

Fundraising Strategy
Fundraising at WDHS is conducted in accordance 
with the Fundraising Appeals Act 1998 and 
the Fundraising Institute of Australia Ethical 
Codes of Fundraising. The fundraising strategy 
of the Health Service is guided by the WDHS 
Development Council; an eleven-member 
committee of community representatives, WDHS 
Board members and staff. The Community 
Liaison Department manages the overall 
fundraising strategy on behalf of WDHS. 
In addition to fundraising events, functions and 
appeals the department submits applications to 
philanthropic trusts and foundations to support 
the Health Service’s fundraising efforts. 
WDHS received bequests totalling $67,908 for 
the year and grants from trusts and foundations 
totalling $53,150.
A total of $824k was raised through all 
fundraising activities in 2014/15. 

Fundraising Events & Projects
Watermark Charity House       
Auctioned for $881,000 in November 2014, 
the Watermark Charity House project raised 
$600,000 for medical equipment upgrades in 
acute areas of the HBH. $220,000 was allocated 
to the digital upgrade of Theatre 1 and 2 in May. 

Op Shop Golf Tournament
In its fifth year, the WDHS Op Shop Golf 
Tournament raised $13,700 to purchase lift 
chairs for the HBH Day Procedure Unit. Around 
120 golfers enjoyed a day on the greens at the 
Hamilton Golf Course and battled it out in the 
Ambrose Stableford competition. Since the first 
tee off in 2009, this popular golfing fundraiser 
has generated in excess of $70,000 for WDHS.

Vitality Fun Run
Hamilton’s first marathon was the feature event 
of the 7th Annual Vitality Fun Run.  Over 300 
participants took part in the event in November, 
raising $7,000 for Theatre equipment at HBH.

Cocktails in the Courtyard
A new fundraiser aimed at increasing the use 
of the Handbury Courtyard at HBH was held in 
February. Over 120 people enjoyed a perfect 
summers evening and over $5,000 was raised to 
purchase a reminiscence pod for The Birches.

Murray to Moyne Cycle Relay
The annual Murray to Moyne Cycle Relay was 
held in March and the Hamilton Base Bikers team 
of 13 riders took up the challenge to ride from 
Mildura to Port Fairy. The team raised $14,570 
for Allied Health equipment purchases. The 
Penshurst team of nine riders and five support 
crew also raised a total of $5,500 for Penshurst 
District Health Service (PDHS).

$600k
RAISED THROUGH THE CHARITY 

HOUSE PROJECT 

42km
WDHS HELPED STAGE HAMILTON’S 
FIRST MARATHON AS PART OF THE 

VITALITY FUN RUN EVENT

187,539
TOTAL KMS WERE DRIVEN BY 

COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
VOLUNTEERS

292 VOLUNTEERS PUT UP 
THEIR HANDS TO SUPPORT 

WDHS SERVICES, PROGRAMS                        
AND EVENTS

 R The Hon Dan Tehan MP presents a Member of Parliament Volunteer Award to WDHS 
volunteer, Joan Lewis, accompanied by Volunteer Coordinator, Jeanette Ryan

IN 2014 / 15
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Friday Night Drive In
In April 2015, over 120 vehicles packed 
the Monivae College Oval for the Friday 
Night Drive In. The Drive In raised $4,000 to 
purchase rehab equipment for the recently 
constructed Sub-acute Gymnasium. 

Appeals
Christmas Appeal 
The Annual Christmas Appeal raised $10,000 
in 2014/15. The funds were directed to the 
Day Procedure area for the purchase of new 
recliner chairs.

WDHS Door Knock Appeal
Over 120 volunteers door knocked for the 
Hospital in June. They visited homes in Hamilton, 
Penshurst, Branxholme, Dunkeld and surrounding 
rural districts and a mail-out was also conducted 
in several rural areas.  The Appeal tally reached 
$51,637 for the purchase of two anaesthetic 
monitors for Theatre and Intensive Care. The 
funds collected in Penshurst, totalled $8,518 and 
were directed to the Penshurst Campus.

Donors and Supporters
Many community groups and individuals 
gave WDHS substantial financial and in-kind 
support throughout the year.
Darriwill Farm’s Jacinta and John Hedley 
continued their generous support of the 
Employee of the Month Program and Alexandra 
House sponsored the Volunteer of the Month 
Award. James Dean Pharmacy provided gift 
packs for families with new babies to private 
patients in Midwifery and IGA Hamilton 
contributed to WDHS through the Community 
Benefits Scheme. 

Contributions over $3,000

Our generous donors and supporters make it 
possible for WDHS to purchase much-needed 
equipment and refurbish facilities to meet the 
needs of patients and clients.
We sincerely thank all those who contributed, 
financially or in-kind in the 2014/15 year. A list of 
donors contributing $100 or more is shown on 
page 31, and a list of Watermark Charity House 
supporters can be found on page 76.

Auxiliaries and Community Groups
WDHS is very grateful for the continued support of 
its hard working auxiliaries.
The five auxiliary groups, Hamilton Base Hospital 
Opportunity Shop and Hamilton & District Aged 
Care Trust again contributed substantially to support 
the Health Service. The North Hamilton Ladies’ 
Auxiliary purchased a tilt table for the Rehab Unit at 
HBH with their annual donation of $4,500. 
The Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies’ Auxiliary 

purchased a 45 degree telescope for Theatre at a 
cost of $4,500. 
The Birches Auxiliary purchased a projector 
screen and TV and assisted with the promotion 
and enhancement of the facility. 
The Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust 
assisted with applications to trusts and 
foundations for much needed equipment and 
donated $22,140 to the Birches. The Trust 
also supported a successful application to the 
Marian and EH Flack Trust for $12,500.
The Coleraine District Health Service Ladies’ 
Auxiliary raised $1,300 for the newly 
redeveloped Coleraine Hospital. The Coleraine  
Homes for the Aged raised $925 and the 
Coleraine Opportunity Shop donated $900 to 
Coleraine District Health Service (CDHS).  

Our Community Partnerships

Birches Auxiliary $4,407

Coleraine Pedal Car Rally $9,000

Collier Charitable Fund $30,000

The Estate of Rachel Dempster $49,515

FRRR $3,000

Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust $22,140

Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies Auxiliary $4,500

Dr Geoff Handbury AO $110,000

Hospital Opportunity Shop $13,000

The Estate of Cora Linke $$10,000

Marian and EH Flack Trust $12,500

Midfield Meats $10,000

North Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies Auxiliary $4,500

Sandy O'Brien $148,050

Estate of Gordon David Robinson $3,000

Rotary Club of Hamilton North $7,500

Estate of Bryan Henry Rowe $3,000

South West Community Foundation $3,300

Western District Ball Committee $11,500

 R Ann Hague and Kate Coote doing the raffle 
rounds at the 2015 Drive In

Donations and Bequests - 2015

Bequests (8%) Auxiliaries (6%) Trusts & Foundations  (6%) Donations & Fundraising (80%)

$67,908 $47,265 $53,150

$655,738
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Opportunity Shop 
The Hamilton Base Hospital Opportunity Shop 
opens five days a week and is staffed by up 
to four volunteers each day. The Op Shop 
donated $8,000 to purchase an Accuvein for 
the Emergency Department and supported the 
Golf Tournament with $5,000 in sponsorship.   

Volunteers
WDHS has 292 registered, unpaid volunteers, 
excluding auxiliary members, who donate 
their time and skills to support patients, 
residents and clients. Volunteers are recruited 
through an interview process managed by the 
Volunteer Coordinator to determine where 
their skills, experience and interests are best 
utilised. All volunteers undergo a police check 
and a comprehensive orientation program 
before commencing service.
The Health Service relies heavily on the 
support of its volunteers and acknowledges 
and appreciates their dedication and tireless 
contribution to improving the lives of patients, 
clients and residents. 

Volunteer Program Hours 2014/15
 y Hamilton Community Transport: 46 

volunteers / 3,438 hours
 y Buddy 4 You: 1 volunteer / 13 hours 

(service cancelled April 2015)
 y Hospital Opportunity Shop:17 volunteers / 

5,628 hours
 y Comforts Trolley: 10 volunteers / 450 hours  
 y Hospital Door Knock Appeal: 120 

volunteers / 250 hours
 y Golf Tournament: 15 volunteers / 120 

hours
 y Vitality Fun Run: 30 volunteers 
 y Hospital Harmonies Choir: 26 hours
 y The Grange: 15 volunteers / 853 hours
 y The Birches: 17 volunteers / 486 hours 
 y Meal Buddies: (new program commenced 

May 2015) 5 volunteers / 49 hours
 y Palliative Care: 10 volunteers / 125 hours
 y Penshurst District Health Service: 6 

volunteers / 648 hours 
 y Ward Volunteers: 7 volunteers 1,075 hours
 y Delta Dogs: 2 volunteers / 119 hours
 y PAGS: 13 volunteers provided / 1,537hours

 y Community Liaison support: 50hours 

 y Coleraine: Wannon Court & Mackie House 
10 volunteers / 647hrs, PAGS 4 volunteers 
/ 794 hours, Community Transport /1,188 
hours, Merino /668 hours

Volunteering Awards
A Member of Parliament Volunteer Award 
was presented to Joan Lewis for her services 
to WDHS Aged Care. The Watermark Charity 

House project Committee and Volunteers 
were recipients of several awards during the 
year. These included a Member of Parliament 
Volunteer Award, Australia Day Award and a 
Minister for Health Outstanding Achievement 
for a Volunteer - Innovation Award. The project 
also reached the top three in the Community 
Group of the Year category at the Prime 
7 Regional Achievement  and Community 
Awards in Melbourne.

2015 Life Governors

 R Op Shop Volunteers, Wendy Fox, Pat Harris, Margaret Burgin and Julie Waldron celebrating 
National Op Shop Week

Our Community Partnerships

The Charlie Watt Volunteer of the 
Month Award was presented to the 
following volunteers in recognition of 
their support and loyalty:
July  
Aileen Broadbent, The Birches
August  
Myra Pohl, Penshurst Campus
September  
Peter & Jean Humphries, PAG
October  
Joan Taggart, Hospital Opportunity Shop
November  
Steve Sykes, Coleraine Campus
December  
Thelma Wombwell, Coleraine Community 
Transport
January  
Louise Emsley, Palliative Care fundraising
February 
Dr Elizabeth Arthur, Honorary Medical 
Historian
March  
Cheryl King, HBH Ward / PAG 
April  
Heather Wilkinson, The Grange
May 
Rose Howard,  HBH Ward / PAG / Community 
Transport
June 
Chris Phillips, Community Advisory 
Committee 

Bazter CJ 
Beggs HN 
Boyle J 
Broers M 
Brumby A 
Bunge B 
Burgin E 
Clifforth S 
Dean J 
Duff S 
Edmonds J 
Fleming JD 
Fletcher J 
Ford D 
Fraser T 
Gardiner PD
Gaussen D 
Gubbins J 
Gumley F PSM 
Gurry AJ 
Handbury G AO 
Heazlewood P 
Hickleton E 
Holmes ES 
Hope M OAM 
Hutton T 
Kanoniuk M 
Kelsh J 
Kruger N 
Langley C 
Lawson V 
Linke N 
Lyon E 
McLean M 
Morrison HM 

Murray EM 
Northcott J 
Rabone M 
Rensch T 
Robertson M 
Ross J 
Runciman P 
Ryan D 
Scaife C 
Scaife S 
Scullion E 
Templeton H 
Thornton A 
Turnbull P 
Turner J 
Walker O 
Wallis V 
Walter R AM 
Wettenhall HM 
Wettenhall M 
Wraith L
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Mrs S Adams
Mrs Jill Aitken
Alexandra House
Mr Richard Alexander
Mr Rex Astbury
Australian Pedal Car Grand Prix
Mrs Alida Aylmer
Mr John Bade
Mr  Anthony Bagnall
Mr & Mrs Kevin & Fran Barber
Mrs Jean Barnes
Ms Suzanne Barrow
Mr & Mrs WR Beggs
Birches Auxiliary
Mrs Isobel Boyd
Mr & Mrs K & E Brennan
Mr & Mrs Cliff & Cheryl Brinkmann
Miss E Britten
Miss P Britten
Mr David Brooks
Mr & Mrs Tom & Coral Brooks
Mr  Grenville Burger
Mrs June Burrows
Mr & Mrs Henry Cameron
Mrs L Cameron
Mrs Megan Campbell
Mr Richard Canapini
Mr & Mrs Thomas & Helen Cherry
Ms Rita Chinn
Mr & Mrs Nick & Dawn Claydon
Mr & Mrs Ian & Sandra Colclough
Coleraine Bowling Club
Coleraine District Health Services Auxiliary
Coleraine Opportunity Shop
Mr & Mrs Don & Lois Collins
Commercial Hotel Social Club
Mr & Mrs David & Kate Coote
Mr Drew Coote
Mr Brian Cordy
Mr Max Coustley
Mr John Coyle
Dairy Australia
Department of Environment, Land and Water
DEPI Hamilton
Mr & Mrs P & L Deutscher
Devondale Murray Goulburn
Ms Annie DeVries
DLA Piper
Mrs Barbara Dohle
Mr KJ Doyle
Mrs Kath Dunbar
Ms Leanne Dyke
Mr & Mrs M Egan
Mr & Mrs Murray & Elizabeth Elliot
K Elliott
Mr & Mrs John & Elizabeth Ellis
Mrs Louise Emsley
Mr & Mrs A & JH Falconer
Mr & Mrs WD & AM Ferguson
Fishers IGA Stores
Mr & Mrs N Fitzgerald
Mr & Mrs Jim & Brenda Fletcher
Mr & Mrs Rob & Caroline Gardiner
Mr & Mrs David Garfoot
Misses Eleanor & Helen Gartner
Mr & Mrs Gary & Robyn Gebert

GJ Gardner Homes
Mr & Mrs A & RE Gledhill
Mr & Mrs RJ Gordon
Mr & Mrs J & M Gough
Mr Scott Grant
Ms Jackie Greed
Hamilton & District Aged Care Trust
Hamilton & Districts Stock Agents Association
Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies Auxiliary
Hamilton Farm Supplies
Dr Geoff Handbury AO
Mr & Mrs RV Harmann
Mrs Margaret Herd
Ms Molly Herrmann
Mr & Mrs Merv & Pat Hill
Ms Anne Hindson
Mr & Mrs C & S Hines
Mr Ted Holmes
Mr Paul Horton
Hospital Opportunity Shop
Mr & Mrs RD & KE Huf
Mr & Mrs Peter & Jean Humphries
Hunts Auto Spares
Mr & Mrs Tim & Jen Hutton
Mr & Mrs R & L Irvine
Mr Herman Jansen
Mr & Mrs T & E Jolly
Mrs Vivienne Jones
Mr & Mrs Phil & Enid Jost
Mr Kelvin Kawau
Mr & Mrs John & Heather Kelsall
Mrs Hilary King
Mr & Mrs Bill & Jenni Kinnealy
Mrs P Koenders
Kyocera Document Solutions Pty Ltd
Mr & Mrs J Lawson
Mr & Mrs Henry & Phyllis Leech
Mr Gavin Leech
Mr & Mrs MA Leeming
Mr Brian Lewis 
Mrs Joan Lewis
Mr & Mrs PW & PL Lewis
Mrs Glenys Leyonhjelm
Mr & Mrs Ian & Robyn Linke
Mr Neville Linke
Mr & Mrs J Lyons
Mr & Mrs Hugh & Jane Macdonald
Mr & Mrs Ian & Heather Macgugan
Mr & Mrs Rod & Elizabeth Macgugan
Mr & Mrs HH & S Mackinnon
Mr & Mrs Neil & Heather MacLean
Mr & Mrs Edwin & Marigols MacLean
Ms Elizabeth Mathews
Mr Craig McAllister
Ms Jillian McDonald
Mr & Mrs Don & Shirley McFarlane
Mr Dean McLaren
Mr P McLean
Mrs  P McLeod
Mr Fraser McKenzie
Mr Michael McKinnon
Medical History Society
Midfield Meats
Mrs M Moore
Ms Julie Morice
Mrs G Muir

Dr & Mrs U & U Naidoo

Mr   Roger Napier

Mr Peter Nicolson

Mr & Mrs Malcolm & Jenny Nicolson

Mrs Margaret Nolte

North Hamilton Base Hospital Ladies Auxiliary

Notrom Partnership

Mr Sandy O’Brien

Mr & Mrs Tim & Lyn O’Brien

Ms Pauline Oliver-Snell

Mr & Mrs B & B Page

Mr & Mrs Jack & Donna Parfrey

Ms Jan Pearse

Penshurst Hotel Patrons

Penshurst Opportunity Shop

Mrs B Pepper

Pigeon Ponds Sports Social Club Inc

Ms Elizabeth Prior

Mr & Mrs Adrien & Jeanette Quinn

Mr Max  Rees

Mr & Mrs John & Annette Rentsch

Mr & Mrs Trevor & Gwen Rentsch

Mr Dion Rhook

Mr HF Richardson

Mr & Mrs J & C Roads

A Robinson

Mr Russell Robinson

Rotary Club of Hamilton

Rotary Club of Hamilton North

Mr P Row

Dr Robert Scaife

Ms Lesley Schneider

Mr & Mrs Mervyn & Rosalie Schultz

Ms Leonie Sharrock

Mrs Elaine Smith

Mrs Nancy Smooker

Mr Ron Sommerville

Stanich Partnership

Mrs Elizabeth Staude

Mr Laurie Stevens

Mr & Mrs Dean & Joy Surkit

Ms Anna Sweeney

Ms Leila Sweeney

Tarrington Senior Citizens Centre Inc

Tarrington Women’s Guild

Mrs Margaret Taylor

Tintaen Partnership

Mr & Mrs Peter Tung

Mr & Mrs Mark & Mandy Uebergang

Mr & Mrs Jeremy & Jenny Upton

Victorian Federation

Virbac

Vitality Health & Fitness

Mr & Mrs Allan & Rita Walkom

Mr  Craig Wallis

Mr Anthony Walsh

Mr & Mrs John & Beryl Watson

Mr & Mrs J & J Watt

Mr & Mrs Peter & Maree West 

Western District Ball Committee

Wettenhall Family

Ms Lorraine Wilson

Mr & Mrs Peter & Lindy Young

Gifts Over $100
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Board Structure, Role and 
Responsibilities  
BOD terms of appointment are usually two to 
three years, with one third of terms expiring 
in June each year. Members are eligible for 
reappointment.
BOD members serve in a voluntary capacity. 
The balance of skills and experience within the 
BOD is kept under continual review. The BOD 
orientation and evaluation process introduced 
in 2003 was continued during 2014-15 and 
has assisted significantly in evaluating the 
effectiveness and performance of the Board 
Chair, individual Directors and the Board as 
a team. All current Board Members have 
undertaken additional governance training.
The BOD is responsible for the governance 
and strategic direction of the Service and 
is committed to ensuring that the services 
WDHS provides comply with their legislative 
requirements and the Objectives, Mission and 
Vision of the Service, within the resources 
provided. In the course of their duties, the 
BOD and Executive may seek independent 
advice from a range of sources. The BOD 
reviews operating information monthly in 
order to continually assess the performance 
of WDHS against its objectives and is also 
responsible for appointing and evaluating the 
performance of the Chief Executive. In order 
to ensure the effective operation of the BOD, 
the Board has membership on 10 committees, 
which meet as required and report back to 
the BOD.

Board of Directors
Mary-Ann Brown    
BEcs(Tas),GradDipLibSc(KCAE),
MBA (Newcastle)

Mary-Ann lives on a 
farm at Dunkeld and 
is the principal of 
Mary-Ann Brown & 
Associates, an insurance 
services business.  She 
is Chairperson of the 
Dunkeld Community 
Centre Committee and 

President of the Dunkeld Progress Association. 
She is also a member of the Performing 
Arts Centre Advisory Committee and is a 
Dunkeld Visitor Information Centre volunteer.  
Appointed to the WDHS Board in November 
2002, Mary-Ann retired on 30 June 2015.

Jenny Hutton 
BEd    

Jen is Director of 
Community Relations 
and Development at The 
Hamilton and Alexandra 
College. She is an 
active fundraiser in the 
community having been 
involved recently in the 
Grange, Charity House 

and Mulleraterong fundraising appeals. 
She is a fellow of Educateplus (Network of 
Advancement Professionals in Education) and 
was the regional representative of the Vic /
Tas Executive Committee from 2006-2012. 
Appointed to the WDHS Board in November 
2002, current term expires 30 June 2018.

Hugh Macdonald 
BBacc  

Hugh has worked in the 
finance industry since 
1982. He is Relationship 
Manager for the Rural 
Bank in Western Victoria 
and also runs a farming 
enterprise near Hamilton. 
Hugh is a Director of The 
Hamilton and Alexandra 

College Foundation, a trustee for The 
Hamilton and Alexandra College Old Collegians 
and has been a National Centre for Farmer 
Health Board Member since its inception. 
He is a past President of the Hamilton 
Racing Club, and Hamilton Junior Basketball 
Association. He chaired the fundraising 
committee for the Hamilton Indoor Leisure 
and Aquatic Centre and the WDHS Charity 
House Committee. Appointed to the WDHS 
Board in November 2006, current term 
expires 30 June 2018.

Mark McGinnity 
BA (Behav Sc), Dip Teach (Science), Dip Rel Ed, 
M Ed (Teach & Curric), MACE, MACEL.     

Mark is the Principal of 
Monivae College and a 
member of the College’s 
Board of Directors.  He 
is Chair of the Advisory 
Committee for the 
Hamilton District Skills 
Centre and is a member 
of the Parish Pastoral 

Council of St Mary’s Parish Hamilton. Mark is 
also a member of the Association of Heads 

of the Independent Schools of Australia and 
the Principals’ Association of the Victorian 
Catholic Secondary Schools. Appointed to the 
Board in July 2011, current term expires 30 
June 2017.

Ian Whiting    
Ian is Managing Director 
of Bassett Estate Pty Ltd 
and is a Director of Club 
Solutions Australia Pty 
Ltd, Charity Bid Pty Ltd 
and Clubbid.com.au. Ian is 
President of the Morven 
CFA Rural Fire Brigade, 
past Chair of the Top of the 

Town Charity Ball 2010 and the Branxholme 
Progress Development Group Fundraising 
Committee. Ian was Deputy Chair of the 
South West Academy of Sport, VCFL Regional 
Manager, South West Border and was Chair of 
the VCFL South West Border Regional Board. 
He is a past President of the Hamilton Junior 
Football League and College Magpies Junior 
Football Club; a past Founding President of 
the Smokey River Land Management Group 
and past Captain of the Morven CFA RFB. 
Appointed to the WDHS Board on 1 July 2011, 
current term expires 30 June 2017.  

Darren Barber 
Master HRM CSU
Cert IV Training & Assessment  (in progress)

Darren is a partner of 
SED Advisory, a regional 
Victorian professional 
services firm. He has 
over 17 years’ experience 
in Human Resource 
Management and 
specialises in regional 
workforce development 

in a business and regional context. Darren 
was born in Hamilton and has been actively 
involved in the community with roles on the 
Gray Street Primary School Council, Show 
Us Your Toys Committee, South West TAFE 
Hamilton Campus Advisory Committee, 
Mitchell Park Kindergarten Committee and has 
also acted as a regional delegate for the VECCI 
Business and Employment Forum.  Appointed 
to the Board in July 2013, current term expires 
30 June 2016.

WDHS was incorporated in July 1998 under The Health Services Act 1988 and is governed by an eight member Board of 
Directors (BOD), appointed by the Governor in Council upon the recommendation of the Minister for Health.



33

Corporate Governance

Caroline Coggins 
B App Sci (Ag), Dip Ed

Caroline holds qualifications 
in Applied Science in 
Agriculture and Education.  
She is the past President of 
the Young Members of the 
Melbourne Cricket Club and 
has held positions including 
General Manager of a 
Cooperative, Consultant and 

Business Advisor and various secondary teaching 
positions.  She is currently on maternity leave 
at Monivae College and runs a mixed farming 
enterprise north of Hamilton with her partner 
David. Appointed to the WDHS Board on 1 July 
2014, current term expires on 30 June 2017.

Peter Besgrove 
BCom, MIR

Peter has held senior 
executive positions 
in a number of global 
organisations as a HR 
business partner.  Peter 
has managed teams of 
HR professionals across a 
number of countries with 
diverse social, industrial 

and legal environments.  He is currently a 
member of the Grampians Tourism Board.
Appointed to the WDHS Board on 1 July 2014, 
current term expires on 30 June 2016.

Governance Statement
“The Board is a strong advocate of corporate 
and clinical governance and seeks to ensure 
that the Health Service fulfils its governance 
obligations and responsibilities to all of its 
stakeholders.”

The Board is committed to:
• sound, transparent corporate governance 

and accountable management
• provision of high quality and innovative 

care, reflective of its Mission and Vision
• conduct that is ethical and consistent with 

the Health Service values and community 
values and standards

• management of risk and protection of 

BOARD MEMBER BOARD 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP AS AT 
30 JUNE 2015

COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Mary-Ann Brown 10 of 11 Audit & Compliance 2 of 5

Medical Appointments Advisory 1 of 1

Medical Consultative 3 of 4

Jenny Hutton 8 of 11 Community Advisory 2 of 3

Development Council 5 of 5

Penshurst Advisory 3 of 4

Hugh Macdonald 9 of 11 Audit & Compliance 4 of 5

Coleraine Advisory 4 of 6

Development Council 3 of 5

Project Control 1 of 1

Mark McGinnity 10 of 11 Medical Appointments Advisory 1 of 1

Quality Improvement 3 of 5

Darren Barber  11 of 11 Community Advisory 3 of 3

Quality Improvement 3 of 5

Project Control 1 of 1

Ian Whiting 9 of 11 Audit & Compliance 4 of 5

Project Control 0 of 1

Caroline Coggins 11 of 11 Development Council 4 of 5

Quality Improvement 3 of 5

Peter Besgrove 8 of 11 Audit & Compliance 3 of 5

Medical Appointments Advisory 0 of 1

Health Service staff, clients and assets
• due diligence in complying with statutory 

requirements, acts, regulations and codes 
of practice

• continuous quality improvement, innovation 
and research

Ethics
Board members are required by the Health 
Services Act, 1988 to act with integrity and 
objectivity at all times. They are required to 
declare any pecuniary interest or conflict of 
interest during Board debate and to withdraw 
from proceedings if necessary.  There were no 
instances requiring declaration this year.
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Executive Role
The members of the Executive Team are 
Chief Executive Officer, Deputy CEO/Director 
of Corporate Services, Director of Medical 
Services, Director of Nursing, Director of Primary 
and Preventative Health, Human Resources 
Manager, Manager / Director of Nursing, 
Coleraine Campus, Manager / Director of 
Nursing, Penshurst Campus, Director, National 
Centre for Farmer Health. The Executive met 25 
times during the year, providing regular reports 
to the BOD.

Risk Management
Risk management is an all of organisation activity 
and requires appropriate action to be taken to 
minimise or eliminate risk that could result in 
personal injury, damage to, or loss of assets. 
Progress with the implementation of the ten 
recommendations of the 2012-2017 Security 
Continuous Improvement Plan also continued, 
with eight recommendations completed and the 
final two being developed for completion across 
the remaining two years of the Plan.
During the year, the final two recommendations 
from our 2013 VMIA site risk survey were 
completed as part of the HBH fire safety upgrade 
works. The next 3 Year VMIA site risk survey is 
expected to be undertaken in early 2016.

Committees of the Board
Audit and Compliance Committee
Advises the BOD on all aspects of internal 
and external audits, financial and asset risk, 
accounting procedures, financial reporting, 
and compliance with statutory requirements. 
Five meetings were held during the year.
Jim Bailey and Michael Fitzpatrick were the 
external Committee representatives. The 
Committee received internal audit reports 
on the financial management compliance 

framework and reviewed the Victorian Auditor 
General’s Office reports and recommendations 
on infection control and occupational health 
and safety risks, recommendations and their 
application to WDHS. The Committee also 
developed and completed a self-assessment 
evaluation to assess the operation and 
performance of the Committee. Five meetings 
were held during the year.

Medical Appointments Advisory 
Committee
Advises the BOD on appointments, 
reappointments, suspensions and 
terminations of visiting medical practitioners. 
One meeting was held during the year.

Medical Consultative Committee
Makes recommendations on matters relating 
to medical staff and clinical services provided, 
and ensures effective communication 
between the Board, Senior Management and 
the Medical Staff Association. Four meetings 
were held during the year.

Quality Improvement (QI) Committee
Provides support and direction for continuous 
quality improvement and performance 
monitoring. Ensures systems are in place for 
internal/external review. Dorothy McLaren was 
the Community Representative until 9 June 
2015. Six meetings were held during the year.

Penshurst (PDHS) Advisory Committee
Reviews the operation, performance and 
strategic planning of the Penshurst campus. 
Community representatives are Don Adamson, 
Lucy Cameron, Margaret Eales, Mary Johnson 
(resigned 2014), Jennifer Kinnealy, Tom 
Nieuwveld, Wendy Williams, Anna Watson, 
Rick Jacobs and WDHS Board Member Jen 
Hutton. Five meetings were held during the 
year.

Development Council
Oversees and guides the WDHS fundraising 
strategy. The Council operates in compliance 
with the Fundraising Appeals Act 1998. Megan 
Campbell, Caroline Coggins, Sharon Donohue, 
Leesa Iredell, Libby Macgugan, Renae Porter 
and Vicki Whyte were the community 
members on the Development Council in 
2014-15. Six meetings were held during the 
year.

Coleraine (CDHS) Management 
Committee
Reviews operation, performance and strategic 
planning for the Coleraine campus. 
Community representatives were Gabrielle 
Baudinette, Kim Chintock, Lesley Kruger, 
Ashley Lambert, Grant Little, John Mc Meekin, 
Alan Millard, Anne Pekin and WDHS Board 
Member, Hugh Macdonald. Six meetings were 
held during the year.

Community Advisory Committee
Provides consumer views and advice to the 
Board on planning, implementation and 
evaluation of health services. 
Rev. Peter Cook, Sherryn Jennings, Dorothy 
McLaren (resigned 2015) Bev Clark and Chris 
Phillips were the community representatives. 
Four meetings were held during the year.

Project Control Committee
Makes recommendations on the design, 
management and construction of major 
building projects. One meeting was held 
during the year.

Remuneration Committee
Oversees and sets remuneration policy 
and practice for Executive staff, under the 
principles of the Government Sector Executive 
Remuneration Panel. No meetings were held 
during the year.

 R Community Advisory Committee 
members, Sherryn Jennings, Chris Phillips                 
and the Rev Peter Cook in the new 
Community Hub
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Chief Executive 
ROHAN FITZGERALD BCom 
Rohan commenced as the Chief Executive in 
August 2014.  He was previously the Chief 
Executive at Stawell Regional Health and has 
held senior management positions at Latrobe 
Regional Hospital and Central Gippsland Health 
Service.  Rohan is also a Health Purchasing 
Victoria Board Member and was previously a 
Latrobe City Councillor. He is passionate about 
rural health and supporting communities to 
receive high quality services close to home.  
Prior to entering the health sector Rohan 
worked as an insolvency accountant. 

Chief Executive Officer 
JIM FLETCHER BHA, AFCHSE, CHE, MIPAA

(retired on 31 July 2014)
Jim commenced as WDHS CEO on 17 July, 
2000.

Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Director 
of Corporate Services
PATRICK TURNBULL BBus, BHA, FCPA 
Patrick has been with Hamilton Base Hospital 
since 1982. He has been the Hospital’s principal 
accounting officer since 1987 and was appointed 
to his current role in 1993. His role includes 
representation of WDHS and rural health 
services in DHHS reference groups including ABF 
Implementation Reference Group and Small Rural 
Health Service Funding Review External Reference 
Group. Financial and business support of patient 
services is managed through the Corporate 
Services Division.  

Director of Nursing 
JANET KELSH RN, ICUCert, BAppSci (NAdmin), 
CertMgt (Deakin), GradDipAgedServicesMgt, 
MRCNA 
(retired February 27 2015) 
Janet commenced her role as Director of 
Nursing at Hamilton Base Hospital in 1987. 
Janet worked predominantly in intensive care 
and neurosurgery in a number of major city 
hospitals across Australia and overseas before 
moving to Hamilton. Janet represented WDHS 
on a number of regional committees including 
regional wound care, regional infection control 
and nurse education through collaborative 
relationships with a number of Universities. 

Acting Director of Nursing 
ANN HAGUE BN, Grad Dip Business (HSM), M 
Business, FACHSM

(from March 16 to June 5 2015)  
Ann Hague was Acting WDHS DON for several 
months on secondment from Barwon Health, 
where she has been Director of Aged Care / 
Divisional Nursing Director Rehabilitation & 
Aged Care, since 2006. Ann was previously 
the Director of Nursing at Colac Area Health. 
During her time at WDHS Ann supported 
management and nursing staff with the 
implementation of a number of key initiatives. 

Acting Director of Nursing 
LORRAINE HEDLEY  

(from June 8 2015) 

Lorraine commenced at Hamilton Base 
Hospital in 1986. She has worked in nursing 
management for the past 10 years and is 

currently the Assistant Director of Nursing 
/ Business Manager at HBH. Lorraine has 
worked in various other roles, including After 
Hours Coordinator, Clinical Nurse Specialist in 
Chemotherapy and in the Medical Unit and 
Emergency Department.

Director of Medical Services  
DR NIC VAN ZYL MB ChB, MMed (CH), MBL, PMP, 
FAFPHM 

Nic is a Public Health Physician and Medical 
Administrator with many years experience 
in public health medicine and medical 
management roles. Nic’s background includes 
working in rural and academic hospitals as a 
specialist in community medicine and medical 
administration and developing and providing 
health management training courses in 
partnership with Universities in South Africa 
and the UK. Nic is a Fellow of the Australasian 
Faculty of Public Health Medicine. 

Director of Primary and Preventative 
Health
ROSIE ROWE BNatRes, MBA, GAICD 

Rosie was appointed Director of PPH in May 
2009. Prior to this appointment, Rosie was 
the Deputy Director of Community Services 
from October 2008 and for five years, the 
Executive Officer of Southern Grampians and 
Glenelg Primary Care Partnership. She has held 
senior positions in both the public and private 
sectors, including in natural resources and 
telecommunications. She was a participant in 
the Department of Health’s 2011 LINK Executive 
Program. Rosie is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and is a Board 
Director of the Great South Coast Medicare Local. 

Human Resources Manager
HILARY KING MBA, Grad Dip HRM, Dip Physio, BA 
(in progress), CAHRI 

Hilary commenced work at WDHS in 
October 2007. Hilary has extensive 
experience in conflict resolution, diversity 
management, mentoring, coaching and 
management development. Hilary worked as 
a Physiotherapist in Australia and overseas 
before moving into management roles within 
both state and federal Government and 
then into senior management roles within 
heavy manufacturing before returning to the 
health industry. Hilary has a keen interest in 
workplace culture and health. She currently 
participates in the state-wide VHIA Payroll 
Consultative Committee and is a mentor 
for both the AHRI and ACHSE mentoring 
programs. 

Executive Team

 R L-R from rear: Executive team members, Hilary King, Katherine Armstrong, Nic van Zyl, Bronwyn Roberts, 
Pat Turnbull, Rohan Fitzgerald, Rosie Rowe, Lorraine Hedley and Associate Professor Susan Brumby
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Coleraine Manager/ Director of Nursing 
TIM PITT-LANCASTER RN BN Cert 
Perioperative Nursing, Grad Dip Nursing Science 

(to June 12 2015)
Tim commenced his role as Coleraine 
Manager / Director of Nursing in July 2005 
and resigned from the role in June 2015. Prior 
to this appointment Tim was the Nurse Unit 
Manager of the Operating Theatre Suite at the 
Mount Gambier and District Health Service, a 
role he filled from 1998 to 2005. During 2005, 
Tim was also the Acting Director of Nursing 
and Patient Services at the Mount Gambier 
Hospital. 

Acting Coleraine Manager/Director of Nursing  
BRONWYN ROBERTS (from June 15 2015) 

Penshurst Manager/Director of Nursing  
BRONWYN ROBERTS RN ICU Cert, Grad Cert Bus 
Admin, MACN 
Bronwyn commenced her role at Penshurst 
in December 2013. Bronwyn has worked at 

WDHS Hamilton Campus and Ballarat Base 
Hospital over the last 28 years and has held 
management positions in Aged Care / ICU / 
Emergency and Projects over the last 20 years. 
Bronwyn’s previous role was Deputy Director 
of Nursing at Hamilton Base Hospital. 

Acting Penshurst Manager/Director of 
Nursing
KATHERINE ARMSTRONG RN, BAppSci (Nursing), 
Grad Cert Bus Admin 
(from June 15 2015)
Katherine commenced her role at Penshurst 
in June 2015. Katherine has worked at the 
Hamilton Campus for the last 24 years in a 
number of positions in Aged Care, including 
Nurse Unit Manager and Aged Care Quality 
Coordinator. Katherine’s most recent position 
is the Assistant Director of Nursing – Aged 
Care (Hamilton Campus). 

Director, National Centre for Farmer 
Health 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR, SUSAN BRUMBY RN, 
RM, DipFMgt, MHM, PhD AFCHSE, MACN, GAICD, 
FARL  

Sue was appointed founding Director of the 
National Centre for Farmer Health in November 
2008 – a partnership between WDHS and Deakin 
University. She leads the implementation of 
key strategies to make a difference to farmer’s 
lives; blending a theoretical and practical 
understanding of agriculture, health and rural 
communities. She is course director for the award 
winning Graduate Certificate in Agricultural 
Health and Medicine, and has successfully led 
numerous research projects on farmer health, 
wellbeing and safety. She has been recognised 
for her contribution to rural health, undertaken 
overseas studies, and presented and published 
nationally and internationally on farmer health. 
She is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, life fellow of the Australian 
Rural Leadership Program and an appointed 
member of the National and State Rural /
Agricultural Advisory Councils. 

Chief Executive

Director of Nursing

Board of Directors

Deputy Chief Executive Director of
Medical Services

Director of Primary
& Preventative Health

Manager Primary
Care Services Unit Manager

Manager Care
Coordination Unit Manager

Coleraine Manager/
Director of Nursing

Manager District
Nursing

Sub Committees

Director
National Centre for 

Farmer Health

• Allied Health Dept Heads
• Preventative Health Teams
• Community Health

• Budget & Finance Manager
• Business Support & 

Innovation Manager
• Deputy Corporate Services 

Manager
• Human Resources Manager
• Facility Manager
• Librarian

• ADON  Aged Care
• ADON Business  Manager
• ADON Clinical Operations
• After Hours Coordinators
• Unit Manager ICU/Medical/ED
• Unit Manager Surgical/Obstetrics/Paediatric
• Unit Manager Theatre/CSSD
• Unit Manager – Birches Aged Care Services
• Unit Manager – Grange Aged Care Services
• Infection Control Clinical Nurse Consultant
• Regional Wound Care Clinical Nurse 

Consultant

• Senior Medical Staff
• Hospital Medical Officers
• Health Information Manager
• Chief Pharmacist
• Quality & Risk Manager

• District Nursing
• Transition Care

• Palliative Care
• HARP
• Care Coordination
• Diabetes

Community Liaison

Penshurst Manager
/Director of Nursing

Executive Officer
Primary Care 
Partnership
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Senior Staff

Chief Executive
Rohan Fitzgerald BCom 

Jim Fletcher BHA, AFCHSE, CHE, 
MIPAA, MAICD

Community Liaison Manager
Steve Laidlaw BLaws, Cert IV 
Training & Assessment 

Penshurst Manager/Director 
of Nursing
Bronwyn Roberts RN, ICU Cert, 
Grad Cert Bus Admin, MACN

Katherine Armstrong RN, BAppSci 
(Nursing), Grad Cert Bus Admin

Penshurst Unit Manager
June Morris RN BSci (Nursing) 

Coleraine Manager / Director 
of Nursing
Tim Pitt-Lancaster RN BN 
Cert Peri-Operative Nursing, 
GradDipNursingSci 

Bronwyn Roberts RN, ICU Cert, 
Grad Cert Bus Admin, MACN
from June 15 2015)

Coleraine Unit Manager
Denise Beaton RN RM

Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer/Director of Corporate 
Services
Patrick Turnbull BBus, BHA, FCPA

Manager Finance & Budget
Nicholas Starkie BBus
DipTS(Bus),GradCertBusAdmin, ASA

Business Support and 
Innovation Manager
Colin Barrie BE

Hotel Services Manager
Peter Davies BA

Human Resources Manager
Hilary King MBA, Grad Dip HR, Dip 
Physio, CAHRI

Facility Manager
Trevor Wathen Dip Frontline Mgt, 
MFAM

Learning and Education Manager
Therese Gerber Post GradDipPsych, 
Cert IV T&A, BAHons 
(Communications), Cert.ProjectMgt 

Librarian
Louise Milne ALIA

NURSING SERVICES
Director of Nursing
Janet Kelsh RN, ICUCert, 
BAppSci(Nadmin), 
CertMgt(Deakin), 
GradDipAgedServMgt, MACN 

Ann Hague BN, Grad Dip Business 
(HSM), M Business, FACHSM

Lorraine Hedley RN, BN, MACN 

ADON Aged Care
Katherine Armstrong BA AppSci 
(Nursing) & Grad Cert BusAdmin

ADON Business Manager
Lorraine Hedley RN, BN, MACN

ADON Clinical Operations
Judy Esson 
RN,RM,BN,CertCritCare,
GradDipHealth Admin

After Hours Coordinators
Leanne Deutscher RN
Linda Donaldson RN, MACN
Dianne Nagorcka RN, RM, Peri-
opCert,BN
Jennifer O’Donnell RN, RPN, 
AdvCertMgt,
AdvCertWorkplace Practice Skills
Dianne Raymond RN
Kathy Ross RN GradDipCriticalCare
Lesley Stewart RN, Sterilisation & 
Infection Control Cert, Post Grad 
Cert Wound Management
Shamim Mahabeer

NURSE MANAGERS

Unit Manager The Birches
Eryn Cottier RN

Hazel Saligari RN BN CertIV TAA

Linda Miller RN, Ba of Applied 
Science (Nursing) Cert 
Management, Dip Business 
Management for Executives, Cert 
IV Workplace Training Assessment  

Unit Manager The Grange
Leanne Donald, B Health Science
(Nursing)

Unit Manager Medical/ICU/ED
Tonia Evans RN

Aisling Cunningham RN 

Unit Manager Surgical/
Obstetrics/Paediatrics

Ruth Ikobe RN, Bachelor of 
Science (Nursing), Master of 
Science in Nursing 

Amber McDonald RN

Unit Manager Theatre/CSSD
Rachal Porter RN Graduate 
Diploma Perioperative Services 

Michelle Walkley, GradDipNursing 
(Perioperative) 

Julianne Schultz RN

Mark Stevenson RN, PeriopCert,
GradCertBusAdmin, Sterilisation 
& Infection Control Cert, 
Accredited Nurse Immuniser 

REGIONAL PROGRAMS
Infection Control
Mark Stevenson RN, PeriopCert,
GradCertBusAdmin, 
Sterilisation&InfectionControl
Cert, Accredited Nurse Immuniser 

Carolyn Templeton RN, 
Sterilisation&InfectionCont
rolCert, CertHIV/HEPCounselling, 
Accredited Nurse
Immuniser

Regional Wound 
Management
Lesley Stewart RN, Sterilisation
&InfectionControlCert, Post Grad 
Cert Wound Management

MEDICAL SERVICES

Director Medical Services
Dr Nic van Zyl MB ChB, MMed 
(CH), MBL, PMP

Quality Manager
Gillian Jenkins RN Master of 
Education (Rsch),
GradCertBusAdmin, MACN, 
Diploma Integrated Risk 
Management 

Chief Pharmacist
Lynette Christie M Pharm, MPS,
GradCertBusAdmin

Chief Health Information 
Manager
 
Sally Graham BAppSci, HIM

SENIOR MEDICAL STAFF

Anaesthetics (Director)
James Muir MBChB, FRCA

Specialist Anaesthetics
Doug Paxton MBBS, FCARSI, 
FANZCA
Michael Shaw MBBS, FANZCA, 
FRCA

Anaesthetists in General 
Practice
Craig deKievit MBBS, DRANZCOG, 
FACRRM
Kim Fielke MBBS, DRANZCOG, DA 
(UK), FRACGP
Stuart Perry MBBS

General Practitioners
Syed Ansari MBBS, FSC
Victoria Blackwell MB, ChB, 
MRCGP, DRCOG, DFFP
Brian Coulson MBBS, FACRRM, 
Dip O&G
Craig deKievit MBBS, DRANZCOG, 
FACRRM
Dale Ford MBBS, FRACGP, 
FACRRM
Allan Mark Johnson MBBS(HON)
Robey Joyce MB, ChB (Pretoria)
Andrew McAllan MBBS, MMed 
(Ophth) FRACGP
Stuart Perry MBBS BMBS, 
FRACGP, DCH,
BSc(Biomedical),JCC Anaesthesia
Greta Prozesky MB, ChB, FRACGP
Shaun Renfrey MBBS, FRACGP, 
Grad Dip Rural Health
Susan Robertson MBBS, 
DipRACOG, FRACGP,
DipPallCare, Dip Obs,
Jan Slabbert MB, ChB (Free State), 
FRACGP, RACGP
Ramin Taheri MBBS
Linda Thompson BMS, FRACGP
Leesa Walker MBBS, FRACGP
Anthony Wark MBBS, FACRRM
Loba Haque MBBS
Patricia Macgibbon MBBS Grad 
Dip Farm Med
Peter Wang AMC, MBBS
Yao Zhang BM
Steven Yuan MBBS, BMedSci
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General Practitioner Registrar
Amanda Teo MBBS (Honours)

Endocrinologist
Fergus Cameron B Med Sci, MD, BS, Dip 
RACOG,FRACP

General Surgeons
Stephen Clifforth MBBS, FRACS
Uvarasen Kumarswami Naidoo MBcHB, FCS, 
FRACS
Peter Tung MBBS, FRACS, FHKAM
Richard Moore MA(Contab) MB BChir, FRCS 
(England) 

Neurosurgery
Caroline Tan FRACS. MBBS

Nephrologist
Professor Steven Holt BSc, BBS, PHD, FRCP, 
FRACP 

Obstetrician/Gynaecologist
Christopher Beaton MB.ChB, FRANZCOG
Rosemary Buchanan MBBS, FRANZCOG

Obstetricians in General Practice
Craig deKievit MBGBS, DRANZCOG, FACRRM
Jan Slabbert MB, ChB, (Free State), FRACGP,
RACGP
Peter Wang AMC, MBBS

Oncologist
David Ashley MBBS; FRACP; PHS
David Campbell MBBS, FRACP

Ophthalmologist
Robert Harvey MBBS, BSc, FRCOphth 
Vincent Lee MBBS, MMed, FRACS, FRANZCO

Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons
Graeme Fowler LDS, BDSc, MDSc, FDSRCPS

Orthopaedic Surgeon
Ric Cunningham MBBS, FRACS (ORTH)
Alasdair Sutherland MB, ChB,FRCS 
Ed,MD(Hons) FRCSEd(Tr & Orth),GMC 
Registration,CCST,FRACS
(Orth) 

Otolaryngologists
Anne Cass MBBS, FRACS

Paediatrician
Christian Fiedler MD, (KIEL), FRACP

Pathologist
David Clift MBBS, FRCPA

Physicians
Camelia Borta MBBS, FRACP
Andrew Bowman MBChB (Zimb),LRCP(Edin),L
RCS(Edin),LRCP&S(Glas),FRCP(UK),CCST(UK), 
FRACP
Andrew Bradbeer MBBS, FRACP
Trevor Branken MB. ChB (Birm) FCP (Sth 
Africa)
Geoffrey Coggins MBBS, FRACP
Wimal Weerasinghe MBBS, DCH,MD,MRCP, 
FCCP
Win Win Myint MBBS, M Med.Sc(Int Med), 
MRCP (UK), FRCP(Edin)

Radiologists
Damien Cleeve MBBS, FRACR
John Eng MBBS, FRANZCR
Robert Jarvis MBBS, FRACR
Sarah Skinner BMBS, Flinders University SA
Dr Julius Tamangani MBChB(Hons), MSc, FRCR
Dr Jill Wilkie BSc(Hons), MBBS, MRCP, FRCR
Dr Rachel Battye MBBS, FRANZCR

Urologists
Richard Grills MBBS, FRACS

Hospital Medical Officers (visiting on 
rotation)
Ballarat Health – one surgical registrar
Barwon Health – one general medicine intern, 
two surgical registrar, two medical registrars
St Vincent’s Hospital-two general surgical 
interns, two general medicine interns

Hospital Medical Officers (employed by 
WDHS)
Fouzia Kashem MBBS
Farideh Lashkary MBBS
Zannatun NUR MBBS

PRIMARY & PREVENTATIVE HEALTH
Director Primary & Preventative Health
Rosie Rowe BNatRes, MBA, GAICD

Manager, Primary Care Services
Belinda Payne, GradDipBus

Manager, Care Coordination
Usha Naidoo, MSc, BSocSc, RN, DipOncol, 
DipMgt

Manager, District Nursing
Pat O’Beirne RN, RM

Chief Dietitian
Jodie Nelson BHSc(Nutrition&Dietetics)

Acting - Jessica Nobes BA Nutrition&Dietitics

Chief Occupational Therapist
Fran Patterson BAppSci (O.T), Dip VET

Chief Physiotherapist
Tatum Pretorius BSc (Physio) 

Speech Pathologist
Sue Cameron BAppSc(SpeechPath), MSPAA

Senior Social Worker
Rinu Thomas B.Com, MSocialWrk 

Beth Bryan BSocWrk 

Senior Podiatrist
Phuong Huynh MSc, BAppSci(Pod), MAPodA,
AAPSM

Palliative Care Service
Jacqui Page RN BSc Hons (Onc) Dip Pal Care

Sheralyn Ross RN 

PRIMARY CARE PARTNERSHIP

Executive Officer
Janette Lowe MBA, BEng

NATIONAL CENTRE FOR FARMER HEALTH

Director, National Centre for Farmer 
Health
Clinical Associate Professor Susan Brumby RN,
DipFMgt, GDipWomen’s Studies, MHM, Cert 
IV (Assessment and Training), GAICD, AFCHSE,
MACN

Senior Staff
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes

Developing a system that 
is responsive to people’s 
needs

 y Develop an organisational policy for the provision 
of safe, high quality end of life care in acute and 
subacute settings, with clear guidance about the role 
of, and access to, specialist palliative care.

 y Work collaboratively with Ambulance Victoria to 
achieve timely transfer of patients.

 y Engage with local service systems to support 
integrated client care and service continuity for people 
affected by mental illness.

 y Implement End of Life Care Pathways for acute and aged care 
services, which will include the development of policies and 
procedures and the provision of education for staff.

 y WDHS will formalise its relationship with Ambulance Victoria by 
entering into a Memorandum of Understanding, which will include 
service level expectations.

 y Work with Great South Coast Medicare Local and Southern 
Grampians Glenelg Primary Care Partnership to finalise the Mental 
Health Service mapping report and identify priority actions to 
increase service capacity and coordination between service 
providers.

 y Completed.

 y MOU finalised for signing.

 y Completed.

Improving every 
Victorian’s health status 
and experience

 y Use consumer feedback to improve person and family 
centred care, health service practice and patient 
experience.

 y Reduce unplanned readmissions.

 y Optimise alternatives to hospital admission.

 y Increase the number of opportunities for patients and family 
members to provide direct feedback at a ward and department level 
to improve the patient experience.

 y Implement recommendations from the detailed analysis of 
unplanned admissions and audit of referrals and care pathways 
to Hospital Admission Risk Program (HARP), Home Referral and 
Hospital In the Home (HITH) programs.

 y Consolidate the Residential-In-Reach Program to reduce preventable 
presentations to ED and hospital admissions from Aged Care by 
15%.

 y Completed.

 y Completed, consolidation of staffing roles 
within complex care, ensuring clients with 
complexity identified and managed effectively.

 y Completed, no participants presented to ED 
once managed by Resi-in-Reach. 

Expanding service, 
workforce and system 
capacity

 y Develop and implement a workforce immunisation 
plan that includes pre-employment screening and 
immunisation assessment for existing staff that work 
in high risk areas in order to align with Australian 
Infection Control and Immunisation guidelines.

 y Build workforce capability and sustainability by 
supporting formal and informal clinical education and 
training for staff and health students, in particular 
inter-professional learning.

 y Optimise workforce productivity through identification 
and implementation of workforce models that 
enhance individual and team capacity and support 
flexibility.

 y Complete a gap analysis of the current immunisation policy to 
assess compliance with the Australian Infection Control and 
Immunisation guidelines.

 y Implement Best Practice Clinical Learning Environment (BPCLE) 
through Nursing and Allied Health in 2014.

 y Implement the Workforce Innovation Grant project (Home Services 
Team trial) to enhance workforce productivity within the new HACC 
model of care.

 y Completed.

 y QLE presented to staff and promoted in the 
community to patients and clients through 
publications and posters. Surveys to capture 
student preceptors and consumers experience 
developed. Clinical staff preceptoring/
mentoring skill survey developed. In-services/
resources for staff to use around preceptoring 
in progress.

 y Staff in place and trained in relevant 
disciplines; ethics approved; 15 clients 
commenced on the trial; evaluation data 
collection underway.

Increasing the system’s 
financial sustainability 
and productivity

 y Reduce health service administrative costs.  y Evaluate the effectiveness of the Regional Central Supply Initiative in 
reducing administrative costs.

 y Establish clinical imprest systems in Theatre, Emergency Department 
and Acute Wards by June 2015.

 y Colac Area Health, Portland District Health & 
WDHS have fully transitioned to the Central 
Supply Model.  Savings generated across the 
region to date with the central supply concept 
(operating consumables) is $252,930 which 
includes realised, pending and potential 
savings. WDHS savings to date $42,983.

 y All Theatre supply store rooms have been 
imprest. Total Imprest will be 800 items.

Implementing continuous 
improvements and 
innovation

 y Develop a focus on ‘systems thinking’ to drive 
improved integration and networking across health 
care settings.

 y Drive improved health outcomes through a strong 
focus on patient-centred care in the planning, delivery 
and evaluation of services, and the development of 
new models for putting patients first.

 y Conduct a review of the organisational clinical governance systems.

 y Evaluate the implementation of the new sub-acute model of care.

 y WDHS clinical governance system is in 
line with the DHHS Clinical Governance 
Framework.

 y Complete.

Increasing accountability 
& transparency

 y Undertake an annual Board assessment to identify 
and develop Board capability to ensure all Board 
members are well equipped to effectively discharge 
their responsibilities.

 y Demonstrate a strategic focus and commitment to 
aged care by responding to community need as well 
as the Commonwealth Living Longer Living Better 
reforms (applicable to health services administering 
aged care services).

 y Implement the Australian Centre for Healthcare Governance Board 
Development Tool.

 y Review the Health Services’ Aged Care governance arrangements 
and committee structure to improve performance and our patient 
centred approach.

 y Complete.

 y Complete.

Improving utilisation 
of e-health and 
communications 
technology

 y Trial, implement and evaluate strategies that use 
e-health as an enabler of better patient care.

 y Ensure local ICT strategic plans are in place.

 y Utilise telehealth to better connect service providers 
to appropriate and timely services.

 y In collaboration with South West Alliance of Rural Health (SWARH) 
implement TrakCare Community Health System.

 y Review the WDHS ICT Strategic Plan.

 y Expand the use of Telehealth.

 y Implement an iPad strategy in Primary and Preventative Health to 
enhance workforce efficiency and client care.

 y Complete.

 y Complete – Strategic Plan, framework and 
guidelines reviewed and updated, aligned 
with Barwon South West Regional Telehealth. 

 y New telehealth services introduced for 
geriatric patients with University Hospital 
of Geelong Geriatrics Department and 
Nephrology service from Royal Melbourne 
Hospital.

 y Complete  - iPads being used for clinical 
education, mobile access to internet 
resources for clinicians and recording of 
patient information offsite.

Statement of Priorities Agreement
Strategic Priorities for 2014-15 The Victorian Government’s priorities and policy directions are outlined in the Victorian Health 
Priorities Framework (VHPF) 2012-2022. In 2014/15 WDHS contributed to the achievement of the priorities by:
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Service Performance

Financial Performance
Key Performance Indicator Target 2014/2015 Actual
Annual operating result ($m) 0.11 0.60
Creditors <60 days 53 days
Debtors <60 days 61 days
Percentage of WIES (public & private) 
performance target

100 100

Patient Experience and Outcomes
Key Performance Indicator Target 2014/2015 Actual
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey Full compliance Achieved
Maternity – Percentage of women with 
prearranged postnatal home care

Full compliance 99%

Safety and Quality
Key Performance Indicator Target 2014/2015 Actual
Health service accreditation Full compliance Achieved
Residential aged care accreditation Full compliance Achieved
Cleaning standards Full compliance Achieved
Submission of data to VICNISS Full compliance Achieved
Hand hygiene (rate) – quarter 2 75 82%
Hand hygiene (rate) – quarter 3 77 84%
Hand hygiene (rate) – quarter 4 80 85%
ICU central line associated blood stream 
infections (ICU CLABSI)

No outliers Achieved

Healthcare worker immunisation – 
influenza

75 72.1%

Governance, Leadership & Culture
Key Performance Indicator Target 2014/2015 Actual
People Matter Survey 80 Not participated

Asset Management
Key Performance Indicator Target 2014/2015 Actual
Basic asset management plan Full compliance Met

Emergency Care
Key Performance Indicator Target Result

Percentage of ambulance transfers within 
40 minutes

90 99

Percentage of Triage Category 1 
emergency patients seen immediately

100 100

Percentage of Triage Category 1 to 5 
emergency patients seen within clinically 
recommended times

80 95

NEAT – Percentage of emergency 
presentations to physically leave the 
emergency department for admission to 
hospital, be referred to another hospital 
for treatment, or be discharged within 
four hours

81 86

Number of patients with a length of stay 
in the emergency department greater 
than 24 hours

0 0

Funding Type 2014/15 Activity Achieved

ACUTE ADMITTED

WIES Public 3,566

WIES Private 1,250

WIES ( PUBLIC AND PRIVATE ) 4,816

WIES DVA 174

WIES TAC 32

WIES TOTAL 5,022

ACUTE NON-ADMITTED

Rehab Public 1,460

Rehab Private 376

Rehab DVA 62

GEM Public 905

GEM Private 242

GEM DVA 164

Palliative Care Public 542

Palliative Care Private 277

Palliative Care DVA 81

SUB ACUTE NON-ADMITTED

Hospital Admission Risk 
Program (HARP) 2,427

Transition Care - Beddays 866

Transition Care - Homeday 1,120

SACS 7,238

SACS DVA 85

Palliative Care Community 884

AGED CARE

Residential Aged Care 40,644

HACC 42,281

PRIMARY HEALTH

Community Health / Primary 
Care Programs 3,536

SMALL RURAL

Small Rural Primary Health 563

Small Rural Residential Care 18,091

Small Rural HACC 6,118

(1) VICNISS is the Victorian Hospital Acquired Infection Surveillance System

(2) The target for the Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor is the Overall Care Index (OCI) which comprises six categories

(3) The Consumer Participation Indicator is a category of the Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor 

(4) The Victorian Health Experience Measurement Instrument (VHEMI) will succeed the VPSM as the instrument for measuring patient experience.
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Financial Management Act 1994      
In accordance with the Direction of 
the Minister for Finance part 9.1.3 (IV), 
information requirements have been prepared 
and are available to the relevant Minister, 
Members of Parliament and the public on 
request.

Fees  
WDHS charges fees in accordance with the 
Commonwealth Department of Health and 
Aged Care, the Commonwealth Department of 
Family Services and the Department of Health 
(Vic) directives, issued under Regulation 8 of 
the Hospital and Charities (Fees) Regulations 
1986, as amended.

Competitive Neutrality  
All competitive neutrality requirements were 
met in accordance with Government costing 
policies for public hospitals.

Consultancies  
In 2014-15 Western District Health Service 
engaged 3 consultancies where the total fees 
payable to the consultants were less than 
$10,000, with a total expenditure of $8,900 
(excl.GST).
For consultancies greater than $10,000, refer 
to the table below.

Declarations of Pecuniary Interest   
All necessary declarations have been 
completed. Refer to Note 24 of the Financial 
Statements.

Freedom of Information (FOI)  
Access to documents and records held by 
WDHS may be requested under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982. Consumers wishing 
to access documents should apply in writing 
to the FOI Officer at WDHS. This year 56 
FOI requests were received. No request was 
denied. All were granted in full.

Building and Maintenance
All building works have been designed in 
accordance with DoH Capital Development 
Guidelines and comply with the Building Act 
1993, Building Regulations 2006 and Building 
Code of Australia relevant at the time of the 
works.

Buildings Certified for Approval    
An occupancy permit was issued on 20 
October 2014 for the Watermark Charity 
House.

Building Works 2014-15   
The new fire ring main and installation of 
sprinklers into the bed based services at the 
Hamilton Base Hospital commenced during 
July 2013 is fully operational and compliant.

Infrastructure Projects    
• Completion of Watermark Charity House 

construction in October 2014 and public 
auction November 2014.

• Resealing  of driveway to Allied Health 
building and part of FHCC car park 
completed April 2015.

• Installation of automatic sliding fire door to 
executive corridor completed June 2015.

• Numerous other small maintenance 
projects throughout the year.

Carers Recognition Act 2012
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 recognises, 
promotes and values the role of people in care  
relationships. WDHS understands the different 
needs of people in care relationships and 
that care relationships bring benefits to the 
patients, their carers and to the community. 
WDHS takes all practicable measures to 
ensure that its employees, agents and carers 
have an awareness and understanding of 
the care relationship principles and this is 
reflected in our commitment to a model 
of patient and family centred care and to 
involving carers in the development and 
delivery of our services.

Protected Disclosure Act 2012
WDHS has in place appropriate procedures for 
disclosure in accordance with the Protected 
Disclosure  Act 2012. No protected disclosures 
were made under the Act in 2014/2015.

Attestation on Data Integrity
I, Rohan Fitzgerald, certify that Western 
District Health Service has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that reported data reasonably reflects 
actual performance. 
The Health Service has critically reviewed 
these controls and processes during the year.

Rohan Fitzgerald
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
3 September 2015

Attestation for compliance with the
Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 -
Risk Management Framework and 
Processes
I, Rohan Fitzgerald certify that the Western 
District Health Service has complied with 
Ministerial Direction 4.5.5 Risk Management 
Framework and Processes. The Western 
District Health Service Audit Committee 
verifies this.
 

Rohan Fitzgerald
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
3 September 2015

Legislative Compliance

Consultancies > $10,000

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Total Approved
Project Fee (ex GST)

Expenditure 
2013-14 (ex GST)

Future Expenditure (ex GST)

MIRUS Australia ACFI Review  108,000  54,000 90,000

Michael Rhook Costing  24,625  24,625 25,000

Total 2 132,625 78,625 115,000
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 Accountable officer’s declaration

Board members’, accountable officers’ and chief finance & accounting officers’ declaration

The attached financial statements for Western District Health Service have been prepared in accordance with Standing 
Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting 
Standards, including Interpretations and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during 
the year ended 30 June 2015 and the financial position of Western District Health Service at 30 June 2015.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial report for issue on this day.

Hugh Macdonald Rohan Fitzgerald  Pat Turnbull 
President     Chief Executive   Chief Finance and Accounting Officer
    

Hamilton    Hamilton  Hamilton
3 September 2015      3 September 2015 3 September 2015
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Disclosure Index

Legislation Requirement Page Ref

Ministerial Directions
Report of Operations
Charter and purpose

FRD 22F Manner of establishment and the relevant 
Ministers

Inside 
Front 
Cover, 1, 
72

FRD 22F Purpose, functions, powers and duties Inside 
Front 
Cover  - 7

FRD 22F Initiatives and key achievements 1 -30

FRD 22F Nature and range of services provided 1, 11

Management and structure

FRD 22F Organisational structure 36

Financial and other information

FRD 10 Disclosure index 43

FRD 11A Disclosure of ex gratia expenses NA

FRD 12A Disclosure of major contracts 41

FRD 21B Responsible person and executive officer 
disclosures

72-73

FRD 22F Application and operation of Protected 
Disclosure 2012

41

FRD 22F Application and operation of Carers Recognition 
Act 2012

41

FRD 22F Application and operation of Freedom of 
Information Act 1982

41

FRD 22F Compliance with building and maintenance 
provisions of Building Act 1993

41

FRD 22F Details of consultancies over $10,000 41

FRD 22F Details of consultancies under $10,000 41

FRD 22F Employment and conduct principles 21-24

FRD 22F Major changes or factors affecting performance 2-7

FRD 22F Occupational health and safety 23

FRD 22F Operational and budgetary objectives and 
performance against objectives

2-10

FRD 24C Reporting of office-based environmental 
impacts

27

FRD 22F Significant changes in financial position during 
the year

8-10

FRD 22F Statement on National Competition Policy 41

FRD 22F Subsequent events 73

FRD 22F Summary of the financial results for the year 3,4,8,9,10

FRD 22F Workforce Data disclosures including a 
statement on the application of employment 
and conduct principles

3,22

FRD 25B Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
disclosures

NA

FRD 29A Workforce Data disclosures 3, 22

SD 4.2(g) Specific information requirements NA

Legislation Requirement Page Ref

SD 4.2(j) Sign-off requirements 5

SD 3.4.13 Attestation on data integrity 41

SD 4.5.5 Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 compliance 
attestation

41

Financial Statements 
Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD 4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 47

SD 4.2(b) Comprehensive operating statement 46

SD 4.2(b) Balance sheet 46

SD 4.2(b) Cash flow statement 47

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

SD 4.2(a) Compliance with Australian accounting 
standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

48

SD 4.2(c) Accountable officer’s declaration 42

SD 4.2(c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 48

SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 49

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 41

Protected Disclosure Act 2001 41

Carers Recognition Act 2012 41

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 NA

Building Act 1993 41

Financial Management Act 1994 41

The annual report of the Western District Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation.  This index has been 
prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.
Note: This Disclosure Index consists of 2 pages, and is not required to be completed by denominational hospitals.



44

 



45



46

 

Comprehensive Operating Statement For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 Note
Total
2015

$’000

Total
2014

$’000

Revenue from operating activities 2  64,525  64,310 

Revenue from non-operating activities 2  1,584  1,588 

Employee expenses 3  (44,689)  (43,555)

Non salary labour costs 3  (4,247)  (3,785)

Supplies and consumables 3  (6,416)  (6,213)

Other expenses 3  (10,156)  (12,246)

Net result before capital and specific items  601  99 
Capital purpose income 2 2,209  5,106 

Share of Net Result of Associates & Joint Ventures Accounted for using the Equity Method 2  (23)  (10) 

Depreciation and Amortisation 4  (6,924)  (3,900)

Finance Costs 5 (42) -

Expenditure for Capital Purpose 3 (105)  (149)

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR  (4,284)  1,146 
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus 20  -  64,929 

Items that may be reclassifed subsequently to net result   

Changes to financial assets available-for-sale revaluation surplus 20  (76)  156 

Total other comprehensive income  (76)  65,085 

Comprehensive result  (4,360)  66,231 
This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2015
Note

Total
2015

$’000

Total
2014

$’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6  19,767  18,305 

Receivables 7  2,685  3,402 

Investments and other financial assets 8 3,926 -

Inventories 9  150  273 

Non-financial assets classified as held for sale 10  220  360 

Other assets 11  1,008  959 

Total current assets  27,756  23,299 
Non-current assets
Receivables 7  1,207  1,100 

Investments and other financial assets 8  2,215  2,180 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 13  96  119 

Property, plant & equipment 12  136,568  140,914 

Intangible assets 14  -  1 

Total non-current assets  140,086  144,314 
TOTAL ASSETS  167,842  167,613 
Current liabilities
Payables 15  4,011  2,461 

Provisions 17  8,399  9,266 

Borrowings 16  354 -

Other current liabilities 19  2,368  2,035 

Total current liabilities  15,132  13,762 
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 17  1,657  1,594 

Borrowings 16  718 -

Other non-current liabilities 19  5,932  3,494 

Total non-current liabilities  8,307  5,088 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  23,439  18,850 
NET ASSETS  144,403  148,763 
EQUITY
Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus 20a  67,366  67,366 

Financial asset available for sale revaluation surplus 20a  178  254 

Restricted specific purpose surplus 20b  5,283  4,391 

Contributed capital 20c  49,535  49,535 

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits) 20c  22,041  27,217 

TOTAL EQUITY 20c  144,403  148,763 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 24

Commitments 23
This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
Western District Health Service Annual Report 2015
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Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
Western District Health Service Annual Report 2015

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2015 Note
Total 
2015

$’000

Total
2014

$’000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating grants from government  45,550  42,991 

Patient and resident fees received  14,536  12,076 

Private practice fees received  -  86 

GST received from/(paid to) ATO  1,255  1,793 

Interest received  663  571 

Dividend received  22  26 

Other receipts  5,036  7,573 

Total receipts  67,062  65,116 

Employee expenses paid  (46,152)  (44,039)

Non salary labour costs  (4,247)  (3,785)

Payments for supplies & consumables  (7,965)  (10,744)

Finance costs  (42)  - 

Other payments  (6,396)  (8,754)

Total payments  (64,802)  (67,322)

Cash generated from operations  2,260  (2,206)

Capital grants from government  638  3,439 

Capital grants from non-government  -  35 

Capital donations and bequests received  824  1,145 

Other capital receipts  1,861  1,393 

NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 21  5,583  3,806 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investments  (4,133)  (273)

Payments for non-financial assets  (3,313)  (5,921)

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets  229  145 

NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (7,217)  (6,049)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of finance leases (347) -

NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (347) -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD (1,981)  (2,243)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  13,448  15,691 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 6  11,467  13,448 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Equity For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Revaluation 

Surplus

Financial 
Asset 

Available 
for Sale 

Revaluation 
Surplus

Restricted 
Specific 

Purpose 
Surplus

Contributions 
by Owners

Accumulated 
Surpluses/ 

(Deficits)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2013  2,437  98  4,007  49,535  26,455 82,532 

Net result for the year as restated  -  -  -  -  1,146 1,146 

Other comprehensive income for the year 20a 64,929 156  -  -  - 65,085 

Transfer to accumulated surplus  -  - 384  - (384)  - 

Balance at 30 June 2014 67,366 254 4,391 49,535 27,217 148,763 

Net result for the year  -  -  -  - (4,284) (4,284)

Other comprehensive income for the year 20a  - (76)  -  -  - (76)

Transfer to accumulated surplus 20c  -  - 892  - (892)  - 

Balance at 30 June 2015 67,366 178 5,283 49,535 22,041 144,403 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1: Statement of 
significant accounting policies

These annual financial statements represent the 
audited general purpose financial statements for 
Western District Health Service for the period 
ending 30 June 2015. The purpose of the report is 
to provide users with information about the Health 
Services’ stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

 

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared 
in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASs), which include interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant 
Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant 
Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister 
for Finance.

The Health Service is a not-for profit entity and 
therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs 
applicable to “not-for-profit” Health Services under 
the AAS’s. 

The annual financial statements were authorised 
for issue by the Audit & Compliance Committee of 
Western District Health Service on 03/09/2015.

(b) Basis of accounting 
preparation and 
measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a 
manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance 
and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance 
of the underlying transactions or other events is 
reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied in preparing the financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2015, and the comparative 
information presented in these financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The going concern basis was used to prepare the 
financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, the functional and presentation 
currency of the Health Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow 
information, have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items 
are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income 
or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and 
recognition criteria for these items, that is they are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they 
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The Financial Statements are prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention, 
except for:

 y non-current physical assets, which subsequent 
to acquisition, are measured at a revalued 
amount being their fair value at the date of the 
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent impairment 
losses. Revaluations are made and are re-
assessed with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amounts do not materially 
differ from their fair values;

 y available-for-sale investments which are 
measured at fair value with movements 
reflected in equity until the asset is 
derecognised (i.e. other comprehensive income 
– items that may be reclassified subsequent to 
net result).

 y the fair value of assets other than land 
is generally based on their depreciated 
replacement value.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are 
required to be made about the carrying values of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on professional judgements 
derived from historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
also in future periods that are affected by the 
revision. Judgements and assumptions made by 
management in the application of AASs that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates, relate to:

 y the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment (refer to Note1(k);

 y superannuation expense (refer to note 1(h)); 
and

 y actuarial assumptions for employee benefit 
provisions based on likely tenure of existing 
staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary 
movements and future discount rates (refer to 
Note 1(l) and

 y equities and management investment schemes 
classifies at level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
Western District Health Service determines the 
policies and procedures for both recurring fair 
value measurements such as property, plant and 
equipment, investment properties and financial 
instruments, and for non-recurring fair value 
measurements such as non-financial physical assets 
held for sale, in accordance with the requirements 
of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole:

 y Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 y Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable

 y Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair values disclosures, Western 
District Health Service has determined classes of 
assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained 
above.

In addition, Western District Health Service 
determines whether transfers have occurred 
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Western District 
Health Service’s independent valuation agency.

Western District Health Service, in conjunction with 
VGV monitors the changes in the fair value of each 
asset and liability through relevant data sources to 
determine whether revaluation is required.

(c) Reporting entity
The financial statements include all the controlled 
activities of the Health Service.

Its principle address is:

20 Foster Street,

Hamilton 3300 

A description of the nature of Western District 
Health Service’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the report of operations, 
which does not form part of these financial 
statements.

Objectives and Funding

Western District Health Service mission is to meet 
the health and wellbeing needs of our community 
by delivering a comprehensive range of high quality, 
innovative and valued health services, as well as 
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improve the quality of life to Victorians.

Western District Health Service is predominantly 
funded by accrual based grant funding for the 
provision of outputs. 

(d) Principles of consolidation
Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within the Health 
Service have been eliminated to reflect the extent 
of the Health Service’s operations as a group.

Associates and Joint Ventures

Associates and joint ventures are accounted for 
in accordance with the policy outlined in Note 1 
(f) changes in accounting policy, and 1(k) financial 
assets.

Jointly Controlled Assets

Interests in jointly controlled assets or operations 
are not consolidated by Western District Health 
Service, but are accounted for in accordance with 
the policy outlined in Note 1 (k) Financial Assets.

(e) Scope & presentation of 
financial statements
Fund Accounting

The Health Service operates on a fund accounting 
basis and maintains three funds:

Operating, Specific Purpose and Capital Funds. The 
Health Service’s Capital and Specific Purpose Funds 
include unspent capital donations and receipts 
from fund-raising activities conducted solely in 
respect of these funds.

Services Supported By Health Services 
Agreement and Services Supported By Hospital 
and Community Initiatives

Activities classified as Services Supported by 
Health Services Agreement (HSA) are substantially 
funded by the Department of Health and includes 
Residential Aged Care Services (RACS) and are 
also funded from other sources such as the 
Commonwealth, patients and residents, while 
Services Supported by Hospital and Community 
Initiatives (H&CI) are funded by the Health 
Service’s own activities or local initiatives and/or 
the Commonwealth.

Residential Aged Care Service

The following Residential Aged Care Services 
operations are an integral part of the Health 
Service and share its resources.

– The Birches and Grange Residential Care Service 
(located in Hamilton )

– Kolor Lodge and  W J Lewis Nursing Home 
(located in Penshurst )

– Valley View Nursing Home and Wannon Hostel 
(located  in Coleraine )

An apportionment of land and buildings has been 
made based on floor space. The results of the two 
operations have been segregated based on the 
actual revenue earned and expenditure incurred 
by each operation in Note 2b to the financial 
statements. 

Comprehensive Operating Statement

The Comprehensive operating statement includes 
the subtotal entitled “Net Result before Capital & 
Specific Items” to enhance the understanding of 
the financial performance of the Health Service. 
This subtotal reports the result excluding items 
such as capital grants; assets received or provided 
free of charge, depreciation, expenditure using 
capital purpose income and items of an unusual 
nature and amount such as specific income and 
expenses. The exclusion of these items is made 
to enhance matching of income and expenses so 
as to facilitate the comparability and consistency 
of results between years and Victorian Public 
Health Services. The “Net Result before Capital 
& Specific Items” is used by the management of 
the Health Service, the Department of Health and 
Human Services and the Victorian Government to 
measure the ongoing operating performance of 
Health Services.

Capital and specific items, which are excluded from 
this sub-total, comprise:

 y capital purpose income, which comprises 
all tied grants, donations and bequests 
received for the purpose of acquiring non-
current assets, such as capital works, plant 
and equipment or intangible assets. It also 
includes donations of plant and equipment 
(refer Note 1 (g)). 

Consequently the recognition of revenue as capital 
purpose income is based on the intention of the 
provider of the revenue at the time the revenue 
is provided.

 y specific income/expense, comprises the 
following items, where material:

– Non-current asset revaluation increments/
decrements

– Diminution / impairment of investments

 y impairment of financial and non-financial 
assets, includes all impairment losses (and 
reversal of previous impairment losses), which 
have been recognised in accordance with 
Note 1 (k) 

 y depreciation and amortisation, as described 
in Note 1 (h)

 y assets provided or received free of charge, 
(refer to Notes 1 (g) and (i)); and

 y expenditure using capital purpose income, 
which comprises expenditure which either 
falls below the asset capitalization threshold 
or doesn’t meet asset recognition criteria and 
therefore does not result in the recognition of 
an asset in the balance sheet, where funding 
for that expenditure is from capital purpose 
income.

Other economic flows; are changes arising from 
market measurements. They include:

 y Gains and losses from disposal of non-
financial assets;

 y Revaluations and impairments of non-financial 
physical and intangible assets;

 y Remeasurement arising from defined benefit 
superannuation plans; and

 y Fair value changes of financial instruments.

Balance Sheet

Assets and liabilities are categorised either as 
current or non-current (non-current being those 
assets or liabilities expected to be recovered/
settled more than 12 months after reporting 
period), are disclosed in the notes where relevant.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived 
in accordance with AASs.

Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity presents 
reconciliations of each non-owner and owner 
changes in equity from opening balance at the 
beginning of the reporting period to the closing 
balance at the end of the reporting period. It 
also shows separately changes due to amounts 
recognised in the comprehensive result and 
amounts recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or 
not they arise from operating activities, investing 
activities, or financing activities. This classification 
is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 
Statement of Cash Flows.

For the cash flow statement presentation 
purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes 
bank overdrafts, which are included as current 
borrowings in the balance sheet.

Rounding

All amounts shown in the financial statements are 
expressed to the nearest $1,000 unless otherwise 
stated.

Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sum of components are due to rounding.

Comparative Information

Where necessary the previous year’s figures have 
been reclassified to facilitate comparisons.

(f) Change in accounting 
policies
Subsequent to the 2013-14 reporting period, the 
following new and revised Standards have been 
adopted for the first time in the current period 
with their financial impacts disclosed.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

In accordance with AASB 11, there are two types 
of joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations and 
joint ventures. Joint operations arise where the 
investors have rights to the assets and obligations 
for the liabilities of an arrangement. A joint 
operator accounts for its share of the assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures 
arise where the investors have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement; joint ventures 
are accounted for under the equity method. 
Proportionate consolidation of joint ventures is no 
longer permitted. 

Western District Health Service has reviewed its 
existing contractual arrangements with other 
entities to ensure they are aligned with the new 
classifications under AASB 11. 

SWARH is to be treated as a jointly controlled 
operation whilst Southern Grampians / Glenelg 
Shire Primary Care Partnership is deemed a joint 
venture under AASB11.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards

Accounting Standard AASB 2015-7 Fair Value 
disclosure of not-for-profit public sector entities 
was issued on 13th July 2015 for application from 
1 July 2016. Western District Health Service has 
elected to adopt this standard early and apply the 
changes to the 2014-2015 financial statements.

The amended standard provides relief to not-
for –profit public sector entities from making 
certain specified disclosures about the fair value 
measurement of assets within the scope of AASB 
116 Property, Plant & Equipment which are held 
for their current service potential rather than to 
generate future cash inflows.

This is a disclosure impact only, with no current or 
future financial impact expected. 

(g) Income from transactions
Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 
Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to Western District Health Service and the income 
can be reliably measured at fair value. Unearned 
income at reporting date is reported as income 
received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue is, where applicable, 
net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

Government Grants and Other Transfers of 
Income (Other than Contributions by Owners)

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, 
government grants and other transfers of 
income (other than contributions by owners) are 
recognised as income when the Health Service 
gains control of the underlying assets irrespective 
of whether conditions are imposed on the Health 
Service’s use of the contributions.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance 
when the Health Service has a present obligation 
to repay them and the present obligation can be 
reliably measured.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of 
Health

– Insurance is recognised as revenue following 
advice from the Department of Health and Human 
Services.

– Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised 
upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability 
in line with the arrangements set out in the 
Metropolitan Health and Aged Care Services 
Division Hospital Circular 05/2013 (update for 
2013-2014).

Patient and Resident Fees

Patient fees are recognised as revenue at the time 
the invoices are raised.

Private Practice Fees

Private Practice fees are recognised as revenue at 
the time the invoices are raised.

Revenue From Commercial Activities

Revenue from commercial activities such as 
commercial laboratory medicine is recognised at 
the time invoices are raised.

Donations and Other Bequests

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue 
when received. If donations are for a special 
purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, 
such as specific restricted purpose surplus.

Dividend Revenue

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established. Dividends 
represent the income arising from Western District 
Health Service’s investments in financial assets.

Western District Health Service does not recognise 
dividends received or receivable from it associates 
or joint ventures as income. Instead, dividends 
from associates and joint ventures are adjusted 
directly against the carrying amount of investments 
using the equity method.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time 
proportionate basis that takes into account the 
effective yield of the financial asset which allocates 
interest over the relevant period.

Sale of Investments

The gain/loss on the sale of investments is 
recognised when the investment is realised.

Fair Value of Assets and Services Received Free of 
Charge or for Nominal Consideration

Resources received free of charge or for nominal 
consideration are recognised at their fair value 
when the transferee obtains control over them, 
irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions 
are imposed over the use of the contributions, 
unless received from another Health Service 
or agency as a consequence of a restructuring 
of administrative arrangements. In the latter 
case, such transfer will be recognised at carrying 
value. Contributions in the form of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would have been 
purchased if not received as a donation.

Other Income

Other income includes non-property rental, 
dividends, forgiveness of liabilities, and bad debt 
reversals.

(h) Expense recognition
Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and 
reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Cost of Goods Sold

Costs of goods sold are recognised when the sale 
of an item occurs by transferring the cost or value 
of the item/s from inventories.

Employee Expenses

Employee expenses include;

 y wages and salaries;

 y annual leave;

 y sick leave;

 y long service leave; and

 y superannuation expenses which are reported 
differently depending upon whether 
employees are members of defined benefit or 
defined contribution plans.

Defined Contribution Superannuation Plans

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. 
accumulation) superannuation plans, the 
associated expense is simply the employer 
contributions that are paid or payable in respect of 
employees who are members of these plans during 
the reporting period. Contributions to defined 
contribution superannuation plans are expenses 
when incurred.

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans

The amount charged to the comprehensive 
operating statement in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans represents the contributions 
made by the Health Service to the superannuation 
plans in respect of the services of current 
Health Service staff during the reporting period. 
Superannuation contributions are made to the 
plans based on the relevant rules of each plan, and 
are based upon actuarial advice.

Employees of the Health Service are entitled to 
receive superannuation benefits and the Health 
Service contributes to both the defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans. The defined benefits 
plan(s) provide benefits based on years of service 
and final average salary.

The name and details of the major employee 
superannuation funds and contributions made 
by the Health Service are disclosed in note 26: 
Superannuation.  

Depreciation

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and 
equipment and other non-financial physical assets 
that have finite useful lives are depreciated (i.e. 
excludes land assets held for sale, and investment 
properties). Depreciation begins when the asset is 
available for use, which is when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in a manner intended by management.

Intangible produced assets with finite lives are 
depreciated as an expense from transactions 
on a systematic basis over the asset’s useful life. 
Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight 
line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, 
less any estimated residual value over its estimated 
useful life. Estimates of the remaining useful 
lives and depreciation method for all assets are 
reviewed at least annually, and adjustments made 
where appropriate. This depreciation charge is not 
funded by the Department of Health and Human 
Services. Assets with a cost in excess of $1,000 are 
capitalised and depreciation has been provided on 
depreciable assets so as to allocate their cost or 
valuation over their estimated useful lives.

The following table indicates the expected 
useful lives of non current assets on which the 
depreciation charges are based.

 2015      2014

Buildings  10 to 40 Years 2 to 40 Years

Plant & Equipment 10 to 40 Years 8 to 10 Years

Medical Equipment 5 to 20 Years 8 to 10 Years

Computers and 

Communication 4 to 10 Years 1 to 5 Years

Furniture and Fitting 4 to 20 Years 8 to 10 Years

Motor Vehicles 5 to 20 Years 1 to 5 Years 

Intangible Assets              1 to 5 Years         1 to 5 Years 
    

As part of the buildings valuation, building values 
were separated into components and each 
component assessed for its useful life which is 
represented above.

Intangible produced assets with finite lives are 
depreciated as an expense from transactions on a 
systematic basis over the asset’s useful life.

Amortisation

Amortisation is allocated to intangible assets with 
finite useful lives on a systematic (typically straight-
line) basis over the asset’s useful life. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use, that is, 
when it is in the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. The consumption of 
intangible non-produced assets with finite useful 
lives is classified as amortisation.

The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful 
life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual 
reporting period. In addition, an assessment is 
made at each reporting date to determine whether 
there are indicators that the intangible asset 
concerned is impaired. If so, the assets concerned 
are tested as to whether their carrying value 
exceeds their recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually 
or whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. The useful lives of intangible 

assets that are not being amortised are reviewed 
each period to determine whether events and 
circumstances continue to support an indefinite 
useful life assessment for that asset. In addition, 
the Health Service tests all intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives for impairment by comparing 
the recoverable amount for each asset with its 
carrying amount:

 y annually; and

 y whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired

Any excess of the carrying amount over the 
recoverable amount is recognised as an 
impairment loss.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
amortised over a 10-15 year period. (2014 10-15 
years)

Finance Costs

Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Finance costs include;

 y interest on bank overdrafts and short term 
and long term borrowings (interest expense 
is recognised in the period in which it is 
incurred);

 y amortisation of discounts or premiums 
relating to borrowings;

 y amortisation of ancillary costs incurred 
in connection with the arrangements of 
borrowings; and

 y finance charges in respect of finance leases 
recognised in accordance with AASB117 
Leases.

Grants and Other Transfers

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other 
than contribution to owners) are recognised as an 
expense in the reporting period in which they are 
paid or payable. They include transactions such as: 
grants, subsidies and personal benefit payments 
made in cash to individuals.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent 
the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal 
operations and include:

Supplies And Consumables  

Supplies and service costs which are recognised 
as an expense in the reporting period in which 
they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any 
inventories held for distribution are expensed 
when distributed.

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Refer to Note 1 (k) Impairment of financial 
assets.

Fair Value of Assets, Services and Resources 
Provided Free of Charge or For Nominal 
Consideration

Contributions of resources provided free 
of charge or for nominal consideration 
are recognised at their fair value when 
the transferee obtains control over them, 
irrespective of whether restrictions or 
conditions are imposed over the use of the 
contributions, unless received from another 
agency as a consequence of a restructuring of 
administrative arrangements. In the latter case, 
such transfer will be recognised at carrying 
value. Contributions in the form of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would 
have been purchased if not donated.

Borrowing Costs Of Qualifying Assets

In accordance with the paragraphs of AASB 123 
Borrowing Costs applicable to not-for-profit 
public sector entities, the Health Services 
continues to recognise borrowing costs 
immediately as an expense, to the extent that 
they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset.

(i) Other comprehensive 
income
Other comprehensive income measures the 
change in volume or value of assets or liabilities 
that do not result from transactions.

Net Gain/(Loss) On Non-Financial Assets

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and 
liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and 
losses as follows:

Revaluation Gains/(Losses) of Non-Financial 
Physical Assets

Refer to Note 1 (k) Revaluations of non-financial 
physical assets.

Net Gain/ (Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 
Assets

Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial 
assets is recognised at the date of disposal and 
is the difference between the proceeds and the 
carrying value of the asset at the time.

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:

 y realised and unrealised gains and losses from 
the revaluations of financial instruments at 
fair value;

 y impairment and reversal of impairment for 
financial instruments at amortised cost (refer 
to Note 1 (k); and

 y disposals of financial assets and derecognition 
of financial liabilities

Amortisation of Non-Produced Intangible Assets

Intangible non-produced assets with finite lives 
are amortised as an ‘other economic flow’ on 
a systematic basis over the asset’s useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available   
for use that is when it is in the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives (and intangible assets not available 
for use) are tested annually for impairment and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
impaired. Refer to Note (k) Assets.

Revaluations of Financial Instrument at Fair Value

Refer to Note 1 (k) Financial instruments.

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and 
jointly controlled entities, excluding dividends

Refer to Note 1 (d) Basis of consolidation.

Other gains/(losses) from other comprehensive 
income

Other gains/(losses) include:

 y transfer of amounts from the reserves to 
accumulated surplus or net result due to 
disposal or derecognition or reclassification.

(j) Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual 
agreements that give rise to a financial asset of 
one Health Service and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another Health Service. Due to the 
nature of the Western District Health Service’s 
activities, certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. 
Such financial assets and financial liabilities do 
not meet the definition of financial instruments in 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For 
example, statutory receivables arising from taxes, 
fines and penalties do not meet the definition of 
financial instruments as they do not arise under 
contract. 

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a 
distinction is made between those financial assets 
and financial liabilities that meet the definition of 
financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 
and those that do not. 

The following refers to financial instruments unless 
otherwise stated.

Categories of Non-Derivative Financial 
Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets are categorised as fair value 
through profit or loss at trade date if they are 
classified as held for trading or designated as 
such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument 
assets are designated at fair value through profit or 
loss on the basis that the financial assets form part 
of a group of financial assets that are managed by 
the Health Service concerned based on their fair 
values, and have their performance evaluated in 
accordance with documented risk management 
and investment strategies.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss are initially measured at fair value and 
attributable transaction costs are expensed 
as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair 
value are recognised in the net result as other 
comprehensive income. Any dividend or interest 
on a financial asset is recognised in the net result 
for the year.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss include the majority of the Health 
Service’s equity investments, debt securities and 
borrowings.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument 
assets with fixed and determinable payments 
that are not quoted on an active market. These 
assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial measurement, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. 

Loans and receivables category includes cash 
and deposits (refer to Note 1(k)), term deposits 
with maturity greater than three months, trade 
receivables, loans and other receivables, but not 
statutory receivables.

Held-to-Maturity Investments

If the Health Service has the positive intent and 
ability to hold nominated investments to maturity, 
then such financial assets may be classified as held 
to maturity. Held to maturity financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition held to maturity financial assets are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment losses. 

The Health Service makes limited use of this 
classification because any sale or reclassification 
of more than an insignificant amount of held 
to maturity investments not close to their 
maturity, would result in the whole category 
being reclassified as available for sale. The Health 
Service would also be prevented from classifying 
investment securities as held to maturity for the 
current and the following two financial years. 

The held to maturity category includes certain 
term deposits and debt securities for which the 
entity concerned intends to hold to maturity.

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets 
are those designated as available-for-sale or 
not classified in any other category of financial 
instrument asset. Such assets are initially 
recognised at fair value.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ until the investment is 
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is included in net result for 
the period.  Fair value is determined in the manner 
described in Note 18.

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost 

Financial instrument liabilities are initially 
recognised on the date they are originated. They 
are initially measured at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial instruments are 
measured at amortised cost with any difference 
between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and 
loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, 
using the effective interest rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at 
amortised cost include all of the Health Service’s 
contractual payables, deposits held and advances 
received, and interest-bearing arrangements other 
than those designated at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
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Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial instrument assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amount presented in the consolidated 
balance sheet when, and only when, the Health 
Service concerned has a legal right to offset the 
amounts and intend either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

(k)  Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the 
balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at 
bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments 
(with an original maturity of three months or 
less), which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short term cash commitments rather than for 
investment purposes which are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, 
cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, 
which are included as liabilities on the balance 
sheet.

Receivables

Receivables consist of;

 y Statutory receivables, which includes 
predominantly amounts owing from the 
Victorian Government and GST input tax 
credits recoverable; and

 y Contractual receivables, which include mainly 
debtors in relation to goods and services, 
loans to third parties, accrued investment 
income and finance lease receivables.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as 
financial instruments and categorised as loans and 
receivables. Statutory receivables are recognised 
and measured similarly to contractual receivables 
(except for impairment), but are not classified as 
financial instruments because they do not arise 
from a contract.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method, less any 
accumulated impairment.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due 
and are due for settlement within 30 days from 
the date of recognition. Collectability of debts is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis, and debts which 
are known to be uncollectible are written off. A 
provision for doubtful debts is recognised where 
there is objective evidence that the debts may not 
be collected and bad debts are written off when 
identified.

Investments and Other Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised 
on trade date where purchase or sale of an 
investment is under contract whose terms require 
delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned, and are 
initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs.

Investments are classified in the following 
categories;

 y financial assets at fair value through profit 
& loss;

 y held-to-maturity;

 y loans and receivables; and

 y available-for-sale financial assets.

The Health Service classifies its other financial 
assets between current and non-current assets 
based on the purpose for which the assets 
were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its other financial assets at initial 
recognition.

The Health Service assesses at each balance sheet 
date whether a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired.

All financial assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit and loss are subject to annual 
review for impairment.

Inventories

Inventories include goods and other property held 
either for sale, consumption or for distribution 
at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of 
business operations. It includes land held for sale 
and excludes depreciable assets. 

Inventories held for distribution are measured at 
cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential. All 
other inventories, including land held for sale, are 
measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal 
considerations are measured at current 
replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

The bases used in assessing loss of service 
potential for inventories held for distribution 
include current replacement cost and technical or 
functional obsolescence. Technical obsolescence 
occurs when an item still functions for some or all 
of the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no 
longer matches existing technologies. Functional 
obsolescence occurs when an item no longer 
functions the way it did when it was first acquired.

Cost is assigned to land for sale (undeveloped, 
under development and developed) and to other 
high value, low volume inventory items on a 
specific identification of cost basis.

Cost for all other inventory is measured on the 
basis of weighted average cost.

Non-financial Physical Assets Classified as Held 
for Sale

Non-financial physical assets and disposal groups 
and related liabilities are treated as current and are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. This condition is 
regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable, the asset’s sale (or disposal group) is 
expected to be completed within 12 months from 
the date of classification, and the asset is available 
for immediate use in the current condition.

Non-financial physical assets (including disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale are treated as 
current and are measured at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs of disposal, and 
are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.

Property, Plant and Equipment

All non current physical assets are measured 
initially at cost and subsequently revalued at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or 
nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a merger/
machinery of government are transferred at their 
carrying amount.

More details about the valuation techniques and 
inputs used in determining the fair value of non-
financial physical assets are discussed in Note 11 
Property, plant and equipment.

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets 
under finance lease is measured at amounts equal 
to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, 
each determined at the inception of the lease.

Crown Land is measured at fair value with regard 
to the property’s highest and best use after due 
consideration is made for any legal or constructive 
restrictions imposed on the asset, public 
announcements or commitments made in relation 
to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical 
opportunities that may be available in relation to 
the asset(s) are not taken into account until it is 
virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer 
apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the 
current use of these non-financial physical assets 
will be their highest and best uses.

Land and Buildings are recognised initially at 
cost and subsequently measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles are recognised 
initially at cost and subsequently measured at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Depreciated historical cost is generally 
a reasonable proxy for fair value because of the 
short lives of the assets concerned.

Restrictive Nature of Cultural and Heritage 
Assets, Crown land and Infrastructure Assets 

During the reporting period, Western District 
Health Service also holds cultural assets, heritage 
assets, and other non-financial physical assets 
(including crown land and infrastructure assets) 

that it intends to preserve because of their unique 
historical, cultural or environmental attributes. 

In general, the fair value of those assets is 
measured at the depreciated replacement cost. 
However, the cost of some heritage and iconic 
assets may be the reproduction cost rather than 
the replacement cost if those assets’ service 
potential could only be replaced by reproducing 
them with the same materials. In addition, as there 
are limitations and restrictions imposed on those 
assets use and/or disposal, they may impact the 
fair value of those assets, and should be taken into 
account when the fair value is determined. 

Leasehold Improvements

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised 
as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of 
the remaining term of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the improvements.

Revaluations of Non-current Physical Assets

Non-current physical assets measured at fair 
value are revalued in accordance with FRD 103F 
Non-current physical assets.  This revaluation 
process normally occurs at least every five years, 
based upon the asset’s Government Purpose 
Classification, but may occur more frequently if 
fair value assessments indicate material changes in 
values. Independent valuers are used to conduct 
these scheduled revaluations and any interim 
revaluations are determined in accordance with 
the requirements of the FRD’s. Revaluation 
increments or decrements arise from differences 
between an asset’s carrying value and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ and are credited directly 
to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the 
extent that an increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that same class of asset 
previously recognised as an expense in net result, 
the increment is recognised as revenue in the 
net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in 
respect of the same class of property, plant and 
equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases 
relating to individual assets within an asset class 
are offset against one another within that class 
but are not offset in respect of assets in different 
classes.

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to 
accumulated funds on derecognition of the 
relevant asset.

 In accordance with FRD 103F the Health Service’s 
non-current physical assets were assessed to 
determine whether revaluation of the non-current 
physical assets was required.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-
monetary assets without physical substance such 
as patents, trademarks, and computer software 
and development costs.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at 
cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite 
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised when it is expected that additional 
future economic benefits will flow to the Health 
Service.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as 
an expense in the period on which it is incurred. 

When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 
Intangible Assets are met, internally generated 
intangible assets are recognised and measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation / amortisation 
and impairment.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising 
from development (or from the development 
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and 
only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

a) the technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available for use 
or sale;

b) an intention to complete the intangible asset 
and use or sell it;

c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

d) the intangible asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits;

e) the availability of adequate technical, financial 
and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

Prepayments

Other non-financial assets include prepayments 
which represent payments in advance of receipt 
of goods or services or that part of expenditure 
made in one accounting period covering a term 
extending beyond that period.

Disposal of Non-financial Assets

Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets 
is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement. Refer to note 1(i) – ‘comprehensive 
income’.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives 
(and intangible assets not yet available for use) 
are tested annually for impairment (as described 
below) and whenever there is an indication that 
the asset may be impaired.

All other non-financial assets are assessed annually 
for indications of impairment, except for:

 y inventories;

 y investment properties that are measured at 
fair value;

 y non-current physical assets held for sale; and

 y assets arising from construction contracts.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets 
concerned are tested as to whether their carrying 
value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where 
an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the difference is written-off as an expense 
except to the extent that the write-down can be 
debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount 
applicable to that same class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a 
reversal in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased 
to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the 
impairment loss occurs only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
if no impairment loss had been recognised in 
prior years.

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or 
destruction of an asset, the future economic 
benefits arising from the use of the asset will be 
replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary 
has been made. The recoverable amount for most 
assets is measured at the higher of depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. 
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to 
generate net cash flows is measured at the higher 
of the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be obtained from the asset and fair 
value less costs to sell.

Investments Accounted for Using the Equity 
Method

An associate is an entity over which Western 
District Health Service exercises significant 
influence, but not control.

The investment in the associate is accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. 
Under the equity method for accounting, the 
investment in the associate is recognised at cost 
on initial recognition, and the carrying amount 
is increased or decreased in subsequent years to 
recognise Western District Health Service’s share 
of the profits or losses of the associates after 
the date of acquisition. Western District Health 
Service’s share of the associate’s profit or loss is 
recognised in Western District Health Service’s 
net result as ‘other economic flows’. The share of 
post-acquisition changes in revaluation surpluses 
and any other reserves are recognised in both 
the comprehensive operating statement and the 
statement of changes in equity. The cumulative 
post acquisition movements are adjusted against 
the carrying amount of the investment, including 
dividends received or receivable from the 
associate. 

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
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Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby 
Western District Health Service, via its joint control 
of the arrangement, has rights to the net assets of 
the arrangements.  

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for in 
the financial statements using the equity method, 
as applied to investments in associates and are 
disclosed as required by AASB 12. 

Investments In Joint Operations

In respect of any interest in joint operations, 
Western District Health Service recognises in the 
financial statements:

 y its assets, including its share of any assets 
held jointly;

 y any liabilities including its share of liabilities 
that it had incurred;

 y its revenue from the sale of its share of the 
output from the joint operation;

 y its share of the revenue from the sale of the 
output by the operation; and

 y its expenses, including its share of any 
expenses incurred jointly. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised when: 

 y the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired; or 

 y the Health Service retains the right to receive 
cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 
obligation to pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ 
arrangement; or 

 y the Health Service has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset and either: 

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset; or 

(b) has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
or transferred control, the asset is recognised 
to the extent of the Health Service’s continuing 
involvement in the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets

At the end of each reporting period Western 
District Health Service assesses whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial asset is impaired. All financial 
instrument assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, are subject to annual 
review for impairment.

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful 
debts on a regular basis. Bad debts considered as 
written off and allowances for doubtful receivables 
are expensed. Bad debt written off by mutual 
consent and the allowance for doubtful debts are 
classified as ‘other comprehensive income’ in the 
net result.

The amount of the allowance is the difference 
between the financial asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate.

Where the fair value of an investment in an equity 
instrument at balance date has reduced by 20 
percent or more than its cost price or where its fair 
value has been less than its cost price for a period 
of 12 or more months, the financial asset is treated 
as impaired.

In order to determine an appropriate fair value 
as at 30 June 2015 for its portfolio of financial 
assets, Western District Health Service obtained 
a valuation based on the best available advice 
using an estimated valuation method provided 
by a reputable financial institution.  This value 
was compared against valuation methodologies 
provided by the issuer as at 30 June 2015.  These 
methodologies were critiqued and considered 
to be consistent with standard market valuation 
techniques.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-
contractual) financial assets, which are not 

financial instruments, professional judgement is 
applied in assessing materiality using estimates, 
averages and other computational methods in 
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

Net Gain/(Loss) On Financial Instruments

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:

- realised and unrealised gains and losses from 
revaluations of financial instruments that are 
designated at fair value through profit or loss or 
held-for-trading;

- impairment and reversal of impairment for 
financial instruments at amortised cost; and 

- disposals of financial assets and derecognition of 
financial liabilities

Revaluations of financial instruments at fair 
value

The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned 
on financial assets.

(l) Liabilities
Payables

Payables consist of:

 y contractual payables which consist 
predominantly of accounts payable 
representing liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the health service prior to the end 
of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise 
when the health service becomes obliged 
to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of those goods and services. The 
normal credit terms for accounts payable are 
usually Nett 30 days.

 y statutory payables, such as goods and services 
tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial 
instruments and are initially recognised at fair 
value, and then subsequently carried at amortised 
cost. Statutory payables are recognised and 
measured similarly to contractual payables, but 
are not classified as financial instruments and not 
included in the category of financial liabilities at 
amortised cost, because they do not arise from 
a contract.

Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair 
value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs (refer also to note 
1(m) Leases) The measurement basis subsequent 
to initial recognition depends on whether the 
Health Service has categorised its borrowings as 
either, financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss, or financial liabilities at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the initial 
recognised amount and the redemption value is 
recognised in net result over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the borrowing. The Health Service 
determines the classification of its borrowing at 
initial recognition.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Health Service 
has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits is probable, and the amount of 
the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows, using a discount 
rate that reflects the time value of money and risks 
specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to 
be received from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

Employee Benefits

The provision arises for the benefits accruing to 
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave for services rendered 
to the reporting date.

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave, Sick Leave 
and Accrued Days Off

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave accumulating 
sick leave are all recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because 
the health service does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of 
settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave are measured at:

 y Undiscounted value – if the health service 
expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

 y Present value – if the health service does not 
expect to settle within 12 months.

Long Service Leave (LSL)

Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements as a current liability even 
where the Health Service does not expect to 
settle the liability within 12 months because it 
will not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee 
take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are 
measured at:

 y Undiscounted value – if the health service 
expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and

 y Present value – if the health service does not 
expect to settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current 
liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement until the employee 
has completed the requisite years of service. This 
non-current LSL liability is measured at present 
value.

Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present 
value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as 
a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or 
loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for 
which it is then recognised as an other economic 
flow.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when 
employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or when an employee decides 
to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the 
termination of employment.

The health service recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to either 
terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to present value.

Employee Benefit On-Costs

Provisions for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers 
compensation and superannuation are recognised 
together with provisions for employee benefits.

Superannuation Liabilities

The Health Service does not recognise any 
unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the 
superannuation plans because the Health Service 
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
future benefits relating to its employees; its only 
obligation is to pay superannuation contributions 
as they fall due. 

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 

are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised as an expense in the 
consolidated comprehensive operating statement.

(m) Leases
A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed 
period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are 
classified at their inception as either operating or 
finance leases based on the economic substance 
of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

Leases of property, plant and equipment are 
classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. 

For service concession arrangements, the 
commencement of the lease term is deemed to be 
the date the asset is commissioned.

Western District Health Service has previously 
recognised the leasing arrangements for local area 
network equipment, workstations and peripherals 
(purchased through group buying arrangements 
with SWARH) as operating leases. These are now 
correctly reported as finance leases. Finance 
leases are regarded as a financial accommodation, 
and under the Section 30 of Health Services Act 
1988, the Minister for Health and the Treasurer 
must declare a registered funded agency to be 
an approved borrower for the purposes of this 
section. An approved borrower may, with the 
approval of the Minister and the Treasurer, obtain 
financial accommodation, whether within or 
outside Victoria, secured or arranged in a manner 
and for a period approved by the Treasurer. At this 
time Western District Health Service has not been 
declared an approved borrower in relation to these 
finance leases. The Department has advised they 
will ensure that Western District Health Service 
complies with Section 30 of Health Services Act 
1988 on or before 30 June 2016. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases

Entity as lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and 
liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the 
lease property or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payment, each determined 
at the inception of the lease.  The lease asset is 
accounted for as a non-financial physical asset and 
is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.  If 
there is certainty that the health service will obtain 
the ownership of the lease asset by the end of the 
lease term, the asset shall be depreciated over the 
useful life of the asset. If there is no reasonable 
certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be 
fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and its useful life. Minimum lease payments 
are apportioned between reduction of the 
outstanding lease liability, and the periodic finance 
expense which is calculated using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, and charged directly to the 
comprehensive operating statement. Contingent 
rentals associated with finance leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. 

Operating Leases

Entity as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or 
renewed operating lease are recognised as an 
integral part of the net consideration agreed 
for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of 
the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.

In the event that lease incentives are given to 
the lessee, the aggregate cost of incentives are 
recognised as a reduction of rental income over 
the lease term, on a straight-line basis unless 
another systematic basis is more appropriate of 
the time pattern over which the economic benefit 
of the leased asset is diminished.
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Entity as lessee

Operating lease payments, including any 
contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense 
in the comprehensive operating statement 
on a straight line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the benefits 
derived from the use of the leased asset. The 
leased asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

Lease Incentives

All incentives for the agreement of a new or 
renewed operating lease are recognised as an 
integral part of the net consideration agreed 
for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of 
the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.

In the event that lease incentives are received 
by the lessee to enter into operating leases, 
such incentives are recognised as a liability.  The 
aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised 
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset is 
diminished.

Leasehold Improvements

The cost of leasehold improvements are capitalised 
as an asset and depreciated over the remaining 
term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
improvements, whichever is the shorter.

(n) Equity
Contributed Capital

Consistent with Australian Accounting 
Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and 
FRD 119A Contributions by Owners, appropriations 
for additions to the net asset base have been 
designated as contributed capital. Other transfers 
that are in the nature of contributions to or 
distributions by owners that have been designated 
as contributed capital are also treated as 
contributed capital.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative 
restructurings are treated as contributions by 
owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from 
administrative restructures are to go through the 
comprehensive operating statement.

Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-current physical assets.

Financial Assets Available–For–Sale Revaluation 
Surplus

The available-for-sale revaluation surplus arises 
on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, 
that portion of the reserve which relates to 
that financial asset is effectively realised, and 
is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement. Where a revalued financial asset 
is impaired that portion of the surplus which 
relates to that financial asset is recognised in the 
comprehensive operating statement.

Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus

A specific restricted purpose surplus is established 
where the Health Service has possession or title to 
the funds but has no discretion to amend or vary 
the restriction and/or condition underlying the 
funds received.

(o) Commitments 
Commitments for future expenditure include 
operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by 
way of a note (refer to note 21) at their nominal 
value and are inclusive of the goods and services 
tax (“GST”) payable. In addition, where it is 
considered appropriate and provides additional 
relevant information to users, the net present 
values of significant individual projects are stated. 
These future expenditures cease to be disclosed 
as commitments once the related liabilities are 
recognised on the balance sheet.

(p) Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured 
at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable 
or payable respectively.

(q) Goods and Services Tax 
(“GST”)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of associated GST, unless 
the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority. In this case, the GST payable is  
recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flow.

Commitments for expenditure and contingent 
assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis

(r) AASs issued that are not 
yet effective
Certain new Australian accounting standards have 
been published that are not mandatory for the 
30 June 2015 reporting period. DTF assesses the 
impact of all these new standards and advises 
the Health Service of their applicability and early 
adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2015, the following standards and 
interpretations had been issued by the AASB but 
were not yet effective. They become effective for 
the first financial statements for reporting periods 
commencing after the stated operative dates as 
detailed in the table below.  

The Health Service has not and does not intend to 
adopt these standards early.

Refer to table page 54.

(s) Category Groups
The Health Service has used the following category 
groups for reporting purposes for the current and 
previous financial years.

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) 
comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient 
services, where services are delivered in public 
hospitals. 

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health 
(RAC incl. Mental Health) referred to in the past 
as psychogeriatric residential services, comprises 
those Commonwealth-licensed residential aged 
care services in receipt of supplementary funding 
from DH under the mental health program.  It 
excludes all other residential services funded 
under the mental health program, such as mental 
health-funded community care units and secure 
extended care units

Aged Care comprises a range of in home, specialist 
geriatric, residential care and community based 
programs and support services, such as Home and 
Community Care (HACC) that are targeted to older 
people, people with a disability, and their carers.

Primary Health comprises a range of home based, 
community based, community, primary health 
and dental services including health promotion 
and counselling, physiotherapy, speech therapy, 
podiatry and occupational therapy.

Other Services not reported elsewhere – (Other) 
comprises services not separately classified 
above, including: Public Health Services including 
laboratory testing, blood borne viruses / sexually 
transmitted infections clinical services, Kooris 
liaison officers, immunisation and screening 
services, drugs services including drug withdrawal, 
counselling and the needle and syringe program, 
Disability services including aids and equipment 
and flexible support packages to people with a 
disability, Community Care programs including 
sexual assault support, early parenting services, 
parenting assessment and skills development, and 
various support services.  Health and Community 
Initiatives also falls in this category group.
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Standard/
Interpretation

Summary Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 

beginning on

Impact on public sector entity financial 
statements

AASB 9 Financial Instruments The key changes include the simplified requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets, a new 
hedging accounting model and a revised impairment loss 
model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed 
to the current approach that recognises impairment only 
when incurred.

1 Jan 2018 The assessment has identified that the financial impact of 
available for sale (AFS) assets will now be reported through other 
comprehensive income (OCI) and no longer recycled to the profit 
and loss. 

While the preliminary assessment has not identified any material 
impact arising from AASB 9, it will continue to be monitored and 
assessed. 

AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts #

AASB 14 permits first-time adopters of Australian 
Accounting Standards who conduct rate-regulated activities 
to continue to account for amounts related to rate 
regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP.

1 Jan 2016 The assessment has indicated that there is no expected impact 
, as those that conduct rate-regulated activities have already 
adopted Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to 
recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring a promised good or service to a 
customer.

1 Jan 2017

(Exposure Draft 
263 – potential 
deferral to 1 Jan 
2018)

The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 
may result in changes to the timing and amount of revenue 
recorded in the financial statements. The Standard will also 
require additional disclosures on service revenue and contract 
modifications.

A potential impact will be the upfront recognition of revenue 
from licenses that cover multiple reporting periods. Revenue that 
was deferred and amortised over a period may now need to be 
recognised immediately as a transitional adjustment against the 
opening returned earnings if there are no former performance 
obligations outstanding.

AASB 2014 1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
[Part E Financial Instruments]

Amends various AASs to reflect the AASB's decision to 
defer the mandatory application date of AASB 9 to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
as a consequence of Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting, and to 
amend reduced disclosure requirements.

1 Jan 2018 This amending standard will defer the application period of 
AASB 9 to the 2018-19 reporting period in accordance with the 
transition requirements.

AASB 2014 4 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation

[AASB 116 & AASB 138]

Amends AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 
138 Intangible Assets to:

• establish the principle for the basis of depreciation 
and amortisation as being the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits of an 
asset;

• prohibit the use of revenue based methods to 
calculate the depreciation or amortisation of an 
asset, tangible or intangible, because revenue 
generally reflects the pattern of economic benefits 
that are generated from operating the business, 
rather than the consumption through the use of the 
asset.

1 Jan 2016 The assessment has indicated that there is no expected impact 
as the revenue-based method is not used for depreciation and 
amortisation.

AASB 2014 9 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 

[AASB 1, 127 & 128]

Amends AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements to 
allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 
their separate financial statements.

1 Jan 2016 The assessment indicates that there is no expected impact as the 
entity will continue to account for the  investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates using the cost method as mandated 
if separate financial statements are presented in accordance with 
FRD 113A.

AASB 2014 10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 
10 & AASB 128]

AASB 2014-10 amends AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates to 
ensure consistent treatment in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
or joint venture. The amendments require that:

• a full gain or loss to be recognised by the investor 
when a transaction involves a business (whether it is 
housed in a subsidiary or not); and

• a partial gain or loss to be recognised by the parent 
when a transaction involves assets that do not 
constitute a business, even if these assets are housed 
in a subsidiary.

1 Jan 2016 The assessment has indicated that there is limited impact, as the 
revisions to AASB 10 and AASB 128 are guidance in nature.

AASB 2015 6 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities

[AASB 10, AASB 124 & AASB 
1049]

The Amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 Related 
Party Disclosures to not-for-profit public sector entities.  A 
guidance has been included to assist the application of the 
Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. 

1 Jan 2016 The amending standard will result in extended disclosures on the 
entity's key management personnel (KMP), and the related party 
transactions. 
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Note 2: Analysis of Revenue by Source Admitted Patients

2015

$'000

RAC incl. 

Mental Health

2015

$'000

Aged Care

2015

$'000

Primary Health

2015

$'000

Other

2015

$'000

Total

2015

$'000

Government Grant  35,203  10,491  6,488  1,315  -  53,497 

Indirect contributions by Department of Health 
and Human Services

 37  17  4  2  -  60 

Patient & Resident Fees  2,410  4,124  364  -  -  6,898 

Commerical Activities  264  -  -  3,806  4,070 

Total Revenue from Operating Activities  37,650  14,896  6,856  1,317  3,806  64,525 

Donations  -  -  -  -  74  74 

Interest & Dividends  -  -  -  692  692 

Other Revenue from Non-Operating Activities  818  818 

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities  -  -  -  -  1,584  1,584 

Capital Purpose Income (excluding Interest)  -  -  -  -  2,209  2,209 

Total Capital Purpose Income  -  -  -  -  2,209  2,209 

Share of Net Result of Associates & Joint 
Ventures Accounted for using the Equity Method 
(refer note 12)

 -  -  -  (23)  (23)

Total Revenue  37,650  14,896  6,856  1,317  7,576  68,295 

Note 2: Analysis of Revenue by Source 
(Continued)

Admitted Patients

2014

$'000

RAC incl. 

Mental Health

2014

$'000

Aged Care

2014

$'000

Primary Health

2014

$'000

Other

2014

$'000

Total

2014

$'000

Government Grant  34,204  9,475  6,201  1,257  -  51,137 

Indirect contributions by Department of Health 
and Human Services

 41  19  5  2  -  67 

Patient & Resident Fees  1,950  3,759  238  -  -  5,947 

Commerical Activities  -  -  -  -  7,159  7,159 

Total Revenue from Operating Activities  36,195  13,253  6,444  1,259  7,159  64,310 

Donations  -  -  -  -  40  40 

Interest & Dividends  -  -  -  -  690  690 

Other Revenue from Non-Operating Activities  -  -  -  -  858  858 

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities  -  -  -  -  1,588  1,588 

Capital Purpose Income (excluding Interest)  -  -  -  -  5,106  5,106 

Total Capital Purpose Income  -  -  -  -  5,106  5,106 

Share of Net Result of Associates & Joint 
Ventures Accounted for using the Equity Method 
(refer note 12)

 -  -  -  -  (10)  (10)

Total Revenue  36,195  13,253  6,444  1,259  13,843  70,994 

Indirect contributions by Department of Health (1 July 2014 - 31 Dec 2014) / Department of Health and Human Services (1 Jan 2015 - 30 June 2015)

Department of Health / Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of the Health Service (List).  These amounts have been brought to account in determining the 
operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and expenses. 

Note 2a: Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 
Assets

Total 
2015

$'000

Total 
2014

$'000

Proceeds from Disposals of Non-Current Assets

Motor Vehicles  168  127 

Buildings  60  - 

Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets  228  127 

Less: Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold

Plant and Equipment  -  10 

Medical Equipment  -  2 

Motor Vehicles  167  43 

Computers & Communications  -  1 

Furniture & Fittings  -  3 

Buildings  140  - 

Total Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold  307  59 

Net gain/(loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets  (79)  68 
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Note 3: Analysis                                     
of Expenses by Source

Admitted Patients
2015

$'000

RAC incl. Mental Health
2015

$'000

Aged Care
2015

$'000

Primary Health
2015

$'000

Other
2015

$'000

Total
2015

$'000

Employee Expenses  24,892  11,732  3,566  2,383  2,116  44,689 

Non Salary Labour Costs  4,247  -  -  -  -  4,247 

Supplies & Consumables  4,427  1,155  385  257  192  6,416 

Other Expenses  7,532  1,220  713  305  386  10,156 

Total Expenditure from Operating 
Activities

 41,098  14,107  4,664  2,945  2,694  65,508 

Expenditure for Capital Purposes  -  -  -  -  105  105 

Depreciation & Amortisation (refer 
note 4)

 3,775  2,040  293  503  313  6,924 

Finance Costs (refer to note 5)  23  12  2  3  2  42 

Total other expenses  3,798  2,052  295  506  420  7,071 

Total Expenses  44,896  16,159  4,959  3,451  3,114  72,579 

Note 3: Analysis                                     
of Expenses by Source 
(Continued)

Admitted Patients
2014

$'000

RAC incl. Mental Health
2014

$'000

Aged Care
2014

$'000

Primary Health
2014

$'000

Other
2014

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Employee Expenses  23,877  11,942  3,420  2,286  2,030  43,555 

Non Salary Labour Costs  3,785  -  -  -  -  3,785 

Supplies & Consumables  4,276  1,101  352  277  207  6,213 

Other Expenses  9,099  1,559  804  322  462  12,246 

Total Expenditure from Operating 
Activities

 41,037  14,602  4,576  2,885  2,699  65,799 

Expenditure for Capital Purposes  -  -  -  -  149  149 

Depreciation & Amortisation            
(refer note 4)

 2,771  599  140  241  149  3,900 

Total other expenses  2,771  599  140  241  298  4,049 

Total Expenses  43,808  15,201  4,716  3,126  2,997  69,848 

Note 3a: Analysis of Expense and Revenue by Internally Managed and 
Restricted Specific Purpose Funds for Services Supported by Hospital 
and Community Initiatives

Expense Revenue

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Commercial Activities

Private Practice and Other Patient Activities  59  380  -  86 

Catering  377  358  326  284 

Laundry  140  144  15  19 

Cafeteria  92  91  267  266 

Property Expense/Revenue  136  120  818  809 

Other (include any activity not stated above)  -  -  3,462  5,695 

TOTAL  804  1,093  4,888  7,159 

Note 4: Depreciation and Amortisation Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Depreciation

Buildings (i)  5,087  2,423 

Plant & Equipment (ii)  221  208 

Medical Equipment  664  697 

Leased Assets  354  - 

Computers and Communication  140  131 

Furniture and Fittings  140  131 

Motor Vehicles  318  308 

Total Depreciation  6,924  3,898 

Amortisation

Intangible Assets  -  2 

Total Amortisation  -  2 

Total Depreciation and Amortisation  6,924  3,900 

Note 5: Finance Costs Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Finance Charges on Finance Leases (i)  42  - 

Total Finance Costs  42  - 

(i) Of the balance in ‘interest on finance lease’, $ Nil ($Nil in 2014) related to 
assets contracted under the PPP arrangements.

(i) Of the balance in ‘depreciation  - building’ $Nil ($Nil in 2014) related to 
assets contracted under the public private partnership (PPP) arrangements.
(ii) Of the balance in ‘depreciation  - plant & equipment’ $Nil ($Nil in 2014) 
related to assets contracted under the public private partnership (PPP) 
arrangements.
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Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Cash on hand  23  9 

Cash at bank  14,244  8,912 

Deposits at call  5,500  9,384 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  19,767  18,305 

Represented by:

Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow 
Statement)*

 11,467  13,448 

Cash for Monies Held in Trust

    - Cash at Bank  8,300  4,857 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  19,767  18,305 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash assets includes cash on hand and in banks, and short-term deposits 
which are readily convertible to cash on hand, and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

*As at 30 June 2015 these funds were held on deposit with one of the four large Australian Banks with a credit rating 
of AA-. As available funds exceeded $2M but were not invested with Treasury Corporation of Victoria, the Health 
Service was in contravention of Standing Direction 4.5.6 of the Minister of Finance. The Health Service expects to be in 
full compliance with Standing Direction 4.5.6 by 30/6/2016.

Note 7: Receivables Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

CURRENT
Contractual

Trade Debtors  810  940 

Patient Fees  1,226  1,156 

Accrued Revenue  - Other  490  642 

Accommodation Bonds Owing -  672 

Less Allowance for Doubtful Debts

Trade Debtors  (8)  (6)

Patient Fees  (58)  (212)

 2,460  3,192 

Statutory

GST Receivable  225  210 

 2,685  3,402 

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES  2,685  3,402 

NON CURRENT

Statutory

Long Service Leave - Department of  
Health / Department of Health and Human 
Services

 1,207  1,100 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES  1,207  1,100 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES  3,892  4,502 

(a) Movement in the Allowance 
for doubtful debts

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Balance at beginning of year  218  140 

Amounts written off during the year  (178)  (116)

Increase/(decrease)  in allowance 
recognised in net result

 26  194 

Balance at end of year  66  218 

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables
Please refer to note 22(c) for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables.

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables
Please refer to note 22(c) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from 
contractual receivables.

Note 8: Investments and 
other Financial Assets

Specific Purpose 
Fund

Capital Fund Total

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

CURRENT

Loans and receivables 

   Term Deposit

Others > 3 months *  3,926  -  -  -  3,926  -

Total Current 3,926 3,926

NON CURRENT

Loans and recievables

Term Deposit

Others > 3 months - - 414 266 414 266

Available for sale            

Equities and Managed Investment 
Schemes

       

Australian Listed Equity Securities 
(i)**

 1,801  1,914  -  -  1,801  1,914 

Total Non Current 1,801 1,914 414 266 2,215 2,180 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 5,727 1,914 414 266 6,141 2,180

Represented by:
Health Service Investments

5,727  1,914  414  266  6,141  2,180 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER 
FINANCIAL ASSETS

 5,727  1,914  414  266  6,141  2,180 

(i) The Health Service designated all its equities and managed investment schemes as fair value through profit or 
loss. Therefore, unless they are part of a disposal group held for sale, all equities and managed investments are 
classified as non-current. 
(a) Ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets
Please refer to note 22(c) for the ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from investments and other financial assets
Please refer to note 22(c) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from investments and other financial 
assets
* As at 30 June 2015 these funds were held on deposit with one of the four large Australian Banks with a credit 
rating of AA-. As available funds exceeded $2M but were not invested with Treasury Corporation of Victoria, the 
health service was in contravention of Standing Direction 4.5.6 of the Minister of Finance. The health service 
expects to be in full compliance with Standing Direction 4.5.6 by 30/6/2016.
** As at 30 June 2015 these funds were managed by JBWere Investor Services on behalf of the health service. The
health service will review this arrangement to ensure compliance with Standing Direction 4.5.6 of the Minister of
Finance by 30/6/2016.

Note 9: Inventories Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Pharmaceuticals

  At cost  135  152 

Catering Supplies

  At cost  -  11 

Housekeeping Supplies

  At cost  -  20 

Medical and Surgical Lines

  At cost  -  45 

Engineering Stores

  At Cost  10  15 

Administration Stores

  At Cost  5  30 

TOTAL INVENTORIES  150  273 
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Note 10: Non-Financial Physical Assets Classified as Held for 
Sale 
(A) Non-financial physical assets including disposal group assets 
classified as held for sale

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Freehold Land (i)  220  280 

Buildings  -  80 

TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL PHYSICAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE  220  360 

(B) Fair value measurement of non-financial 
physical assets held for sale

Carrying 
amount

2015
$'000

Fair value measurement at end 
of reporting period using:

Level 1 
(1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

Freehold Land held for sale (ii)  220  -  220  - 

TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL PHYSICAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED 
AS HELD FOR SALE

 220  -  220  - 

 

Note 11: Other Assets Total

2015

$'000

Total

2014

$'000

CURRENT
Prepayments

 1,008  959 

TOTAL CURRENT OTHER ASSETS  1,008  959 

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS  1,008  959 

Note 12: Property, plant & equipment
(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated 
depreciation

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Land

Land at Fair Value  4,837  4,742 

Less Impairment  -  - 

Total Land  4,837  4,742 

Buildings 

Buildings Under Construction at cost  1,143  1,258 

Buildings at Fair Value  124,748  126,465 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  5,039  - 

Leasehold Improvements at cost  1,886  - 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  49  - 

Total Buildings  122,689  127,723 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  4,776  4,693 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  2,070  1,858 

Total Plant and Equipment  2,706  2,835 

Medical Equipment

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  8,418  8,151 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  4,999  4,564 

Total Medical Equipment  3,419  3,587 

Computers and Communication

Computers and Communication at Fair Value  1,145  1,078 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  762  583 

Total Computers and Communication  383  495 

Furniture and Fittings

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  1,350  1,190 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  787  647 

Total Furniture and Fittings  563  543 

Motor Vehicles

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  1,877  1,907 

Less Acc'd Depreciation  978  918 

Total Motor Vehicles  899  989 

Leased Assets

Computers and Communication  1,426 -

Less Acc'd Depreciation  354 -

Total Leased Assets  1,072  - 

TOTAL  136,568  140,914 

(i) The Health Service intends to dispose of freehold land it no longer utilises in the next 10 months. The land was previously vacant land used as a storage site. A search is underway for a buyer. 
No impairment loss was recognised on reclassification of the freehold land as held for sale or at the end of the reporting period.

(1) Classified in accordance with the fair value hiearchy (Note 1)

(ii) Freehold land held for sale is carried at fair value less costs to disposal.  

(B) Fair value measurement of non-financial 
physical assets held for sale

Carrying 
amount

2014
$'000

Fair value measurement at end 
of reporting period using:

Level 1 
(1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

Freehold Land held for sale (ii)  280  -  280  - 

Buildings 80 - 80 -

TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL PHYSICAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED 
AS HELD FOR SALE

 360  -  360  - 
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Note 12: Property, plant & equipment 
(continued)

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying 
amounts of each class of asset

Land
$'000

Buildings
$'000

Plant &
Equipment

$'000

Medical 
Equipment

$'000

Computers &
Communications

$'000

Furniture 
& Fittings

$'000

Motor
Vehicles

$'000

SWARH
JV

$'000

Leased
Assets
$’000

Total
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2013  3,687  62,075  2,694  3,841  376  587  923  43 -  74,226 

Additions  -  4,849  359  445  207  90  417  1 -  6,368 

Disposals  -  -  (10)  (2)  (1)  (3)  (43)  - -  (59)

Classified as Held For Sale  (280)  (80) - - - - - - -  (360)

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements)  1,335  63,302 - - - - - - -  64,637 

Depreciation and Amortisation (note 4)  -  (2,423)  (208)  (697)  (124)  (131)  (308)  (7) -  (3,898)

Balance at 1 July 2014  4,742  127,723  2,835  3,587  458  543  989  37  -  140,914 

Additions  95  53  92  515  32  160  374  - -  1,321 

Disposals  -  -  -  (19)  (4)  -  (146)  - -  (169)

Net Additions through Restructuring  -  -  -  -  -  - -  -  1,426  1,426 

Depreciation and Amortisation (note 4)  -  (5,087)  (221)  (664)  (134)  (140)  (318)  (6)  (354)  (6,924)

Balance at 30 June 2015  4,837  122,689  2,706  3,419  352  563  899  31  1,072  136,568 

Land and buildings 
carried at valuation
An independent valuation 
of the Health Service's 
land and buildings 
was performed by the 
Valuer-General Victoria to 
determine the fair value 
of the land and buildings.  
The valuation, which 
conforms to Australian 
Valuation Standards, was 
determined by reference 
to the amounts for which 
assets could be exchanged 
between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm's 
length transaction. The 
valuation was based on 
independent assessments.  
The effective date of the 
valuation is 30 June 2014

Note 12: Property, plant & 
equipment
(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for 
assets as at 30 June 2015

Carrying 
amount

as at 30 June 
2015

$'000

Fair value measurement at 
end of reporting period using:

Level 1 
(1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

Land at Fair Value

Non-specialised Land  618  -  618  - 

Specialised Land  4,219  -  -  4,219 

Total of Land at Fair Value  4,837  -  618  4,219 

Buildings at Fair Value

Non-specialised Buildings  654  -  654  - 

Specialised Buildings  120,516  -  -  120,516 

Heritage Assets  376  -  -  376 

Assets Under Construction  1,143  -  -  1,143 

Total of Building at Fair Value  122,689  -  654  122,035 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at Fair Value  2,706  -  2,706 

Total Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  2,706  -  -  2,706 

Medical Equipment at Fair Value

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  3,419  -  -  3,419 

Total Medical Equipment at Fair Value  3,419  -  -  3,419 

Computers and Communication at Fair Value

Computers and Communication at Fair Value  383  -  -  383 

Total Computers and Communication at 
Fair Value

 383  -  383 

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  563  -  -  563 

Total Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 563 - - 563

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value (ii)

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  899  -  -  899 

Total Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  899  -  -  899 

Leased Assets

Leased Assets at Fair Value 1,072 - - 1,072

Total Leased Assets at Fair Value 1,072 - - 1,072

TOTAL  136,568  -  1,272  135,296

Note 12: Property, plant & 
equipment
(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for 
assets as at 30 June 2014

Carrying 
amount

as at 30 June 
2014

$'000

Fair value measurement at 
end of reporting period using:

Level 1 
(1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

Land at Fair Value

Non-specialised Land  523  -  523  - 

Specialised Land  4,219  -  -  4,219 

Total of Land at Fair Value  4,742  -  523  4,219 

Buildings at Fair Value

Non-specialised Buildings  539  -  539  - 

Specialised Buildings  125,542  -  - 125,542 

Heritage Assets  384  -  -  384

Assets Under Construction  1,258  -  -  1,258 

Total of Building at Fair Value  127,723  -  539 127,184

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles at Fair Value  2,835  -  2,835

Total Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  2,835  -  -  2,835

Medical Equipment at Fair Value

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  3,587  -  -  3,587

Total Medical Equipment at Fair Value  3,587  -  -  3,587 

Computers and Communication at Fair Value

Computers and Communication at Fair Value  495  -  -  495

Total Computers and Communication at 
Fair Value

 495  -  495

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  543  -  -  543 

Total Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 543 - - 543

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value (ii)

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  989  -  -  989

Total Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  989  -  -  989

TOTAL  140,914  -  1,062 
 

139,852

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see note 1
(ii) Vehicles are categorised to level 3 assets if the depreciated repalcement cost is used in estimating the 
fair value. There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
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Note 12: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i)
Land Buildings Plant and 

equipment
Medical 

equipment
Computers & 

Communications
Furniture and 

Fittings Motor Vehicles Leases Assets Total
30 June 2015

Opening Balance  4,219  127,184  2,835  3,587  495  543  989 -  139,852 

Purchases (sales)  (66)  92  496  28  160  228 -  938 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3  -  -  -  -  -  - 1,426 1,426

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -  (5,083)  (221)  (664)  (140)  (140)  (318) (354)  (6,920)

Subtotal  4,219  122,035  2,706  3,419  383  563  899 1,072  135,296 

Closing Balance  4,219  122,035  2,706  3,419  383  563  899 1,072  135,296

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Note 12: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations:
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Specialised land Market approach  Community Service Obligation (CSO) adjustment

Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost  Useful life of specialised buildings

Plant and equipment at fair value Depreciated replacement cost  Cost per unit 

 Useful life of PPE 

Vehicles Depreciated replacement cost  Cost per unit 

 Useful life of vehicles 

Medical equipment at fair value Depreciated replacement cost  Cost per unit 

 Useful life of medical equipment 

Assets under construction at fair value Depreciated replacement cost  Cost per unit 

Note 12: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i)
Land Buildings Plant and 

equipment
Medical 

equipment
Computers & 

Communications
Furniture and 

Fittings Motor Vehicles Total
30 June 2014

Opening Balance  3,252  61,268  2,694  3,841  419  587  923  72,984 

Purchases (sales) (280)  4,769  349  443  207  87  374  5,949 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3  -  - -  -  -  -  - -

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -  (2,361)  (208)  (697)  (131)  (131)  (308)  (3,836)

Subtotal  2,972  63,676  2,835  3,587  495  543  989  75,097 

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation 1,247 63,508 - - - - - 64,755

Closing Balance  4,219  127,184  2,835  3,587  495  543  989  139,852

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
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2015
$'000

2014
$'000

Movements in carrying amounts of interest in the Joint Venture

Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire PCP

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  119  129 

Share of the joint venture net result after tax  (23)  (10)

Share of the joint venture other comprehensive income

Dividends received/receivable from the joint venture

Carrying amount at the end of the year  96  119 

Dividends Received from Associates and Joint Ventures   
During the 2015 financial year, the Western District Health Service received dividends of $0 of $0 (2013/2014: $0) 
from its joint ventures.

Note 13: Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method Ownership Interest Published Fair Trade

Name of Entity Principal Activity Country of Incorporation 2015
%

2014
%

2015
%

2014
%

Jointly Controlled Entities

Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire PCP Primary Health Australia 45 45 45 45

Summarised Balance Sheet 2015
$'000

2014
$'000

Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire PCP Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  592  690 

Total Current Assets  592 690

Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities  259  326 

Staff Provisions  119  99 

Total Current Liabilities  378  425 

Net Assets  214  265 

Share of Joint Venture's Net Assets  96  119 

Summarised Operating Statement 2015
$'000

2014
$'000

Southern Grampians/Glenelg Shire PCP Revenue

Grants  370  339 

Other Revenue  297  475 

Total Revenue  667  814 

Expenses

Employee Expenses  316  341 

Other  401  496 

Total Expenses  717  837 

Net Result  (50)  (23)

Share of Joint Venture Net Result  (23)  (10)

Computer 
Software 

$'000

Total
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2013  3  3 

Amortisation (note 4)(i)  (2)  (2) 

Balance at 1 July 2014  1  1 

Amortisation (note 4)(i)  (1)  (1) 

Balance at 30 June 2015 -  - 

Note 14: Intangible Assets Total
2015 

$'000

Total
2014 

$'000

Computer Software  46  46 

Less Acc'd Amortisation  46  45 

Total Intangible Assets  -  1 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the previous and current 
financial year:

Note 15: Payables Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

CURRENT Contractual

Trade Creditors  2,586  1,796 

Accrued Expenses  946  451 

Other  38  179 

 3,570  2,426 

Statutory

GST Payable  45  35 

Department of Health and Human 
Services

 396  - 

 441  35 

TOTAL CURRENT  4,011  2,461 
(a) Maturity analysis of payables Please refer to Note 22c for the 
ageing analysis of contractual payables

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from payables Please refer to 
note 22c for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual 
payables

The Health Service interest in revenues and expenses resulting from the joint venture controlled operations and assets is detailed below, based on unaudited figures.
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Note 16: Borrowings Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

CURRENT

Australian Dollar Borrowings

– Finance Lease Liability (i) (refer Note 18a)  354  - 

Total Australian Dollars Borrowings  354  - 

TOTAL CURRENT 354 -

NON CURRENT    

Australian Dollar Borrowings

– Finance Lease Liability (refer Note 18a)  718  - 

Total Australian Dollars Borrowings  718  - 

Total Non-Current  718  - 

Total Borrowings  1,072  - 

Note 16.a: Borrowings

(a) Finance lease liabilities
Minimum future lease 

payments (i)

Present value of 
minimum future lease 

payments

2015 2014 2015 2014

Other finance lease liabilities payable (ii)

Not longer than one year 354 - 354 -

Longer than one year but not longer than five years 718 - 718 -
Longer than five years - -

Minimum future lease payments 1072 - 1072 -

Less future finance charges 88 - 88 -

Present value of minimum lease payments 984 - 984 -

- -

Included in the financial statements as: - -

Current borrowings lease liabilities (Note 16) 354 - 354 -

Non-current borrowing lease liablities (Note 16) 718 - 718 -

1072 - 1072 -

(i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all base payments and any guaranteed residual 
   

(ii) Other finance lease liabilities include obligations that are recognised on the balance sheet; the future 
payments related to operating and lease commitments are disclosed in Note 23 

The weighted average interest rate implicit in leases is 4.97% (2014  - 5.68%)

(i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the 
leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.  
Finance costs of the Health Service incurred during the year are accounted for as follows: 
Amount of finance costs recognised as expenses $42,027 
Amount of investment revenue earned on borrowed funds that has been deducted from the 
finance costs incurred Nil 

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings  
Please refer to note 22(d) for the ageing analysis of borrowings.
 
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings  
Please refer to note 22(d) for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings.
 
(c) Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the 
borrowings.  

Note 17: Provisions Total
2015

 $’000

Total
2014

 $'000

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i)

Annual leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii)  2,687  2,389 

Long service leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii)  582  564 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (iii)  3,674  3,614 

Accrued Days Off

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)  62  66 

Accrued Salaries and Wages

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)  199  1,520 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii)  786  742 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii)  409  371 

Total Current Provisions  8,399  9,266 

Non-Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i)  1,497  1,445 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs  160  149 

Total Non-Current Provisions  1,657  1,594 

Total Provisions  10,056  10,860 

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Unconditional LSL Entitlement  4,723  4,604 

Annual Leave Entitlements  3,415  3,077 

Accrued Wages and Salaries  199  1,520 

Accrued Days Off  62  66 

Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements (ii)  1,657  1,593 

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs  10,056  10,860 

(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, 
not including on-costs.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts
(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values

Note 17: Provisions 
(continued)

Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$'000

(b) Movements in provisions

Movement in Long Service 
Leave:

Balance at start of year  6,197  5,992 

Provision made during the year

 - Revaluations  139  (87)

 - Expense recognising 
Employee Service

 524  856 

Settlement made during the 
year

 (582)  (564)

Balance at end of year*  6,278  6,197 

Note 18: Superannuation Paid contribution for 
the year

Contribution 
outstanding at

Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$’000

Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$’000

(i) Defined benefit plans:

First State Super (Health Super) 195 222 19

Defined contribution plans:

First State Super (Health Super) 2,671 2,780 283

HESTA 522 516 54

Other 56 96 6

Total 3,444 3,614 362 -

(i) The bases for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various 
actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.

Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and then 
Health Services contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The 
defined benefit plan provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan 
because the entitty has no leagal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to 
its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. 

The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s defined liabilities in its 
disclosure for administered items. However superannuation contributions paid or payable 
for the reporting period are included as part of the emplpyee benefits in the comprehensive 
operating statement of the Health Service. 
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Note 19: Other Liabilities Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$'000

CURRENT

Monies Held in Trust

   - Patient Monies Held in Trust  488  250 

   - Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees)  1,880  1,785 

Total Current  2,368  2,035 

NON CURRENT

Monies Held in Trust

   - Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees)  5,932  3,494 

Total Non-Current  5,932  3,494 

Total Other Liabilities  8,300  5,529 

Total Monies Held in Trust Represented by the following assets:

Cash Assets (refer to Note 6)  8,300  4,857 

Receivables (refer to Note 7)  -  672 

TOTAL  8,300  5,529 

Note 20: Equity Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$'000

(a)  Surpluses. Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus 1

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  67,366  2,437 

Revaluation Increment/(Decrements)

 - Land  -  1,627 

 - Buildings  -  63,302 

Balance at the end of the reporting period  67,366  67,366 

Represented by: 

 - Land  3,688  3,688 

 - Buildings  63,302  63,302 

 - Plant and Equipment  376  376 

 67,366  67,366 

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale Revaluation Surplus 2

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  254  98 

Valuation gain/(loss) recognised  (14)  160 

Cumulative (gain)/loss transferred to Operating Statement on Sale of 
Financial Assets

 (62)  (4)

Balance at end of the reporting period  178  254 

 

Note 20: Equity (continued) Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$'000

Restricted Specific Purpose Surplus

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  4,391  4,007 

Transfer to and from Restricted Specific Purpose Surplus  892  384 

Balance at the end of the reporting period  5,283  4,391 

Total Surpluses  72,827  72,011 

(b)  Contributed Capital

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  49,535  49,535 

Balance at the end of the reporting period  49,535  49,535 

(c)  Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  27,217  26,455 

Net Result for the Year  (4,284)  1,146 

Transfers to and from Surplus (Identify the transfers from each of the 
above reserves)

 (892)  (384)

Adjustments Resulting from correction of errors  - 

Balance at the end of the reporting period  22,041  27,217 

Total Equity at end of financial year  144,403  148,763 

Note 21: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year 
to Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating 
Activities

Total
2015 

$’000

Total
2014 

$'000

Net result for the period  (4,284)  1,146 

Non-cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation  6,924  3,900 

Provision for doubtful debts  63  194 

Movements included in investing and financing 
activities

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of non financial 
physical assets  79  (68)

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of financial assets  14  (16)

Movements in assets and liabilities:

Change in operating assets and liabilities

     (Increase)/decrease in receivables  (244)  164 

     (Increase)/decrease in other assets  20  (849)

     (Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (44)  - 

     Increase/(decrease) in payables  2,373  (824)

     Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (804)  159 

     Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  1,363  - 

     Change in inventories  123  - 

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  5,583  3,806 

(1) The property, plant & equipment asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of property, plant & equipment. 
(2) The financial assets available-for-sale revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets.  
Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to the financial asset, and is effectively 
realised, is recognised in the net result.  Where a revalued financial asset is impaired that portion of the reserve which 
relates to that financial asset is recognised in net result.
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Note 22 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and 
policies  
Western District Health Service’s principal 
financial instruments comprise of:  
• cash assets  
• term deposits  
• receivables (excluding statutory receivables)
• investment in equities and managed 

investment schemes  
• payables (excluding statutory payables)
• finance lease payables  
• accommodation bonds  
• debt securities  

Details of the significant accounting policies 
and methods adopted, including the criteria 
for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses 
are recognised, with respect to each class of 
financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the 
financial statements.  
“The Health Service’s main financial risks 
include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate 
risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk 
(amend as appropriate). The Health Service 
manages these financial risks in accordance 
with its financial risk management policy.

The Health Service uses different methods to 
measure and manage the different risks to 
which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for 
the identification and management of financial 
risks rests with the financial risk management 
committee of the Health Service.” 
The main purpose in holding financial 
instruments is to prudentially manage Western 
District Health Service financial risks within the 
government policy parameters. 

Note 22: Financial Instruments

2015

Contractual financial 
assets - loans and 

receivables
$'000

Contractual financial 
assets  - available for sale

$'000

Contractual financial 
liabilities at amortised 

cost
$'000

Total
$'000

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  19,767  -    -    19,767 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  810  -    -    810 

 - Other Receivables  1,716  -    -    1,716 

Other Financial Assets

 - Term Deposit  4,340  -    -    4,340 

 - Shares in Other Entities  -    1,801  -    1,801 

Total Financial Assets (i)  26,633  1,801  -    28,434 

Financial Liabilities

Payables - -  3,570  3,570 

Borrowings - -  1,072  1,072 

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accomodation bonds  -    -    8,300  8,300 

 - Other  -    -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities (ii)  -    -    12,942  12,942 

2014

Contractual financial 
assets - loans and 

receivables
$'000

Contractual financial 
assets - available for sale

$'000

Contractual financial 
liabilities at amortised 

cost
$'000

Total
$'000

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  18,305  -    -    18,305 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  940  -    -    940 

 - Other Receivables  2,470  -    -    2,470 

Other Financial Assets

 - Term Deposit  266  -    -    266 

 - Shares in Other Entities  -    1,914  -    1,914 

Total Financial Assets (i)  21,981  1,914  -    23,895 

Financial Liabilities

Payables - -  2,426  2,426 

Borrowings - -  -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accomodation bonds  -    -    5,529  5,529 

 - Other  -    -    -    -   

Total Financial Liabilities (ii)  -    -    7,955  7,955 

(i) The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables
(ii) The total amount of financial liabilities disclosed here excludes statutory payables (i.e. Taxes payable)
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Note 22: Financial Instruments - (b) Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

2015

Net holding gain/(loss)

$'000

Total interest income / 
(expense)

$'000

Fee income / (expense)

$'000

Impairment loss

$'000

Total

$'000

Financial Assets

Available for Sale (i)  -    1,131  -    -    1,131 

Total Financial Assets  -    1,131  -    -    1,131 

2014

Net holding gain/(loss)

$'000

Total interest income / 
(expense)

$'000

Fee income / (expense)

$'000

Impairment loss

$'000

Total

$'000

Financial Assets

Available for Sale (i)  -    1,254  -    -    1,254 

Total Financial Assets  -    1,254  -    -    1,254 

(i) For cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, interest revenue, 
plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result;

(ii) For financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the interest expense, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from the revaluation of 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

(iii) For financial assets and liabilities that are held-for-trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the financial 
asset or liability.

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial 
assets of the Health Service, which comprise 
cash and deposits, non-statutory receivables and 
available for sale contractual financial assets. The 
Health Service’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
the potential default of a counter party on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Health Service. Credit risk is measured at fair 
value and is monitored on a regular basis.   
Credit risk associated with the Health Service’s 
contractual financial assets is minimal because the 
main debtor is the Victorian Government. For 

debtors other than the Government, it is the Health 
Service’s policy to only deal with entities with high 
credit ratings of a minimum Triple-B rating and to 
obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, 
where appropriate.     
In addition, the Health Service does not engage 
in hedging for its contractual financial assets and 
mainly obtains contractual financial assets that are 
on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are 
mainly cash at bank. As with the policy for debtors, 
the Health Service’s policy is to only deal with banks 
with high credit ratings.       

Provision of impairment for contractual financial 
assets is recognised when there is objective evidence 
that the Health Service will not be able to collect 
a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial 
difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts 
which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes 
in debtor credit ratings.     
Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, 
the carrying amount of contractual financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents Western District 
Health Service’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained.     

Note 22: Financial Instruments (continued) - Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

2015
"Financial institutions 

(AAA credit rating)"
$'000

"Government agencies 
(AAA credit rating)"

$'000

"Government agencies 
(BBB credit rating)"

$'000

"Other  
(min BBB credit rating)"

$'000

Total
$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  19,767  -  -  -  19,767 

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  -  -  -  810  810 

 - Other Receivables (i)  -  1,716  1,716 

 - Term Deposit  2,340  2,000  -  -  4,340 

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,801  -  -  -  1,801 

Total Financial Assets  23,908  2,000  -  2,526  28,434 

2014
"Financial institutions 

(AAA credit rating)"
$'000

"Government agencies 
(AAA credit rating)"

$'000

"Government agencies 
(BBB credit rating)"

$'000

"Other (min BBB credit rating)"
$'000

Total
$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  18,305  -  -  -  18,305 

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  -  -  -  940  940 

 - Other Receivables  - -  -  2,470  2,470 

 - Term Deposit  266  -  -  -  266 

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,914  -  -  -  1,914 

Total Financial Assets  20,485  -  -  3,410  23,895 

(i) The total amounts disclosed 
here exclude statutory amounts 
(e.g. amounts owing from 
Victorian Government and GST 
input tax credit recoverable).    

[The above illustrated disclosure 
is best practice disclosure to 
meet the requirement of AASB 
7 paragraph 36(c) and should 
be followed to the extent it is 
practicable. Where it is impractical 
to disclose credit ratings, these 
can be omitted and a Health 
Service can simply disclose 
creditors using categories that 
fit Health Service’s own creditor 
profiles].
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Note 22: Financial Instruments (continued) (c) Credit Risk (continued)

Ageing analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June

2015
Total Carrying 

Amount
$'000

Not Past Due and 
Not Impaired

$'000

Past Due But Not Impaired Impaired Financial 
Assets
$'000

Less than 1 Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  19,767  19,767  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  810  512  248  14  28  -  8 

 - Other Receivables  1,716  -  1,345  39  274  -  59 

 - Term Deposit  4,340  4,340  -  -  -  -  - 

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,801  1,801  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets  28,434  26,420  1,593  53  302  -  67 

2014

Total Carrying 
Amount

$’000

Not Past Due and 
Not Impaired

$’000

Past Due But Not Impaired Impaired Financial 
Assets

$’000Less than 1 Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  18,305  18,305  -  -  -  -  - 

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  940  554  166  163  51  -  6 

 - Other Receivables  2,470  -  1,742  58  458  -  212 

 - Term Deposit  266  266  -  -  -  -  - 

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,914  1,914  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets  23,895  21,039  1,908  221  509  -  218 

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently Western District Health Service does not hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements 
relating to any of its financial assets.
There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. The ageing 
analysis table above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired.      

(d) Liquidity risk   
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Health 
Service would be unable to meet its financial 
obligations as and when they fall due. 
The Health Services operates under the 
Government’s fair payments policy of settling 
financial obligations within 30 days and in the 
event of a dispute, making payments within 30 
days from the date of resolution. The Health 
Service’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk 

is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities 
as disclosed in the face of the balance sheet. 
The Health Service manages its liquidity risk 
as follows:
Term deposits, investments and cash 
held at financial institutions are managed 
with variable maturity dates and take into 
consideration cashflow requirements of the 
health service from month to month. 

Trade creditors are paid in accordance with 
their trading terms; and accommodation 
bonds are refunded when the resident 
departs the aged care facility.   
    
The following table discloses the contractual 
maturity analysis for Western District Health 
Service’s financial liabilities. For interest rates 
applicable to each class of liability refer to 
individual notes to the financial statements.

Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

2015 Carrying Amount
$'000

Nominal Amount
$'000

Maturity Dates

Less than 1 Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables  3,570  3,570  3,570  -  -  - 

  Borrowings  1,072  1,072  -  -  354  718 

  Other Financial Liabilities (i)

   - Accommodation Bonds  7,812 7,812  -  -  1,880  5,932 

   - Other  488 488  -  401  87  - 

Total Financial Liabilities  12,942  12,942  3,570  401  2,321  6,650 

2014 Carrying Amount
$'000

Nominal Amount
$'000

Maturity Dates

Less than 1 Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

At amortised cost

Payables  2,426  2,426  2,426  -  -  - 

Other Financial Liabilities (i)

 - Accommodation Bonds  5,279  5,279  -  -  1,785  3,494 

 - Other  250  250  -  195  55  - 

Total Financial Liabilities  7,955  7,955  2,426  195  1,840  3,494 

(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes the types of statutory financial liabilities (i.e GST payable)
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Note 22: Financial Instruments 
(continued)

(e) Market risk
The Health Service exposures to market risk 
are primarily through interest rate risk with 
only insignificant exposure to foreign currency 
and other price risks.  Objectives, policies and 
processes used to manage each of these risks 
are disclosed in the paragraph below.

Currency risk
The  Health Service is exposed to insignificant 
foreign currency risk through its payables 
relating to purchases of supplies and 
consumables from overseas.  This is 
because of a limited amount of purchases 
denominated in foreign currencies and a 
short timeframe between commitment and 
settlement.

Interest rate risk
“Exposure to interest rate risk might arise 
primarily through the Health Service’s interest 
bearing liabilities.  Minimisation of risk is 
achieved by mainly undertaking fixed rate or 
non-interest bearing financial instruments.  
For financial liabilities, the health service 
mainly undertake financial liabilities with 
relatively even maturity profiles. 
 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the 
future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. 
 
The Health Service has minimal exposure 
to cash flow interest rate risks through its 
cash and deposits, term deposits and bank 
overdrafts that are at floating rate. 

The Health Service manages this risk by 
mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest 
bearing financial instruments with relatively 
even maturity profiles, with only insignificant 
amounts of financial instruments at floating 
rate. Management has concluded for cash at 
bank and bank overdraft, as financial assets 
that can be left at floating rate without 
necessarily exposing the Health Service to 
significant bad risk, management monitors 
movement in interest rates on a daily basis.”

Other price risk
Western District Health Service is exposed to 
normal price fluctulations from time to time 
through market forces. Where adequate 
notice is provided by suppliers, additional 
purchases are made for long term goods.

Interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June

2015
Weighted Average

Effective Interest Rate (%)

Carrying Amount

$'000

Interest Rate Exposure

Fixed Interest Rate

$'000

Variable Interest Rate

$'000

Non-Interest Bearing

$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.15  19,767  -    19,767  -   

Loans and Receivables (i)

 - Trade Debtors  810  -    -    810 

 - Other Receivables  1,716  -    -    1,717 

 - Term Deposit 3.1  4,340  -    4,340  -   

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,801  -    -    1,801 

 28,434  -    24,107  4,328 

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables(i)  3,570  -    -    3,570 

  Borrowings  1,072  -    1,072  -   

  Other Financial Liabilities

   - Accommodation Bonds 3.1  7,812  -    7,812  -   

   - Other  488  -    -    488 

 12,942  -    8,884  4,058 

2014
Weighted Average

Effective Interest Rate (%)

Carrying Amount

$'000

Interest Rate Exposure

Fixed Interest Rate

$'000

Variable Interest Rate

$'000

Non-Interest Bearing

$'000

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.45  18,305  -    18,305  -   

Loans and Receivables (i)

 - Trade Debtors  940  -    -    940 

 - Other Receivables  2,470  -    -    2,470 

 - Term Deposit 3.8  266  -    266  -   

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,914  -    -    1,914 

 23,895  -    18,571  5,324 

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables(i)  2,426  -    -    2,426 

  Other Financial Liabilities

  - Accommodation Bonds 3.8  5,279  -    5,279  -   

  - Other  250  -    -    250 

 7,955  -    5,279  2,676 

(i) The carrying amount must exclude types of statutory financial assets and liabilities (i.e. GST input tax credit and GST payable)
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Note 22: Financial Instruments (cont)

(e) Market risk (continued)  

2015
Carrying

Amount

Interest Rate Risk Other Price Risk 

-Y% +X% -Z% +Z%

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents(i)  19,767  (198)  (198)  198  198  -    -    -    -   

Loans and Receivables (i)

 - Trade Debtors  810  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 - Other Receivables  1,716  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 - Term Deposit  4,340  (43)  (43)  43  43  -    -    -    -   

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,801  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables  3,570  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

  Borrowings  1,072  11  11  (11)  (11)  -    -    -    -   

  Other Financial Liabilities(ii)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

   - Accommodation Bonds  7,812  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

   - Other  488  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 (230)  (230)  230  230  -    -    -    -   

2014
Carrying

Amount

Interest Rate Risk Other Price Risk 

-Y% +X% -Z% +Z%

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Profit

$'000

Equity

$'000

Financial Assets

Loans and Receivables (i)

 - Trade Debtors  940  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 - Other Receivables  2,470  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 - Term Deposit  266  (3)  (3)  3  3  -    -    -    -   

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,914  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables  2,426  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

  Other Financial Liabilities(ii)

   - Accommodation Bonds  5,279  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

   - Other  250  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 (186)  (186)  186  186  -    -    -    -   

Sensitivity disclosure analysis
Taking into account past performance, 
future expectations, economic forecasts, and 
management’s knowledge and experience 
of the financial markets, the Health Service 

believes the following movements are 
‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 months 
(base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank 
of Australia):  

- A shift of 100 basis points up and down in 
market interest rates (AUD) from year-end 
rates of 6%.

 - A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in inflation 
rate from year-end rates of 2%.

- A movement of 15% up and down (2014: 
15 %) for the top ASX 200 index.  

 
The following table discloses the impact 
on net operating result and equity for each 
category of financial instrument held by 
Western District Health Service at year end, as 
presented to key management personnel, if 
changes in the relevant risk occur.  
    
 

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
Western District Health Service Annual Report 2015



69

Note 22: Financial Instruments (cont)

(f) Fair value

Comparison between carrying amount and fair value Total Carrying Amount
2015

$'000

Fair value
2015

$'000

Total Carrying Amount
2014

$'000

Fair value
2014

$'000

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  19,767  19,767  18,305  18,305 

Loans and Receivables (i)

 - Trade Debtors  810  810  940  940 

 - Other Receivables  1,717  1,717  2,470  2,470 

 - Term Deposit  4,340  4,340  266  266 

Available for sale

 - Shares in Other Entities  1,801  1,801  1,914  1,914 

Total Financial Assets  28,435  28,435  23,895  23,895 

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables  3,570  3,570  2,426  2,426 

  Borrowings  1,072  1,072  -  - 

Other Financial Liabilities(i)

   - Accommodation Bonds  7,812  7,812  5,279  5,279 

   - Other  488  488  250  250 

Total Financial Liabilities  12,942  12,942  7,955  7,955 

(i) The carrying amount must exclude types of statutory financial assets and liabilities (i.e. GST input tax credit and GST payable).

(f) Fair value (continued) 
Financial assets measured at fair value 

2015

Carrying Amount as at 30 June

$'000

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Level 1*
$'000

Level 2*
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

Available for sale securities

 - Equities and managed funds  1,801  -  1,801  - 

Total Financial Assets  1,801  -  1,801  - 

2014

Financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

Available for sale securities

 - Equities and managed funds  1,914  -  1,914  - 

Total Financial Assets  1,914  -  1,914  - 

*There is no significant transfer between level 1 and level 2    

The fair values and net fair values of 
financial instrument assets and liabilities are 
determined as follows:
• Level 1 - the fair value of financial 

instrument with standard terms and 
conditions and traded in active liquid 
markets are determined with reference to 
quoted market prices;

• Level 2 - the fair value is determined using 
inputs other than quoted prices that are 
observable for the financial asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 - the fair value is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The financial assets include holdings in 
unlisted shares. Fair value of these is 
determined by projecting future cash 
inflows from expected future dividends and 
subsequent disposal of the securities. These 
cash flows are then discounted back to their 
present value using a discount rate of [X per 
cent].

The Health Services considers that the 
carrying amount of financial instrument 
assets and liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements to be a fair approximation of 
their fair values, because of the short-term 
nature of the financial instruments and the 
expectation that they will be paid in full.
The following table shows that the fair values 
of most of the contractual financial assets 
and liabilities are the same as the carrying 
amounts.
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Note 23: Commitments

a) Commitments other than public private partnerships

Total
2015

$'000

Total
2014

$'000

Capital expenditure commitments

Payable:

Land and buildings  114  350 

Plant and equipment  -  - 

Intangible assets

Other (List)  -  - 

Total capital expenditure commitments  114  350 

Land and buildings

Not later than one year  114  350 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  -  - 

Later than 5 years  -  - 

Total  114  350 

Lease commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:

Operating leases  -  2,716 

Finance leases  -  - 

Total lease commitments  -  2,716 

Operating Leases

Cancellable  -  - 

Sub Total  -  - 

Non Cancellable  -  2,716 

Total operating lease commitments  -  2,716 

Finance Leases 

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Current  -  - 

Non Current  -  - 

Minimum Lease Payments  -  - 

Less Future Finance Charges  -  - 

Total Finance Leases  -  - 

Total Lease Commitments  -  2,716 

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST) other than public private partnerships  114  3,066 

All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.

Note 24: Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
As at balance date, the Board of Directors is unaware of the existence of any financial obligation that may have a material effect on the Balance 
Sheet as a result of any future event which may or may not happen. (2014 - Nil).
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Note 25: Operating Segments Hospital RAC Linen Service Primary Care Eliminations Total

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

REVENUE

External Segment Revenue  50,476  55,370  15,807  13,653  26  22  1,317  1,259 - -  67,626  70,304 

Intersegment Revenue  1,036  1,021  -  -  60  71  -  -  (1,096)  (1,092)  -  - 

Unallocated Revenues  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - - -  -  - 

Total Revenue  51,512  56,391  15,807  13,653  86  93  1,317  1,259  (1,096)  (1,092)  67,626  70,304 

EXPENSES

External Segment Expenses  (52,962)  (51,448)  (16,091)  (15,201)  (92)  (73)  (3,434)  (3,126) - -  (72,579)  (69,848)

Intersegment Expenses  (1,036)  (1,021)  -  -  (60)  (71)  -  -  1,096  1,092  -  - 

Unallocated Expense  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Expenses  (53,998)  (52,469)  (16,091)  (15,201)  (152)  (144)  (3,434)  (3,126)  1,096  1,092  (72,579)  (69,848)

Net Result from ordinary activities  (2,486)  3,922  (284)  (1,548)  (66)  (51)  (2,117)  (1,867)  -  -  (4,953)  456 

Interest Expense  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Interest Income  692  690  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  692  690 

Share of Net Result of Associates & 
Joint Ventures using Equity Method

 -  -  -  -  -  (23)  -  -  -  (23)  - 

Net Result for Year  (1,794)  4,612  (284)  (1,548)  (66)  (51)  (2,140)  (1,867)  -  -  (4,284)  1,146 

OTHER INFORMATION

Segment Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Unallocated Assets  114,142  116,698  41,467  38,694  671  675  11,562  11,546  -  -  167,842  167,613 

Total Assets  114,142  116,698  41,467  38,694  671  675  11,562  11,546  -  -  167,842  167,613 

Segment Liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Unallocated Liabilities  12,947  11,728  10,066  6,825  35  30  391  267 - -  23,439  18,850 

Total Liabilities  12,947  11,728  10,066  6,825  35  30  391  267  -  -  23,439  18,850 

Investments in Associates and Joint 
Venture Partnership

 -  -  -  -  -  - 96 119  -  - 96  119 

Acquisition of Property, Plant and 
Equipment and Intangible Assets

 933  6,184  382  180  -  -  6  4  -  -  1,321  6,368 

Depreciation & Amortisation Expense  4,342  3,036  2,040  599  39  24  503  241  -  -  6,924  3,900 

Non Cash Expenses other than 
Depreciation

 38  41  17  19  -  -  5  7  -  -  60  67 

Impairment of Inventories  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Note 25: Operating segments (continued)
The major products/services from which the above segments derive revenue are:

Business Segments Services

Hospitals Acute bed based services, accident and emergency, diagnostic, 
outpatient services

Residential Aged Care Services (RACS) Aged care residential services

Linen Service Linen services

Primary Care Service Primary care and community-based services.

Geographical Segment
Western District Health Service operates predominantly in Western Victoria.  More than 90% of revenue, net surplus from ordinary activities and 
segment assets related to operations in Western Victoria.

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
Western District Health Service Annual Report 2015



72

 

Note 27a: Responsible Persons Disclosures Period

Responsible Ministers: 

The Honourable David Davis MLC, Minister for Health and Minister for Ageing 1/7/2014 - 31/12/2014

The Honourable Mary Wooldridge MP, Minister for Mental Health 1/7/2014 - 31/12/2014

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services 1/1/2015 - 30/6/2015

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing, Minister for Mental Health 1/1/2015 - 30/6/2015

Governing Boards

Mr D Barber 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Mr P Besgrove 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Ms M Brown 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Ms C Coggins 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Ms J Hutton 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Mr H Macdonald 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Mr M McGinnity 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Mr I Whiting 1/7/2014 - 30/6/2015

Accountable Officers

Mr. J. Fletcher 1/7/2014 - 31/7/2014

Mr. R. Fitzgerald 1/8/2014 - 30/6/2015

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are 
made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Name of Entity Principal Activity
Ownership Interest

2015
%

2014
%

South West Alliance of Rural Health Information Technology 12.93 12.93

Western District Health Service interest in assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below. The amounts are 
included in the financial statements and consolidated financial statements under their respective asset categories.

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

South West Alliance of Rural Health

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  261  238 

Receivables  248  132 

Inventories  4  4 

Other Current Assets  -  36 

Total Current Assets  513  440 

Non Current Assets

Property, Plant & Equipment  32  38 

Leased Assets  1,072 

Total Non Current Assets  1,104  38 

Total Assets  1,617  448 

2015
$'000

2014
$'000

South West Alliance of Rural Health

Revenue

Other Revenue  2,667  4,037 

Total Revenue  2,667  4,037 

Expenses

Employee Expenses  751  670 

Maintenance Contracts  1,211  1,195 

Software Licence Costs  2  429 

Other  300  1,735 

Total Expenses  2,264  4,029 

Net Result Before Capital & Specific Items  403  8 

Finance Costs  42 

Depreciation  360  7 

Net Result  1  1 

Note 26: Jointly Controlled Operations and Assets
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Remuneration of Responsible Persons Total

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands; 2015

No.

2014

No.Income Band

$0 - $9,999  8  7 

$10,000 - $19,999  -    -   

$20,000 - $29,999  -    -   

$220,000 - $229,999  1  -   

$250,000 - $259,999  1 

$300,000 - $309,999  -    1 

Total Numbers  10  8 

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons from the 
reporting entity amounted to:

 $476,099  $309,457 

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet

Other Transactions of Responsible Persons and their Related Parties.

Note 27b: Executive Officer Disclosures

Executive Officers' Remuneration

The numbers of executive officers, other 
than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and 
their total remuneration during the reporting 
period are shown in the first two columns 
in the table (right) in their relevant income 
bands. The base remuneration of executive 
officers is shown in the third and fourth 
columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of 
bonus payments, long-service leave payments, 
redundancy payments and retirement 
benefits.

Several factors affected total remuneration 
payable to executives over the year. A number 
of employment contracts were completed 
during the year and negotiated and a number 
of executives received bonus payments during 
the year. These bonus payments depend on 
the terms of individual employment contracts. 
Some contracts provide for an annual bonus 
payment whereas other contracts only include 
the payment of bonuses on the successful 
completion of the full term of the contract. A 
number of these contract completion bonuses 
became payable during the year. 

A number of executive officers retired, 
resigned or were retrenched in the past year. 
This has had a significant impact on total 
remuneration figures due to the inclusion 
of annual leave, long-service leave and 
retrenchment payments.

Note 27b: Executive Officer Disclosures TOTAL

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2015

No.

2014

No.

2015

No.

2014

No.

$130,000  - $139,999  -   1    -   1   

$140,000  - $149,999 2 1 2 1

$150,000  - $159,000  -    -  -    - 

$160,000  - $169,000 - 2 - 2

$170,000  - $179,000 2 - 2 -

$180,000  - $189,000 - 1 - 1

$230,000  - $239,000 1 - 1 -

Total  5    5  5    5 

Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE) (i)

Total Remuneration  $872,126  $792,085  $872,126  $792,085 

(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a 
reporting period.

Note 28:  Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date   
There were no events occurring after reporting date which require additional information to be 
disclosed.

Note 29. Remuneration of auditors

($ thousand) 2015 2014

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit or review of financial statement 32 35

Total Paid and Payable 32 35

Financial Statements Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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Glossary of Terms

ACHS 
Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards 

ACHSE 
Australian College of Health 
Service Executives 

AFPHM 
Australasian Faculty of Public 
Health Medicine 

ARA 
Australasian Reporting Awards 

Best practice 
The way leading edge 
organisations deliver world class 
performance 

BOD 
Board of Directors 

BSI 
Business Support and Innovation 

BSWRICS 
Barwon South West Regional 
Integrated Cancer Services 

CACPs 
Community Aged Care Packages 

CDHS 
Coleraine District Health Service 

CE 
Chief Executive 

C&FN
Consumer and Friends Network

COAG 
Council of Australian Governments 

COPD 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease 

CSSD 
Central Sterile Supply Department 

DHHS
Department of Health and Human 
Services

DoH 
Department of Health 

DON 
Director of Nursing 

DRG 
Diagnostic Related Grouper; a 
means by which hospitals define 
and measure case mix 

DVA 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

EBA 
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

ECG 
Electrocardiograph 

ECIICN 
Emergency Care Improvement and 
Innovation Clinical Network 

ED 
Emergency Department 

EN 
Enrolled Nurse 

ENT 
Ear, Nose and Throat 

FHCC 
Frances Hewett Community 
Centre 

FMIS 
Financial Management 
Information System 

FOI 
Freedom of Information 

FRD 
Financial Reporting Directions 

FReeZA 
Alcohol and drug free activities for 
youth 

GCAHM 
Graduate Certificate of Agricultural 
Health and Medicine 

GEM 
Geriatric Evaluation Management 

GP 
General Practitioner 

GSC Medicare Local 
Great South Coast Medicare Local 

GS 
Glenelg Shire 

HACC 
Home and Community Care 

HARP 
Hospital Admission Risk Program 

HBH 
Hamilton Base Hospital 

HITH 
Hospital in the Home 

HMG 
Hamilton Medical Group 

HMMC 
Hamilton Midwifery Model of Care 

HMO 
Hospital Medical Officer 

HR 
Human Resources 

ICT 
Information, Communication and 
Technology 

ICU 
Intensive Care Unit 

ILU 
Independent Living Unit 

IMG 
International Medical Graduates 

IT 
Information Technology 

KPI 
Key Performance Indicator 

NCFH 
National Centre for Farmer Health 

NHMRC
National Health Medical Research 
Council

OH&S 
Occupational Health and Safety 

OT 
Occupational Therapy 

PAG 
Planned Activity Group 

PCP 
Primary Care Partnership

PDHS 
Penshurst & District Health Service 

P&PH 
Primary & Preventative Health 

QI 
Quality Improvement 

QOC 
Quality of Care Report 

RFID 
Radio Frequency Identification 

RMIT 
Royal Melbourne Institute of 
Technology
RN 
Registered Nurse 

Separation 
Process by which a patient is 
discharged from care 

SFF 
Sustainable Farm Families 

SGGPCP 
Southern Grampians and Glenelg 
Primary Care Partnership 

SGSC 
Southern Grampians Shire Council

Standard 
A statement of a level of 
performance to be achieved 

SWARH 
South West Alliance of Rural 
Health 

TRAK 
Hospital patient-based information 
system 

VET 
Vocational Education and Training 

VHA 
Victorian Healthcare Association 
Ltd 

VICNISS 
Healthcare Associated Infection 
Surveillance System 

VMIA 
Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority 

VMO 
Visiting Medical Officer 

VPSM 
Victorian Patient Satisfaction 
Monitor 

WAN 
Wide Area Network 

WDHS 
Western District Health Service 

WIES 
Weighted Inlier Equivalent 
Separations; allocated resource 
weight for a patient’s episode of 
care. A formula is applied to the 
resource weight to determine the 
WIES for recovery of funding.
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Watermark Charity House Donors

Thank you to the many 
generous individuals and 
businesses who helped 
create:

$600,000  was raised 
for our hospital. Special 
thanks to Project 
Managers Rod Papworth 
and Max Murray, Site 
Manager Peter Smith and 
the dedicated Project 
Committee

Diamond 
Dr Geoff Handbury AO 

Platinum 
3HA / MixxFm 
Carolyn & Craig Collins 
Hamilton Spectator 
Bob Templeton 

Gold 
Alan Ames 
Cowland Electrical 
E&S Trading 
Rural Steel 

Silver 
Silver 
2 Pac Shack 
AA & KA Jones Builders 
Allan Pollock Constructions 
AR & BJ Burrowes 
Austin Built 
Baltica Blue Projects & Design 
John Betts 
Bruhn Limestone 
Clipsal 
Coates Painters 
Craig Sigley Bricklaying 
Donehue Builders 
Jim & Brenda Fletcher 
Hamilton Carpet Court 
Hamilton Doors & Glass 
Hamilton Rotary Club Inc 
Gerald Hicks 
Iluka Resources 
Lincoln Sentry 
LK Earthmovers 
Matt Waters Plasterers 
Max Murray Builder Pty Ltd 
MG & TL Trotter 
John Murrihy 
Phillips & Keen Bricklayers 
Plastamasta Knauf Hamilton 
Portland Aluminium & Glass 
R&E Scott 
Raymond Contract Plumbing 
RD & BR Duncan 

RD & KE Huf Pty Ltd 
Reece Plumbing 
Terry Rhook 
Rotary Club of Hamilton North 
Schultz Concreting 
Southern Grampians Shire 
Council 
Stramit Building Products 
Tongue n Groove Flooring 
Unicraft Joinery 
Walkers Frames & Trusses 

Bronze 
A Grade Electricians 
Aldi 
Alexandra House 
All About Fencing 
Andrew Alstin 
Australian Bluegum Plantations 
Bank of Melbourne 
Michael Beavis 
Bendigo Radiology 
BJ & SK Warburton 
Bluescope Distribution Ballarat 
Bluescope Distribution Portland 
BM & SJ Kamp Concreting 
Boundary Metals 
Bob Bray 
Brayley & Hayes 
Jemal Broadwood 
Stuart Casey 
Brett Causer 
Chris Steel Designs 
CM & KA Annett 
Comfort Inn Botanical 
Julian Cook 
Corinthian Doors 
Craig Collins Building 
Creek Electrical 
Damien Vaughan Joinery 
David Rowe Sign Design 
DJ & I Fitzpatrick 
DK & TN Dark Bobcat Hire 
Sue Dyde 
Elders Insurance 
ERA Nurseries 
Peter Fehsler 
Ferrier Contractors Pty Ltd 
Finchett’s Plumbing 
First State Super 
Fletcher Insulation 
Fox Refrigeration 
Geelong Galvanising 
Georgina Taylor Designs 
GI & JM Frost 
GN Hearn Builders 
Godfrey Hirst Carpets 
Gorrie & Slater Pty Ltd 
GR & RA Earll Builders 
Grangeburn Office & IT 
Barrie Hadden 
Hamilton Bobcat & Backhoe 
Service 
Hamilton Bobcat Contracting 
Hamilton District Skills Centre 
Hamilton Farm Supplies 
Hamilton Flooring Xtra 
Hamilton Glass Works 
Hamilton Hire 
Hamilton Produce 
Hamilton Steel 

Hammonds Paints 
Peter Hawkes 
Haymes Paint 
Henty Estate 
Stephen Hicks 
Andrew Huf 
Thomas Hurley 
Imagine Joinery 
Ivory Print 
James Hardie 
Jason Boyd Plastering 
Tony Kennedy 
Kerr & Co Town & Country Real 
Estate 
Dion Killen 
Ladybug Nursery 
Lakeside Service Centre 
Landscape Creations 
Logical Property Services 
Brian Loria 
Luke Teirney Plastering 
M&B Kelly 
Mac Web Service 
Allan Myers AO QC 
Hugh & Jane Macdonald 
Jasmine Mansbridge 
Bruce Marks 
Don McArthur 
Melville Orton & Lewis 
Meyer Timber 
Mideld Meats 
Nathan Manley Plumbing 
National Tiles & Solomons 
Flooring & Blinds 
Neville Groves Plumber & 
Gasfitter 
Nicholson Construction 
Noel’s Machinery 
Norm Kenny Contracting Service 
Tim & Lyn O’Brien 
Parfrey Plumbing Pty Ltd 
Permewans Home Hardware 
Peter Graham Plumbing 
Darb Peterson 
R&T Smith Plumbing 
Ray White Staircases 
RB & DA Fitzsimmons Concrete 
Don Riddle 
Graeme Smith 
South West Roofing & Garage 
Doors 
Steel & Tippett Building 
Designers 
Tapper Builders 
The Laminex Group 
The Real Estate Stylist 
Tony Lambert Kitchens 
Trevor Gould Building Contractor 
Daniel Trimnell 
VanKalken Fencing 
Walkers Engineering 
Wannon Security 
Warrnambool Timber Industries 
WDEA Nigretta Furniture 
Western Van Lines 
Westvic Staffing Solutions 
WR & AL Steele 

Friends of Charity House
61 Design 
Active Electrical Distributors 
Allsons Transport 
Ashwick House B&B 
Rory Austin 
AWM Electrical & Data Suppliers 
Bakers Delight 
Bandicoot Bobcats 
Boral 
Sam Brewer 
Browns TV Antenna Service 
C&J Engineering 
Café Gray 
Carter’s Transport 
CFA 
CJ & KA Baulch 
Clydesdale Electrics 
Coates Hire 
Laird Colliton 
Commercial Hotel 
Corey Baker Plastering 
Country French Hot Bread 
Crawford River Wines 
John & Rhonda Crawford 
Danielle Thomas Photography 
Judy de Man 
Dipping Dynamics 
Donehue’s Leisure 
DW & SM Bensch 
Elders 
Evans Canvas 
Gainsborough 
Gary McFarlane Real Estate 
Andrew Gellert 
GM & JL Kuilboer Painter 
Goodway Print Group 
Grampians Mini Diggers 
Grand Central Hotel 
Grange Concrete 
Hamilton Fire Brigade 
Hamilton Golf Club 
Hamilton Gray Street Primary 
School 
Hamilton Harness Racing Club 
Hamilton Real Estate 
Hamilton Sheetmetal & 
Rainwater Tanks 
Hanson 
Kevin Harris 
Harvey Norman 
Tremayne Hayes 
Heath Goodman Plumbing 
Dale Hutchins 
Jamie Rhook Plumbing 
Just Lift 
K&K Cowland Earthworks 
Kanawalla Pastoral Company 
John & Heather Kelsall 
Peter Keogh 
KFC Hamilton 
Kimbarra Wines 
Lambros Tiling 
Lanyons Real Estate 
Lawrence & Hanson 
LMB Linke 
Lowe Consulting 
George Macdonald 
MC & JL Rentsch 
Terry McDonnell 
Mick McRae 

Miami Stainless 
Michelle Donkers 
MiTek 
MM Hearn Construction 
Dean Molver 
Moose Engineering 
Steven Nattrass 
NJ & M Fry Plumbing 
Noel Ellis Plumbing 
O’Keefe Lawyers 
Paslode 
Pierrepoint Wines 
David & Sally Powling 
Robert Walter Building & Joinery 
Neil Robertson 
Wayne Rooke 
Roxburgh House 
RT Images Videography 
Russell Anderson Plumbing 
Schurmann Electrical Services 
Selkirk Bricks 
SES State Emergency Service 
Sam Sharrock 
Savanna Sharrock 
Southern Grampians Automatic 
Doors 
Southern Grampians Joinery 
Southern Grampians Livestock 
& Real Estate 
Stratmann & Co Lawyers 
Tarrington Vineyards 
Tim Spillman Plastering 
Dan Tehan MP 
Turfworx 
Walker’s Earthworks 
Wannon Water 
Gerard & Sabrina Watt 
Leigh Whyte 
Madi Whyte 
Wilsmore Nelson Group 
Your Beauty Laser & Spa 
Zenith Tiles & Lighting 

Committee
Peter Anderson 
Jen Hutton 
Hugh Macdonald / Chair 
Tony MacGillivray 
Libby MacGugan 
Max Murray / Project Manager 
Rod Papworth / Project Manager 
Francis Pekin 
Vicki Whyte 

WDHS Staff 
Rohan Fitzgerald 
Jim Fletcher 
Brigid Kelly 
Steve Laidlaw 
Kerry Martin 
Lachy Patterson 
Leonie Sharrock 
Peter Smith / Site Manager 
Trevor Wathen





Hamilton Base 
Hospital
20 Foster Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8222

Coleraine District 
Health Service
71 McLeod Street
Coleraine 3315
T + 61 3 5553 2000

Penshurst & District
Health Service
Cobb Street
Penshurst 3289
T + 61 3 5552 3000

Merino Community
Health Centre
19 – 21 High Street
Merino 3310
T + 61 3 5579 1303

Frances Hewett
Community Centre
2 Roberts Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8450

The Birches
Residential Care
Tyers Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8329

Grange Residential
Care Service
17 – 19 Gray Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8257

National Centre
for Farmer Health
20 Foster Street
Hamilton 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8533

All correspondence to:

Chief Executive
Western District
Health Service
PO Box 283
Hamilton Vic 3300
T + 61 3 5551 8222
F + 61 3 5571 9584
E ceo@wdhs.net

www.wdhs.net


